Public Document Pack
Boston Borough Council
Joint Chief Executive
Rob Barlow

Municipal Buildings
Boston
Lincolnshire
PE21 8QR
Tel: Tel 01205 314226
Fax:

My ref: PE/KR/Planning
Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226)
Monday, 18 July 2022

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE
Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee
on Tuesday, 26 July 2022 at 10.00 am
in the Committee Room Municipal Buildings West Street Boston

ROB BARLOW
Joint Chief Executive
Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton
Vice Chair: Councillor Alison Austin
Councillors: Peter Bedford, David Brown, Katie Chalmers, Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale,
Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and Judy Welbourn

Note(s) for Members of the Committee:
In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire
presentation and discussion on the item.

When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee,
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to
debate and decide the application.

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers
except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items.

This meeting may be subject to being recorded.

AGENDA
PART I - PRELIMINARIES
A

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any).

B

MINUTES

1-8

To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting.
C

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda.

D

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
To answer any written questions received from members of the public no
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 21 July 2022

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS
1

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0222

9 - 24

Full Planning Permission - Change of use from former Class E use
to an Adult Gaming Centre (Sui Generis)
14 – 16 Strait Bargate, Boston PE21 6LW
Merkur Slots UK Ltd
2

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0223

25 - 32

Advertisement Consent for 2no illuminated fascia signs and 1no externally
illuminated projecting sign
14 – 16 Strait Bargate, Boston PE21 6LW
Merkur Slots UK Ltd

3

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0240
Full Planning Permission – Change of use from a former payday loan shop
(Sui Generis) to an Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) (Sui Generis)9 High Street,
Boston PE21 8SH
Chongie Entertainment Ltd

33 - 44

4

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0156

45 - 56

Conversion of existing buildings (Sui Generis) to 5no residential aparenments
(C3 dwelling Houses)
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG
Wellington Pub Company, C/O Agent
5

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/1057

57 - 66

Listed Building Consent for conversion of existing buildings (sui Generis) to
5no residential apartments (C3 dwellling houses)
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG

Wellington Pub Company
6

RECEIPT OF APPEAL DECISIONS

67 - 146

(A report by Mike Gildersleeves, Assistant Director – Planning)

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when the decision notice
and associated documents are despatched by the Local Planning Authority
and not when the Committee makes its decision.

Notes:
The Human Rights Act 1998
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on
Human Rights (ECHR). These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life,
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest.
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the
community. This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports. Provided that those
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied.
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, Democratic
Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314226, e-mail:
karen.rist@boston.gov.uk.
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Karen Rist, Democratic
Services Officer as soon as possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be
attending the meeting as their substitute.
Alternative Versions

Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226
Emergency Procedures
In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are asked to leave the building via
the nearest emergency exit and make their way to the Fire Assembly Point located in
the car park at the rear of the Municipal Buildings.

Agenda Item B
5 APRIL 2022

PLANNING COMMITTEE
Present:
Chairman:
Vice-Chairman:

Councillor Tom Ashton
Councillor Alison Austin

Councillors:

Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, Deborah Evans,
Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Paul Skinner,
Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson and Judy Welbourn

Officers:

Assistant Director - Planning, Legal Advisor, Legal Services
Lincolnshire and Democratic Services Officer

121

APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were tabled for Councillor Frank Pickett
122

MINUTES

The minutes of the previous meeting were signed by the Chairman
123

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

Standing declarations of interest are tabled for the following members in their respective
roles as:
Members of Lincolnshire County Council. Councillors Tom Ashton, Alison Austin and
Councillor Paul Skinner.
Members of the South East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee. Councillors
Tom Ashton and Peter Bedford.
Representatives of the Internal Drainage Boards Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford
and Paul Skinner.
124

PUBLIC QUESTIONS

No public questions were tabled.
125

PLANNING APPLICATION B 21 0512

The Assistant Director – Planning and Strategic Infrastructure presented the report and
confirmed it was tabled through committee to accord with the Council’s constitution as
the proposal was an Environmental Impact Assessment Development. Members were
advised that the site of the application was which off Frampton Bank and within the
countryside, currently comprised of two main poultry buildings. The site was bound by
fields’ and drains to the east, south and west with Frampton Bank at the north and the
surrounding area was predominantly agricultural.
Planning permission was sought for the erection of two buildings to be sited north of the
existing units, each to be identical in size and layout with a 9 metre passageway
connecting the two units. The new units would allow a capacity of 34,000 birds in each
unit increasing the capacity across the site to 132,000 birds.

Page 1

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

As the proposed works would exceed the criteria within Schedule 1 of the EIA
Regulations under para.17 which permitted no more than 85,000 places for broilers, or
60,000 places for hens, the application became an Environmental Impact Assessment
application triggering specific publicity and consultation requirements with determination
timescales and procedural processes all of which had been complied with.
A brief overview of the history of the site was provided along with a reminder of the
relevant policies.
Addressing representations received, the Assistant Director confirmed that one
representation had been received which had included concerns in respect of highway
issues with a lack of view existing onto Fen Road and risks of increase traffic on
Silvertoft Lane potentially resulting in a serious accidents. Further concerns noted
increased noise from fans at the site due to the significant increase in birds and also
increased heavy goods movements providing feed to the site.
Any issues identified by the statutory consultees had all been agreed prior to final report
including any impact on the biodiversity and ecology of the site.
Members’ deliberation agreed the quality of the report and whilst noting the concerns of
the representation submitted, acknowledged all issues had been addressed and further
agreed the economic benefit to the community of the expansion of the existing business.
Responding to questions the Assistant Director urged caution on a suggestion of the
implementation of a one-way system on a highway which he noted would be very
difficult to enforce. He further confirmed that the Parish Council had been consulted but
had not responded; the European Directive questioned within 3.4 of the report was still
in place and that a condition was in place for odour management on the site
It was moved by Councillor Tom Ashton and seconded by Councillor Yvonne Stevens
that committee grant the application in line with officer recommendation and subject to
the conditions and informative therein.
Vote:

11 in Favour.

0 Objection.

0 Abstention.

RESOLVED: That the planning committee grant the application in line with officer
recommendation and subject to the following conditions and informatives:
1 The development must be begun not later than the expiration four years from the date of
this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
application received 10 November 2021 and in accordance with the associated plans
referenced, which are to be read in conjunction with the Environmental Statement that has
been submitted:
Drawing Number: 2207-001 Rev A;
Drawing Number: 2207-006 Rev A;
Drawing Number: 2207-011 Rev A; and,
Pest Control Plan (Environmental Statement, Volume 4: Technical
Appendices,
Appendix 11.5)
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development in
accordance with the policies contained within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036) and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).

Page 2

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

3 No development shall take place until a Construction Environmental Management Plan
(CEMP) and Statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The CEMP and Statement shall include:
a)
daylight only hours of work for site preparation, delivery of materials and
construction; b)
arrangements for the parking of vehicles for site
operatives and visitors;
c)
details of areas designated for the loading, unloading and storage of
plant and
materials;
d)
details of the siting, height and maintenance of security hoarding;
e)
arrangements for the provision of wheel washing facilities for vehicles
accessing the site;
f)
measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
g)
a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works;
and
h)
a strategy to inform neighbouring occupiers (which as a minimum, shall include
those
adjoining the site boundaries) of the timing and duration of any piling
operations, and
contact details for the site operator during this period.
i)
details showing means of escape routes for animals in excavated areas
Development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the duly approved
CMS.
Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place before any
development commences to limit noise, nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of
neighbouring properties and to protect wildlife during the construction of the development to
accord with Policies 2, 3, 28 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011- 2036).

4No development (including any works of site preparation) shall take place until a Written
Scheme of Investigation (WSI) outlining a programme and timetable of archaeological
investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The WSI shall include:
(i) A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording to include:
a desk-based assessment including, where appropriate,
historic building
assessment(s), detailed survey and interpretative record;
a targeted archaeological evaluation; and
where appropriate, targeted area excavation.
(ii)
A programme for post investigation assessment to include:
analysis of the site investigation records and finds;
production of a final report on the significance of the
archaeological interest represented.
(iii) Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and
report on the site investigation.
(iv) Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site
investigation.
(v) Nomination of a competent person(s) or organisation to undertake the
work set out in the approved WSI.
The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the
approved WSI and the timetable contained therein.
Reason: To ensure that a suitable programme of archaeological investigation is
implemented prior to the commencement of any construction works in order to record and

Page 3

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

advance the understanding of the archaeological and historical significance of the site for
archival and research purposes in accordance with the requirements of South Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036) Policy 29 and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).
5 No excavation or site clearance shall commence unless and until a scheme for tree
relocation and protection measures (both above and below ground) to be implemented
prior to site preparation and the construction period has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include:
(i)
Identification of the trees which are to be relocated and details how they are to
be
moved and planted;
(ii) Details of a construction exclusion zone (including protective fencing of
a height and
design which accords with the requirements BS 5837: 2012) to be
formed around
the root protection areas of those trees to be retained;
(iii) Details of any excavation to take place within the root protection areas
of those trees
to be retained;
(iv) Details of the foundations of any building, hardstandings and/or
boundary treatments
to be constructed within the root protection areas of those trees to be
retained.
The development shall thereafter be carried out in strict accordance with
the protection measures contained within the duly approved scheme
throughout the entirety of the
excavation, site preparation and
construction period.
Reason: To ensure that adequate measures are put in place to protect
existing trees which are to be retained as part of the development before
any construction works commence in accordance with the requirements of
Policies 2 and 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
06
6 No development shall take place until details of the acoustic attenuator including details of
its method of construction, any odour control measures, noise levels, its appearance and
finish have been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved scheme shall be installed before the use hereby permitted
commences and thereafter shall be permanently retained.
Reason: These details need careful consideration and formal approval to safeguard the
amenity of nearby properties and to protect the general environment. The details are
needed to ensure that noise from fixed plant and machinery shall not exceed 30dB LA eqT
measured at the northern boundary of the site which will ensure accordance with Policies 2
and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
7 Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, full details of a landscaping
scheme and the biodiversity enhancement measures across the site shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme shall include details of:
The type, species, siting, planting distances and the programme of planting of
trees;
Hedges and shrubs appropriate to the local landscape and ecology, including
native species of local provenance and of known value to wildlife;
A landscape and Biodiversity Management Plan (LBMP) and a timetable
for their implementation.

Page 4

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

The duly approved landscaping scheme shall be carried out during the first
planting season after the development is substantially completed and shall
be managed in accordance with the LBMP thereafter.
Any trees, hedges or shrubs removed, dying, being severely damaged or
becoming seriously diseased within five years of planting shall be replaced by
trees, hedges or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to
be planted.
Reason: To ensure appropriate landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity, to
enhance the character of the locality and to provide biodiversity enhancements in
accordance with the requirements of Policy 2, 28 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire
Local Plan (2011-2036).
8 Notwithstanding any description of materials in the application and the requirements of
condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works shall take place until samples or full
details of all materials to be used on the external surfaces of the buildings have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall
include the type, colour and texture of the materials. The development shall thereafter be
implemented in accordance with the duly approved materials.
Reason: To ensure use of appropriate materials which are sympathetic to the character of
adjacent building and its countryside setting in the interests of visual amenity to accord
with the requirements of South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) Policy 2 and 3,
and the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).
9 Prior to the building hereby permitted first being brought into use an Odour Management
Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved plan shall incorporate how odour is managed cumulatively with the existing
building within the site. Thereafter the site shall be managed in accordance with the
approved Odour Management Plan.
Reason: In order to ensure the efficient dispersal of any odours emanating from the site in
the interests of the amenity of neighbouring occupiers to accord with the requirements of
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) Policy 2 and 30, and the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021).
10 Prior to the building hereby permitted first being brought into use, a flood warning and
evacuation plan incorporating the existing building(s) within the entire site shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The approved plan shall then be implemented in accordance with a timetable agreed with
the Local Planning Authority and the site shall be operated in accordance with the agreed
plan at all times.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding and that measures are in place to protect users of
the site and to comply with Policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036
11 No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface
water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the scheme
shall include:
(i) details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to
any soakaway,
watercourse or sewer, including provisions to ensure that the postdevelopment
discharge rate does not exceed the pre-development rate (incorporating
an appropriate
allowance for climate change);

Page 5

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

(ii) details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use of
SUDS where
appropriate; and
(iii) details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.
The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details before the
building is first brought into use and shall be maintained and managed as such thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not increase
flood risk elsewhere, and that adequate measures are put in place for the disposal of foul
and surface water in accordance with the requirements of Policy 2 and 4 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
12 No clearance of any vegetation in preparation for or during the course of development
shall take place during the bird nesting season (March to August inclusive) unless an
ecological survey has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority which demonstrates that the vegetation to be cleared is not utilised for
bird nesting.
Should the survey reveal the presence of any nesting species, then no clearance of any
vegetation shall take place during the bird nesting season until a methodology for
13 In the unlikely event that any signs of protected species or invasive species are found,
then no further development shall take place until a comprehensive method statement
indicating how any protected species are to be safeguarded during the construction period
and how appropriate mitigation measures (including habitat compensation and
enhancement) are to be incorporated into the development has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The duly approved method statement shall be implemented in full accordance with the
details, recommendations and timescales contained therein and any mitigation measures
shall be fully implemented before the building is first brought into use and retained as such
thereafter.
Reason: To ensure that appropriate measures are taken to ensure that adequate
mitigation measures are introduced as part of the development in order that it does not
adversely affect the favourable conservation status of any protected species in accordance
with the requirements of Policy 2 and 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036), the National Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2010 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).
14 Notwithstanding any details contained within the application, a scheme for the installation
of any external lighting on the building(s) and the external areas of the site shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any lighting is
installed. The scheme shall include details of the lighting’s:
(i) position and height on the
building(s) and/or site;
(ii) spillage,
luminance and angle of installation;
and (iii) any hoods to be fixed to the
lights.
Any external lighting shall only be installed in accordance with the duly approved
scheme.
Reason: In the interest of protecting wildlife from light overspill from the site which
would accord with Policies 2 and 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036).

Page 6

Planning Committee
5 April 2022

INFORMATIVE NOTES TO APPLICANT
1 Bank Farm Poultry Unit currently holds an environmental permit (EPR-HP3107LE) for the
rearing of pullets in a facility with a capacity for 64,000 places. A variation to this permit
would need to be applied for if the site wishes to construct further two sheds and increase
bird numbers to 132,000 as proposed.

The Meeting ended at 10.25 am

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0222

Planning Application:
Full Planning Permission - Change of use from former Class E use
to an Adult Gaming Centre (Sui Generis)

Location:
14 – 16 Strait Bargate, Boston PE21 6LW

Applicant:
Merkur Slots UK Ltd

Agent:
Mr. Will Rogers, Planning Potential Ltd

Page 9

Page 10

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Planning Committee - 26th July 2022

Reference No:

B/22/0222

Expiry Date:
20-Jul-2022
Extension of Time: 02-Aug-2022
Application Type:
Proposal:

Full Planning Permission
Change of use from a former Class E use to an Adult Gaming
Centre (Sui Generis)

Site:

14-16, Strait Bargate, Boston, PE21 6LW

Applicant:
Agent:

Merkur Slots UK Ltd
Mr Will Rogers, Planning Potential Ltd.

Ward:

Witham

Parish: Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer:

Lewis Humphreys

Third Party Reps:

Recommendation: Approve

Page 11

61

1.0

Reason for Report

1.1

This application is presented to the Planning Committee following a call-in request
from the ward member, Cllr. Hastie for the following reasons:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Straight Bargate due its historical/ heritage value and the close location to
the stump I feel it’s inappropriate for a gaming establishment to be located
there.
Due to 2 other Gaming establishment being located round the corner I feel
a 3rd being located so close in such an area as Straight Bargate needs to
be discussed by the committee.
Due to level of the objections regarding this from local residents I feel that it
should be called in over its external appearance and the effect it will have
on the local area.
The noise disturbance created by the proposed establishment
Its location on a pedestrian/ bus route
Policy 25 and policy 32 of the local plan.

2.0

Application Site and Proposal

2.1

The application site is a currently vacant unit situated on the corner of Strait Bargate
and New Street. The site is within the town centre and Boston Conservation Area
and is within the primary shopping area and part of the primary shopping frontage
as defined on Map 1 of the Local Plan. The site is in Flood Zone 3.

2.2

The application relates to the ground floor of the building only, accessed through a
door at the centre of the property. A first and second floor are accessed via a
separate entrance on New Lane. The site has been vacant since December 2016
when it was last occupied by Clarks.

2.3

The proposal seeks to change the use of the ground floor to a sui generis use to
provide an adult gaming centre. An adult gaming centre is a licensed premises for
those aged 18 and over that contains fruit machines and other similar style gaming
machines.

2.4

The licensing requirement limits the total number of category B machines in any
one premises to up to 20% of the total number of machines. These machines have
a maximum stake of £2 and a max pay out of £500. The remaining machines must
be category C (with a maximum stake of £1 and maximum £100 pay out) or D
(typically low stake fruit machine style, coin pushers, or crane grabs)

2.5

The application includes no operational development, however, a separate
application for advert consent for associated signage has been submitted and is
also before members to assess.

3.0

Relevant History

3.1

B/22/0223 – Advertisement consent for 2no illuminated fascia signs and 1no
externally illuminated projecting sign – Not yet determined

3.2

B/17/0390 – Application to remove the lantern light and in-fill the roof via timber joist
and single ply roof system and install a section of flat roof over the light well.
Replace three windows to the first floor with double glazed, u-PVC framed window
units – Approved 06/12/2017

Page 12

3.3

B/17/0381 – Change of Use from shop (Class A1) to a coffee shop comprising (A1
and A3 uses) – Approved 07/11/2017 but not implemented

4.0

Relevant Policy
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy
Policy 2 – Development Management
Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 24 – Retail Hierarchy
Policy 25 – Supporting the Vitality and Viability of Boston and Spalding
Town Centres
Policy 26 – Primary Shopping Frontages
Policy 29 – The Historic Environment
Policy 32 – Community, Health and Wellbeing

National Planning Policy Framework
4.1

The National Planning Policy Framework is a material consideration, of particular
note are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Section 4 – Decision-making
Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and
coastal change
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Annex 2: Glossary

5.0

Representations

5.1

As a result of publicity 54 representations have been received from addresses
across the Borough and surrounding parishes. A low level of comments have been
received from addresses outside the county.

5.2

The objections and comments are summarised below, please note not all
comments received may be material planning considerations:
Suitability of use
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Boston already has three of these uses and a further one is not needed in
a small town like Boston
Need more places for people to shop
Gaming centres will deter visitors to Boston
Site is a prime site in town centre and should be for retail only
Would lower the attraction of new shops and shoppers
Nearby new horizons site caters for this market on Strait Bargate
Use adds to town centre decay
Not a way to promote Boston

Page 13

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Sui-generis uses will harm the shopping environment and contribute to
decline of retail environment
Boston does not have need for a casino
It will lead to people avoiding the area
Any change of use must ensure that it does not have any detrimental
effect on the environment and local amenity of the centre of Boston in
relation to the enjoyment of the town centre by residents and tourists
Merkur already have two venues in Boston
This type of use isn’t needed or wanted
Allowing this use would be a clear indication the council has little regard
for the town centre
Similar application made to a neighbouring council was refused
There is no fallback as permission is required to change the use to out of
Class E
All strands of Policy 26 must be complied with, this doesn’t and so is contrary
to that policy
The loss of a large, prominent retail unit would undermine the retail function
of the Town Centre
Proposed use isn’t listed in Policy 24 as being acceptable in a town centre
and is therefore contrary to that policy
Development should contribute to a balance of uses as per Policy 24.
There are 7 betting offices and 4 gaming centres already and would fail to
contribute to a balance of uses.
Para 6.2.6 of the Local Plan acknowledges that a proliferation of these
uses can negatively impact local amenity and approval would constitute
clustering
Proposal won’t make a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of
the Primary Shopping Frontage. By replicating existing betting/gambling
uses it fails to offer any new services or facilities causing harm to the
attractiveness of this part of the town centre
Loss of a significant shop frontage on Strait Bargate and these uses do
not provide an active shop front
Proposal would reduce footfall in town
Marketing was not carried out by a niche retail practice, was only marketed
since 2019 and accounting for covid this is a limited time and the unit is no
longer on the market
Online retailers used by marketing agent are not typical for retailers looking
to expand
Does not provide the necessary details of marketing to confirm how thorough
this was and it does not show a board was erected

Health and Wellbeing
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Government agree more needs to be done to help people with gambling
addiction
Use encourages crime and debt, what is the view of the police?
Should not be encouraging gambling when so many people are struggling
with addiction
Gambling ruins lives and this a trap for vulnerable people
Boston is most dangerous medium-sized town with 100 crimes per 1000
people, this is 25% higher than Lincolnshire rate of 75 per 1000 rates
Not enough police resource to deal with this use
Will lead to anti-social behaviour
Gambling can lead to addiction, poor mental health and suicide

Page 14

▪
▪
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Irresponsible to have this use with cost of living crisis
Children will become normalised to gambling on the high street
Boston is one of most deprived constituencies in UK and there should not be
places where people are encouraged to waste money and get into debt
Rather than having greater access to the facilities, services and opportunities
that help people improve their lives, those in more deprived communities are
disproportionately faced with choices that can often prove harmful. While the
gambling industry may offer some much-needed employment in these areas,
it usually takes much more than it gives, leaving a legacy of greater hardship
and increased social problems
The town needs family friendly uses
Will exacerbate issues caused by unemployment and low wages
Vision in Local Plan seeks to create more sustainable communities which
contribute to health and well-being of residents and visitors which should be
seen alongside para 92 of the NPPF and Policy 32 in the plan.
Proposals fails to contribute to an inclusive community
Use of gaming facilities will potentially lead to an increase in inequality

Historic Environment
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

The building is one of the most important and iconic in the heart of the town
centre and must be preserved. It is a non-designated heritage asset
No heritage assessment has been submitted with the application
No confirmation as to whether vinyls will be used or not and if they are this
would harm Boston Conservation Area
It has structural and decorative features that are a prime example of the Era
Ground floor frontage displays and signage must be in keeping with
traditional shopping frontages a waste of a fantastic and architecturally
stunning building in a prime and prominent location in the centre of town
Heritage and tourism will not be encourage in any way should these
applications be granted

6.0

Consultations

6.1

Lincolnshire County Council Highways and SuDS – Does not wish to restrict the
grant of permission

6.2

Witham Fourth IDB – No comments

6.3

Environmental Health – No objections subject to recommendations in 3.2 and 5.2
of supporting acoustic assessment

6.4

Heritage Lincolnshire – 14-16 Strait Bargate, whilst having had modern alteration,
forms a positive part of the Boston Town Centre Conservation Area. The inter-war
detailing and layout make a positive and conspicuous contribution to the character
of the commercial core and as such any proposals should seek to preserve and
ideally enhance this character. The property should be classed as non-designated
heritage asset due to the retention of character and the impact the former shop has
on the streetscape
Use – Whilst not directly addressed in the drawings, gaming centres generally use
opaque vinyl’s to block views into and out of the property. The property is located
within the centre of the commercial area, and as such an active frontage is

Page 15

incredibly important for any property. There is a significant risk that given consent
the extensive windows on the ground floor commercial area would be blocked,
having a detrimental effect on the character of the property and failing to preserve
the conservation area.
7.0

Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1

The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:
▪
▪
▪
▪

Whether the use is acceptable within the town centre and primary shopping
frontage
The impact on the historic environment
The impact on the health and well-being of the community
Other matters

Whether the use is acceptable within the town centre and primary shopping
frontage
7.2

The site is situated on Strait Bargate within the town centre, primary shopping area,
and primary shopping frontage designations on Map 1 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan. Policy 24 of the Local Plan identifies Boston town centre
as a sub-regional centre and the locational focus of development of town centre
uses.

7.3

The policy goes on to define a number of uses and use classes that would be
supported. Since the adoption of the Local Plan, the Use Classes Order has been
amended and a number of these classes no longer exist and have been
amalgamated into the more flexible Class E – Members will note that this was a
decision by Government in a deliberate effort to provide more flexibility for
businesses and to encourage enterprise and diversity within town centres and
reduce the reliance on retail. The proposed adult gaming centre use is a sui-generis
use, it does not fall within any existing use class as defined in the order.
Notwithstanding that, Policy 24 does identify leisure and tourist related uses as
acceptable within the town centre – and in general terms the proposed use could
be considered as being more related to leisure and is considered to be
commensurate with one which would be suitable for a town centre location.

7.4

The supporting text (at paragraph 6.2.6) identifies that non-retail uses can add to
the vitality of town centres but acknowledges that poorly placed non-retail uses and
an over-proliferation of similar uses such as betting shops can negatively impact on
the local amenity and activity within a centre and, therefore, will be resisted.
However, it should be noted that the same supporting text (at paragraph 6.1.3) also
acknowledges that ‘town centres will have to take on new roles to continue to
respond to the needs of local people, while being resilient to economic change’.

7.5

This approach is consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),
paragraph 86 states policies should take a positive approach to the growth,
management and adaption of town centres and should:
(a) define a network and hierarchy of town centres and promote their long-term
vitality and viability – by allowing them to grow and diversify in a way that can
respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable
mix of uses (including housing) and reflects their distinctive characters;

Page 16

(b) define the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, and make clear
the range of uses permitted in such locations, as part of a positive strategy for
the future of each centre;
7.6

This is supported by a definition of main town centres uses in the glossary that
defines these uses as:
“Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres); leisure,
entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses (including cinemas,
restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs, casinos, health
and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls); offices; and arts,
culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and
concert halls, hotels and conference facilities).”

7.7

No specific reference to adult gaming centres (AGCs) is made within the Local Plan
or the NPPF. Both are therefore ‘silent’ on them.

7.8

It is noted that the Local Plan and several comments make reference to betting
shops, however, AGCs differ from betting shops and are distinct uses requiring
planning permission to change between the two. As such it is important that these
uses are not conflated. An AGC, as described by the applicants supporting
information, provides only low stakes games machines and is subject to a licence
by the gambling commission under the Gambling Act 2005.

7.9

It is considered that an AGC is a leisure use and is, in principle, acceptable within
a town centre in accordance with Policy 24 and the definitions provided in the
NPPF. This is subject to the proliferation of the use and the considerations of Policy
25 and 26 below.

7.10

Policy 25 of the Local Plan identifies that Boston town centre will continue to be the
primary destination for entertainment and that the council will support and extend
the offer of town centres as destinations through the redevelopment of land within
the town centre boundary that can provide for retail and other town centre uses.

7.11

Policy 26 states that subject to permitted development rights ground floor A1 units
in the primary shopping frontage should be retained predominantly for retail use
unless it can be demonstrated that the loss of an A1 unit will:
▪
▪
▪

Make a positive contribution to the vitality and viability of the primary
shopping frontage
Not result in the loss of A1 floor space or frontage of a scale that undermines
the retail function of the frontage and
Allow upper floors to be effectively used, including the possibility of
independent use where appropriate.

7.12

Given the changes to the use classes order since the adoption of the Plan the A1
class no longer exists. Retail now forms part of Class E and as such changes
between retail and other Class E uses such as offices, café’s, indoor sport and
recreation, financial and professional services and nurseries is not considered to
be development. Planning permission would not be required to change between
any of those uses. It is therefore important to consider the primary shopping
frontage both as retail function but also more broadly as a Class E function.

7.13

As highlighted earlier, this was a deliberate move by the Government:

Page 17

“As we protect and grow our economy post covid, we must think flexibly about how
best to support our high streets and town centres. These changes will give high
streets the ability to adapt quickly to new uses where they might be greater value,
or to change into housing in due course. This gives the high streets and our town
centres the best chance of adapting and thriving, but we are protecting uses which
bring unique benefits, like local pubs – and local authorities will still be able to
control use changes that might bring nuisance to the community – like betting
shops.” (Government Key Facts brief – Sept 2020)
7.14

To support the application, a covering letter has been submitted along with a
summary report of a footfall assessment of existing Merkur sites and a letter from
the marketing agent.

7.15

Within the covering letter is a summary of a survey of the primary shopping frontage
undertaken in May 2022 on behalf of the applicant, the associated data for which
has also been submitted in support of the application. Of the 72 units that make up
the primary shopping frontage 64% were retail and a total of 75% were in Class E
usage. There were two other AGC’s within that frontage (3%) and 9 units are
currently vacant (12.5%).

7.16

The site has been vacant since December 2016 and has not been occupied for
over 5 years. The existing agent has been actively marketing the property for a
Class E use since 2019, in that time only two viewings took place and no offer for
a retail or other Class E use has been made. A previous application was made to
change the use to a coffee shop in 2017 shortly after the shop became vacant but
this does not appear to have been implemented and was never occupied. Given
the length of time the unit has been vacant it would appear unlikely an alternative
Class E use is to be forthcoming on the site.

7.17

Turning to footfall, the survey results submitted by the applicant indicate that 62%
of respondents visited other town centre shops or services and as such contribute
to, and benefit from, linked trips with other town centre services.

7.18

Policies 24 and 26 do not identify what is considered to be an over-proliferation of
use, at what extent such a proliferation might cause harm to the vitality and viability
of a shopping frontage, or at what level the primary shopping frontage might be
undermined by other uses. These are matters for the decision maker to determine
within the context of each application.

7.19

It is noted there are two existing AGC units in that primary frontage and that when
looking at the wider town centre two more AGC’s are currently operating (including
one by the same operator here) and a further proposed unit on High Street is also
before Members to determine. However, the survey data indicates that 73% of all
occupied units in that primary frontage are still in retail use and that 86% are in
Class E use. This is a significant predominance of retail and Class E within the
currently operating primary shopping frontage. As set out above even accounting
for vacant units, a total of 75% of all units are in Class E. It can be concluded that
the existing primary shopping frontage retains its purpose and has not been
undermined by other uses.

7.20

As the site has been vacant for over 5 years and was so at the time of the plan
being adopted, it cannot be considered to be contributing to the vitality and viability
of the primary shopping frontage in its current use. Nor is it considered that 3 units,

Page 18

a proportion of just over 4%, would be an over proliferation of Adult Gaming Centres
within that area. Taken cumulatively, it is considered the proposals would enhance
the vitality and viability of the primary shopping frontage and would not undermine
the retail function of that frontage.
7.21

The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Policies 24, 25 and 26 of the
Local Plan.
The impact on the historic environment

7.22

The site is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset and lies within the
Boston Conservation Area and is within the setting of several nearby listed buildings
including, but not limited to:
▪
▪
▪

Grade I Listed Parish Church of St Botolph
Grade II Listed 23 Strait Bargate
Grade II Listed 60 Market Place

7.23

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 gives a statutory duty to “have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses”. Section 72 gives a duty for “special attention
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area” when determining planning applications that affect a
conservation area. Section 16 of the NPPF and Policy 29 of the Plan give great
weight to a heritage assets conservation.

7.24

Advice has been provided by Heritage Lincolnshire on the proposals, these
comments primarily relate to the application for advertisement consent but the
comments do reference the need for an active frontage and the use of vinyl stickers
typical of this use.

7.25

These heritage assets all derive some significance from the town centre and its
historic uses and as the use is considered to be acceptable within the town centre,
the use is considered to be compatible with the setting of nearby listed buildings
and the conservation area and would preserve their significance.

7.26

The use of vinyl was raised as part of the conservation advice. Policy 26 also seeks
to prevent the blanking out of shop windows by externally positioned opaque blinds,
vinyl film or other means.

7.27

The proposals submitted don’t include this element, in either the planning
application or the application for advert consent but it is not considered this is
necessary should the use proceed. It is worth addressing the specific limitations of
the policy as well as the appropriateness of limiting vinyls through a condition.

7.28

Section 55 (1) of the Town and Country Planning Act defines ‘development’ as the
carrying out of building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over, or
under land or the making of any material change in the use of any buildings or other
land. The application of vinyl stickers is not a building operation and therefore does
not meet the definition of operational development set out in Section 55 (1) and
(1A). It is acknowledged that their use may materially affect the appearance of the
building and may have negative impacts upon the conservation area but the starting

Page 19

point is whether the works are development and as such the application of vinyl on
the windows would not be work requiring planning permission in its own right.
7.29

Paragraph 56 of the NPPF states conditions should only be imposed where they
are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted,
enforceable, precise and reasonable. It is not considered that any condition
restricting the implementation of vinyl stickers would meet the test of relevance or
reasonableness within the context of Section 55 above. Such a condition is
therefore not recommended here.

7.30

Furthermore, Class 12 of Schedule 3 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of
Advertisements)(England) Regulations 2007 grants deemed consent to ‘an
advertisement displayed inside a building, other than an advertisement falling within
Class I of Schedule 1’. Should the vinyl stickers be applied internally then they
would not require advertisement consent either and do not need to be included in
that application. Should the vinyl be applied to the exterior of the window
advertisement consent would be required, at which point Policy 26 of the Local Plan
would be a consideration.
The impact on amenity and the health and well-being of the community

7.31

Significant objection has arisen around the impact of the use on the health and wellbeing of the community. This primarily arises from an anticipated rise in anti-social
behaviour, crime and the fear of crime, as well as the impacts an additional unit
would have on levels of gambling addiction within the town, particularly in
vulnerable communities.

7.32

Policy 32 of the Local Plan indicates development should contribute to the creation
of socially-cohesive and inclusive communities, reduced health inequalities, and
improved health and well-being of the community. It requires that, where possible
and appropriate, development should create environments which discourage crime
and disorder and do not create the fear of crime.

7.33

It should firstly be noted that an AGC is a licensed use. A licence from the gambling
commission is required and a subsequent premises licence is required from the
Local Authority. The licensing regime prevents entry to under 18s and prevents the
consumption of alcohol on the premises. These licensing requirements are distinct
from the planning function, and planning should not seek to deal with matters
controlled by separate legislation.

7.34

All licence applications must comply with the 3 licensing objectives: preventing
gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated with crime
and disorder or being used to support crime, ensuring gambling is conducted in a
fair and open way, and protecting children and other vulnerable people from being
harmed or exploited by gambling. Many of the objections raised in connection with
the use relate to the licensing objectives above and therefore should not be
considered as part of this application.

7.35

However, it is appropriate to consider the health and well-being aspects as a
function of the proposed land use.

7.36

The application proposes no external alterations to the building and retains an
existing frontage on Strait Bargate and New Lane. The proposed signage is the
subject of an advertisement consent application, also before members, and the

Page 20

issue of vinyl advertisements is covered above. As such, there are no concerns
regarding the design of the proposal and its potential impact.
7.37

There are existing AGC uses within the town centre and as such any impacts on
well-being will primarily arise from an intensification of that use. It is acknowledged
that there is a risk to individuals suffering from, or vulnerable to, gambling addiction
arising from the proposed use. It is also acknowledged that gambling addiction is a
significant issue with serious negative impacts on affected individuals.

7.38

Paragraph 92(c) of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should
aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which enable and support healthy
lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health and well-being
needs.

7.39

Policy 32 of the Plan has clear aims regarding the promotion of an inclusive and
healthy community. However, there is no identified health need within that policy or
the plan as whole in relation to gambling addiction and little in the way of policy or
justification that identifies at what level or density the proposed use would have a
negative effect on the well-being of the community.

7.40

In short, it is unclear whether an intensification of the use would have a more
harmful impact on well-being of the community and/or whether there is a particular
density or location at which that use becomes harmful.

7.41

The proposed use would potentially have a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of the community but at an unquantified level that cannot be said to be
contrary to Policy 32. That harm is therefore of limited weight. On this basis, it
considered it would not be possible to evidence a concern in this regard which
would be sustainable at Appeal.
Other matters

7.42

Some concerns relating to noise and disturbance associated with the use have
been raised. As above these are partly a licensing consideration but some matters
are relevant where they impact on the amenity of other users of the town centre,
particularly regarding the impacts of noise on nearby residents and businesses

7.43

The application has been accompanied by a noise survey assessing both internal
and external levels of noise and the impacts on nearby residential properties.
Recommendations are made at Sections 3.2 and 5.2 regarding internal repairs and
measures to manage unpredictable noise events. Environmental Health have
confirmed that subject to such measures they have no concerns. It is therefore
considered unlikely the proposals would have an unacceptable impact of the
amenity of nearby residents and businesses.

7.44

The site is in flood zone 3 and as such requires the submission of a Flood Risk
Assessment. The existing and proposed use are less vulnerable, as set out in the
planning practice guidance flood risk vulnerability classification table. It is therefore
not required that the proposal undergo the sequential test, however, such a test is
not required for changes of use. It is considered the proposal would be safe from
flooding and no further mitigation is required.

8.0

Summary and Conclusion

Page 21

8.1

The application seeks to change the use of a vacant retail unit to a sui-generis use
as an adult gaming centre. The site is in the town centre, in the primary shopping
area, and is part of the primary shopping frontage. An adult gaming centre is
considered to be a leisure use appropriate in principle within a town centre in
accordance with the definitions set out in the Local Plan and in the NPPF.

8.2

The primary shopping frontage retains a predominance of retail and other Class E
uses, although there are two existing adult gaming centres within that frontage
already. While these uses are in close proximity to the site they are not considered
to be an over-proliferation as a proportion of total uses. Furthermore, as the site
has been vacant since December 2016 bringing it back into use would add to the
vitality and viability of the primary shopping frontage. The proposal is therefore
considered to accord with Policies 24, 25, and 26 of the Local Plan.

8.3

The proposed use would not impact the significance of Boston Conservation Area
or the setting of any of the nearby listed buildings. The use is also considered to be
compatible with the sites value as a non-designated heritage asset. Any impacts
arising from signage are more appropriate considerations for the accompanying
Advertisement Consent, also before members.

8.4

The proposal has the potential to impact negatively upon the health and well-being
of the local community as it is acknowledged that the districts socio-economic
standing means residents are likely to be more vulnerable to these negative
impacts. However, such uses are already established within the town centre and it
is not clear that an additional unit would exacerbate those risks. These negative
impacts are therefore given limited weight in the planning balance.

8.5

On balance, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies 24, 25, and 26 and
any negative impacts to the health and well-being of the community do not outweigh
that policy compliance. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Committee Approve the application subject to the below
conditions:
Conditions

1.

The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of
four years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: To take account of the present restrictions on implementing permissions,
in order to assist the recovery and in order to comply with the requirements of
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall only be undertaken in accordance with the
following approved plans;
▪
▪

Site Location Plan
Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and the interests of proper planning.

Page 22

3.

Prior to the development hereby permitted first being brought into use the
recommendations set out in Section 3.2 and 5.2 of the Noise Assessment
completed by Archo Consulting and dated 19/05/2022 shall be implemented in full.
Reason: In the interests of protecting neighbour amenity and limiting noise
pollution. This condition is imposed in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0223

Planning Application:
Advertisement Consent for 2no illuminated fascia signs and
1no externally illuminated projecting sign

Location:
14 – 16 Strait Bargate, Boston PE21 6LW

Applicant:
Merkur Slots UK Ltd

Agent:
Mr. Will Rogers, Planning Potential Ltd

Page 25

Page 26

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Planning Committee – 26 July 2022

Reference No:

B/22/0223

Expiry Date:
Extension of Time:

20-Jul-2022
02-08-2022

Application Type:

Advertisement Consent

Proposal:

Advertisement consent for 2no illuminated fascia signs and 1no
externally illuminated projecting sign

Site:

14-16, Strait Bargate, Boston, PE21 6LW

Applicant:
Agent:

Merkur Slots UK Ltd
Mr Rogers Rogers, Planning Potential Ltd.

Ward:

Witham

Parish: Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer:

Lewis Humphreys

Third Party Reps:

27

Recommendation: Delegate to Assistant Director – Planning to conclude

Page 27

1.0

Reason for Report

1.1

This application is presented to the Planning Committee following a call-in request
from the ward member, Cllr. Hastie for the following reasons:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Straight Bargate due its historical/ heritage value and the close location to
the stump I feel it’s inappropriate for a gaming establishment to be located
there.
Due to 2 other Gaming establishment being located round the corner I feel a
3rd being located so close in such an area as Straight Bargate needs to be
discussed by the committee.
Due to level of the objections regarding this from local residents I feel that it
should be called in over its external appearance and the effect it will have on
the local area.
The noise disturbance created by the proposed establishment
Its location on a pedestrian/ bus route
Policy 25 and policy 32 of the local plan.

It should be noted that many of the aforementioned points are not relevant to an
Advertisement Consent application; and are more closely aligned to the Change of
Use application. Given this link, both applications are reported to Committee.
2.0

Application Site and Proposal

2.1

The application site is a currently vacant unit situated on the corner of Strait Bargate
and New Street. The site is within the town centre and Boston Conservation Area
and is within the primary shopping area and part of the primary shopping frontage
as defined on Map 1 of the Local Plan. The site is in Flood Zone 3.

2.2

The application relates to the ground floor of the building only, accessed through a
door at the centre of the property. A first and second floor are accessed via a
separate entrance on New Lane. The site has been vacant since December 2016
when it was last occupied by Clarks.

2.3

The proposal seeks advertisement consent for two fascia signs, stretching the
length of the frontage from New Street around to Strait Bargate. These Fascia signs
include external illumination over the ‘Merkur Slots’ lettering. A further projecting
sign is proposed at the northern end of the Strait Bargate frontage that would be
internally illuminated.

3.0

Relevant History

3.1

B/22/0222 – Change of use from a former Class E use to an Adult Gaming Centre
(Sui Generis) – Not yet determined

3.2

B/17/0390 – Application to remove the lantern light and in-fill the roof via timber joist
and single ply roof system and install a section of flat roof over the light well.
Replace three windows to the first floor with double glazed, u-PVC framed window
units – Approved 06/12/2017

3.3

B/17/0381 – Change of Use from shop (Class A1) to a coffee shop comprising (A1
and A3 uses) – Approved 07/11/2017 but not implemented

Page 28

4.0

Relevant Policy
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
▪
▪
▪

Policy 2 – Development Management
Policy 26 – Primary Shopping Frontages
Policy 29 – The Historic Environment

National Planning Policy Framework
The National Planning Policy Framework is a material consideration, or particular
note are:
▪
▪

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5.0

Representations

5.1

As a result of publicity 26 representations have been received from addresses
across the Borough and surrounding parishes

5.2

The objections and comments can be summarised below, please note not all
comments received may be material planning considerations or relevant
considerations in an application for advertisement consent.
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Shouldn’t allow signage that promotes/advertises gambling
Heritage would not be enhanced or tourism encouraged by the proposal
This is a special building in the heart of the town centre and needs a
sympathetic regeneration
Would impact on the Stump, Guildhall and Market Place, 3 uses within a
square mile of these is excessive
It is a stunningly beautiful Art Deco building and part of the heritage of
Boston Town and does not deserve to be visually abused by proposed
promotional signage
Is this the image Boston wants to give locals and visitors
Does not improve town centre
Would undermine culture and history of Boston
Proposed use would degrade centre of Boston
Boston is a dump and this would make it worse
Boston is a quiet traditional market town not Vegas
More shops needed, not gaming centres
Need more retail variety or cafes and other uses
Site is opposite Boston’s department store and amongst charity shops and
cafes, give consideration to the longer term issues of granting this
Already existing uses on Strait Bargate to cater for need
We should be discouraging gambling and not encourage addictive
behaviour
Gambling leads to anti-social behaviour, crime and suicide
Boston already has most crime in Lincolnshire and this make that worse
This could bring additional policing issues
How will this use benefit the town
Area has issues with poverty, low wages and deprivation this will encourage
people into more debt

Page 29

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Use may contribute to exploiting some vulnerable individuals and encourage
them into gambling
Morally wrong to introduce this during a cost of living crisis
Council has a moral duty to its residents
Concerns about impacts if use is open 24 hours and the impacts on crime
and anti-social behaviour at night
Already existing gambling uses and betting shops have gaming machines is
more needed
Similar application was refused at a neighbouring council

6.0

Consultations

6.1

Lincolnshire County Council Highways and SuDS – Does not wish to restrict the
grant of permission

6.2

Witham Fourth IDB – No comments

6.3

Environmental Health – No objections

6.4

Heritage Lincolnshire – 14-16 Strait Bargate, whilst having had modern alteration,
forms a positive part of the Boston Town Centre Conservation Area. The inter-war
detailing and layout make a positive and conspicuous contribution to the character
of the commercial core and as such any proposals should seek to preserve and
ideally enhance this character. The property should be classed as non-designated
heritage asset due to the retention of character and the impact the former shop has
on the streetscape
Signage – Whilst the proposed signage fits within the existing fascia panel, it fails
to consider the special interest of the property or the wider area. The proposals for
an aluminium dip-coated sign with, thick 40mm applied UPVC lettering and trough
lights are a generic and standard approach which totally fails to consider the special
interest of the property. Signage should consider the character of the property and
the wider area and ensure that it is in keeping with host property. This signage is
generic and would likely to be used on any property.
In summary I feel that the proposals fail to consider the special interest of the
building, as a positive building within the conservation area. The signage and
potential impact on the active frontage will result in a generic and defensive
character that would have a negative impact on the building and the wider
conservation area.

7.0

Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1

The application is for advertisement consent, paragraph 136 of the National
Planning Policy Framework states that advertisements should be subject to control
only in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative
impacts. This repeats the limitations set out in Section 3 of the Town and Country
Planning (Control of Advertisements)(England) Regulations 2007.

7.2

The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:
▪

Impact on visual amenity and the historic environment

Page 30

Impact on visual amenity and the historic environment
7.3

Amenity is not exhaustively defined in the regulations but includes aural and visual
amenity. Factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the
locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or
similar interest. Unless the nature of the advertisement is in itself harmful to amenity
or public safety, consent cannot be refused because the local planning authority
considers the advertisement to be misleading (in so far as it makes misleading
claims for products), unnecessary or offensive to public morals. Section 3 (4) goes
on to state that unless it appears to the local planning authority to be required in the
interests of amenity or public safety, an express consent for the display of
advertisements shall not contain any limitation or restriction relating to the subject
matter, content or design of what is to be displayed.

7.4

The proposal is for 2 externally illuminated fascia signs and an externally
illuminated projecting sign. The projecting sign would be located at the northern
most end of the Strait Bargate frontage and a fascia would be above the full length
of the frontage on Strait Bargate and New Street. The fascia’s would be aluminium,
sit within the existing fascia panel, and would have 40mm thick lettering and logos
applied to the fascia. LED trough lighting would be affixed above the lettering on
each fascia. The proposed projecting sign would be fixed, internally illuminated with
LEDs and would be aluminium framed with a logo on the display.

7.5

Heritage Lincolnshire have raised concerns that the signage does not respond to
the special interest of the building or the wider conservation area. They identify that
this harm arises from the generic character of the signage and fails to consider the
character of the building and its setting.

7.6

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 gives a statutory duty to “have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses”. Section 72 gives a duty for “special attention
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area” when determining planning applications that affect a
conservation area. Section 16 of the NPPF and Policy 29 of the Plan give great
weight to a heritage assets conservation.

7.7

The Boston Conservation Area Management Plan 2012-2020 identifies prominent,
visually intrusive and inappropriate signage as a risk to the significance of Boston
Conservation Area and the Boston Conservation Area Appraisal 2016 identifies the
site as a distinctive building from the 1930s that makes a positive contribution to
the significance of the conservation area. The needs/opportunities for this part of
the conservation area are also identified in the appraisal. These include the
continued enhancement of streets and improvement of signage.

7.8

It must be noted that within the area are an eclectic mix of signs, reflecting the uses
contained within buildings, the nature of the use (local or national chains), and the
age/period when the sign was installed. This is not uncommon within many town
centres. Taking all of the above into account it is considered that the current
approach does cause some harm to the character of the conservation area arising
from the prominence of the lettering and logos to be used on the fascia sign. That
harm would be limited within the wider context of the Conservation Area but is still
an identified harm. Paragraph 202 of the NPPF states that where there is less than
substantial harm, as is the case here, this should be weighed against the public

Page 31

benefits of the proposal. In this case, as the proposal is only for the advertisements,
there are no public benefits arising from the signage and as such the current
proposals are contrary to that paragraph, and Policy 29 of the Local Plan
7.9

There are on-going negotiations with the applicant to provide alternative designs
for the signage. Should these be received in time, Members will be updated via the
supplementary agenda. However in general terms Officers consider that it should
be possible to achieve an appropriate solution through dialogue; if this cannot be
achieved, Officers would seek to refuse the application. Hence the proposed
delegation that is subject of this recommendation.

7.10

A large number of objections received on this application were related to the
associated application for the change of use B/22/0222. Several objections also
made reference to the impacts of advertisements in related to gambling. However,
as described above it is not appropriate to consider the content of the signage as
part of this determination.

8.0

Summary and Conclusion

8.1

The proposed signage as is currently presented is considered to cause harm to the
significance of Boston Conservation Area and as such is contrary to Policy 29 of
the Local Plan. There are on-going negotiations with the applicant to address these
concerns and to agree a suitable scheme should any amendments be submitted
that change overcome these issues, Members will be informed via the
supplementary agenda. However, if this cannot be achieved, Officers seek
delegated authority to conclude the application, either as a refusal (if left as current)
to approve an alternative scheme which is acceptable in terms of the impact on the
Conservation Area. Typically advertisement consent applications would be a matter
determined under delegation and as such, there is no reason such an approach
would not be appropriate in this instance.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Committee delegate authority for the determination of this
application to the Assistant Director – Planning for determination following
continued negotiations on the design in regards to its impact on the Conservation
Area.

Page 32

Agenda Item 3

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0240

Planning Application:
Full Planning Permission – Change of use from a former payday loan shop (Sui Generis)
to an Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) (Sui Generis)

Location:
9 High Street, Boston PE21 8SH

Applicant:
Chongie Entertainment Ltd

Agent:
Mr. Julian Sutton, JMS Planning and Development Ltd

Page 33

Page 34

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Planning Committee – 26 July 2022

Reference No:

B/22/0240

Expiry Date:
Extension of Time:

02-Aug-2022

Application Type:
Proposal:
Site:

Full Planning Permission
Change of use from a former payday loan shop (Sui Generis) to an
Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) (Sui Generis)
9 High Street, Boston PE21 8SH

Applicant:
Agent:

Chongie Entertainment Ltd
Julian Sutton, JMS Planning & Development Ltd

Ward: Station

Parish: Boston Town Area Committee

Case Officer: Lewis Humphreys

Third Party Reps: 40

Recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions

Page 35

1.0

Reason for Report

1.1

The application has been referred to committee due to the level of public comment
received and due to the similar nature of the proposal (B/22/0222), also before
Members which raise similar considerations.

2.0

Application Site and Proposal

2.1

The application site is 9 High Street, a large ground floor unit that fronts onto High
Street but with a frontage display running the length of the shop along the
pedestrianised Emery Lane. The site is in the town centre and Boston Conservation
Area as defined on Map 1 of the Local Plan. The site is also in Flood Zone 3.

2.2

The building is currently vacant and was last in use in August 2021 as a pay day
loan shop and existing signage identifies the unit was last occupied by Cash
Converters.

2.3

The proposal seeks to change the use to a different sui generis use to provide an
Adult Gaming Centre. This would have a ‘shop floor’ on the ground floor with upper
floors used for back of house and storage purposes.

2.4

An adult gaming centre is a licensed premises for those aged 18 and over that
contains fruit machines and other similar style gaming machines. The licensing
requirement limit the total number of category B machines in any one premises to
up to 20% of the total number of machines. These machines have a maximum stake
of £2 and a max pay out of £500. The remaining machines must be category C
(with a maximum stake of £1 and maximum £100 pay out) or D (typically low stake
fruit machine style, coin pushers, or crane grabs)

3.0

Relevant History

3.1

There are a few historic permissions that predate the existing use, as identified in
the applicants supporting statement. Given the age of those permissions it is not
considered they are relevant considerations in the determination of this application.

4.0

Relevant Policy
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy
Policy 2 – Development Management
Policy 4 – Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 24 – Retail Hierarchy
Policy 25 – Supporting the Vitality and Viability of Boston and Spalding Town
Centres
Policy 29 – The Historic Environment
Policy 32 – Community, Health and Wellbeing

National Planning Policy Framework
▪
▪
▪
▪

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Section 4 – Decision-making
Section 6 – Building a strong, competitive economy
Section 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Page 36

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
Annex 2: Glossary

5.0

Representations

5.1

As a result of publicity 38 representations have been received from addresses
across the Borough and surrounding parishes.

5.2

The objections and comments are summarised below, please note not all
comments received may be material planning considerations:
Suitability of use
▪
Not suitable for centre of town
▪
This is a main shopping area and will not attract people into town
▪
Need to bring people in not turn people away to other towns like Spalding
▪
Premises should be used for something positive
▪
Enough gambling premises in town without adding more
▪
Should be retail, Boston needs good quality shops
▪
This is a natural thoroughfare through the town and should add to it not
detract
▪
It will add to towns decay and Boston is being run into the ground by short
sighted town planning
▪
Uses like this will keep businesses and shoppers away and will not portray
the right image for the town that will attract professional skilled people
▪
Other small towns are vibrant and have character, Boston is dirty and
depressing
▪
Empty premises should be converted to residential, which would provide a
better use than gambling and help rejuvenate the area
▪
Site is Class E use (former A1 use) not a sui-generis pay day loan shop
▪
A different use might encourage people onto West Street and support the
businesses there. This will only entice people to gamble
▪
Undermines towns funds projects to make town more attractive
▪
These games machines are also allowed in Bookmakers and Bingo Halls
and if taken cumulatively there are already large numbers of slots machines
in the area (4 AGCs, 9 Bookmakers, 1 Bingo Hall)
Health and Well-being
▪
Gambling uses cause misery, crime and suicide
▪
Easy enough to get drawn into gambling online without physical presence
▪
Enough issues in town without 24 hour gambling
▪
Don’t need more traps for vulnerable people
▪
Duty of care to not to exploit vulnerable
▪
There is a cost of living crisis at the moment
▪
Crime rate is higher in Boston than elsewhere in the county and there is
insufficient police
▪
Anti-social behaviour is a big issue in town and this will add to that
▪
Any positive revenue does not outweigh risks and associations
▪
Use is entirely profit driven and will not want customers to walk away and
addicts cannot walk away by themselves

Page 37

▪
▪

Area is low income with deprivation and this will encourage people to spend
money that cannot afford to
It’s a matter of public welfare and while not a planning consideration local
authority have a duty to protect living standards and vulnerable people

Historic Environment
▪
This will keep people away from a beautifully restored and historic part of
the town around town bridge
▪
There is a duty of care to protect our heritage
▪
Would harm the old Midland Bank building and spoil another area of Boston
▪
Would undermine Boston’s culture and history
▪
Harmful impact on building next door
Transport
▪
Not a practical development, no progress has been made on reducing
pollution it has increase and will continue to do so. A health threat to
residents on A16, A52 and Liquorpond Street/Queens Road
Other
▪
Brand name Little Vegas not in keeping with image of town centre and
historical image
6.0

Consultations

6.1

Lincolnshire County Council Highways and SuDS – Does not wish to restrict the
grant of permission

6.2

Witham Fourth IDB – No comments

6.3

Environmental Health – No objections

6.4

Environment Agency - The former use as a payday loan shop and proposed use as
an adult gaming centre can both be classified as less vulnerable from a flood risk
perceptive and as there is no increase in flood risk to and from the development we
have no comments to make on the application.

6.5

Heritage Lincolnshire – No concerns with the proposed use, may be impacts
associated with signage at a later date

7.0

Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1

The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:
▪
▪
▪
▪

Whether the use is acceptable in the town centre
The impact on the historic environment
The impact on the health and well-being of the community
Other matters

Whether the use is acceptable in the town centre.
7.2

The site is situated on High Street, close to Town Bridge and is within the town
centre as defined on Map 1 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
Policy 24 of the Local Plan identifies Boston town centre as a sub-regional centre

Page 38

and the locational focus of development of town centre uses. It is not within the
primary shopping frontage or primary shopping area.
7.3

The policy goes on to define a number of uses and use classes that would be
supported. Since the adoption of the Local Plan the Use Classes Order has been
amended and a number of these classes no longer exist and have been
amalgamated into the more flexible Class E – Members will note that this was a
decision by Government in a deliberate effort to provide more flexibility for
businesses and to encourage enterprise and diversity within town centres and
reduce the reliance on retail. The proposed adult gaming centre use is a sui-generis
use, it does not fall within any existing use class as defined in the order.
Notwithstanding that, Policy 24 does identify leisure and tourist related uses as
acceptable within the town centre.

7.4

The supporting text (at paragraph 6.2.6) identifies that non-retail uses can add to
the vitality of town centres but acknowledges that poorly placed non-retail uses and
an over-proliferation of similar uses such as betting shops can negatively impact on
the local amenity and activity within a centre and, therefore, will be resisted.
However, it should be noted that the same supporting text (at paragraph 6.1.3) also
acknowledges that ‘town centres will have to take on new roles to continue to
respond to the needs of local people, while being resilient to economic change’.

7.5

This approach is consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
(NPPF), paragraph 86 states policies should take a positive approach to the growth,
management and adaption of town centres and should:
(a)

(b)

7.6

define a network and hierarchy of town centres and promote their long-term
vitality and viability – by allowing them to grow and diversify in a way that
can respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a
suitable mix of uses (including housing) and reflects their distinctive
characters;
define the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, and make
clear the range of uses permitted in such locations, as part of a positive
strategy for the future of each centre;

This is supported by a definition of main town centres uses in the glossary that
defines these uses as:
“Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory outlet centres);
leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses
(including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs,
nightclubs, casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and
bingo halls); offices; and arts, culture and tourism development (including
theatres, museums, galleries and concert halls, hotels and conference
facilities).”

7.7

No specific reference to adult gaming centres (AGCs) is made within the Local Plan
or the NPPF. Both are therefore ‘silent’ on them.

7.8

It is noted that the Local Plan and several comments make reference to betting
shops, however, AGCs differ from betting shops and are distinct uses requiring
planning permission to change between the two. As such it is important that these
uses are not conflated. An AGC provides only low stakes games machines and is
subject to a licence by the gambling commission under the Gambling Act 2005.

Page 39

7.9

It is considered that an AGC is a leisure use and is, in principle, acceptable within
a town centre in accordance with Policy 24 and the definitions provided in the
NPPF. This is subject to the proliferation of the use and the considerations of Policy
25 below.

7.10

Policy 25 of the Local Plan identifies that Boston town centre will continue to be the
primary destination for entertainment and that the council will support and extend
the offer of town centres as destinations through the redevelopment of land within
the town centre boundary that can provide for retail and other town centre uses. As
such the application is broadly consistent with this approach.

7.11

Policy 24 does not identify what is considered to be an over-proliferation of use or
at what extent that proliferation may become harmful to the town centre. These are
matters for the decision maker to determine within the context of each application.
The test of vitality and viability is not required in this case as the site is not part of
the primary shopping frontage. Instead it is simply a test as to whether the
cumulative level of use in the town centre is acceptable and accords with Policy 24
and 25.

7.12

There are currently 4 AGC’s in operation within the town centre. Two on the primary
shopping frontage on Market Place and Wide Bargate. A further use is proposed in
this area on Strait Bargate and is also before Members for determination. There are
additional AGCs at 18 High Street and 45 West Street within the town centre
boundary.

7.13

The site is in a prominent location, with a long frontage along Emery Lane and is in
a prominent position on High Street, at the end of Town Bridge on a main
thoroughfare and cycle route through the town.

7.14

The existing use has been raised in objections that have been received. The site
has history as an A1 use, with historic refusals for conversion in 1991 and 1993 to
an A2 or an A3 use respectively. These uses predate the current Local Plan and
NPPF and are of very limited weight in decision making. The last occupants were
Cash Converters and they occupied the property at the time the Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes)(Amendment)(England) Regulations 2020 came into force.
Their occupation is described by the applicant as a sui-generis pay day loan shop
while an objector has raised that as they did not always do pay day loans and were
primarily for the buying and selling of goods a retail use within Class E is a more
appropriate description.

7.15

It is not for this application to determine the lawful use of the previous occupation,
and such a determination cannot be made in the absence of details as to how and
when they operated as part of an application for a lawful development certificate.
As the local plan does not seek to secure a specific percentage of retail or class E
use in the town centre as a whole the current use is of less relevance than whether
the proposed use is acceptable in the town centre, which is the primary focus of
this determination.

7.16

On balance, it is not considered the additional unit would result in over-proliferation
within the context of the town centre as a whole and thus it is not considered that
the change to an AGC would cause any harm to the town centre. As such the use
is considered to be acceptable.

Page 40

The impact on the historic environment
7.17

The site is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset and lies within the
Boston Conservation Area and is within the setting of several nearby listed buildings
including, but not limited to:
▪
▪

Grade II Listed 13/15 High Street
Grade II Listed Midlands Bank

7.18

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 gives a statutory duty to “have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or
historic interest which it possesses”. Section 72 gives a duty for “special attention
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or
appearance of that area” when determining planning applications that affect a
conservation area. Section 16 of the NPPF and Policy 29 of the Plan give great
weight to a heritage assets conservation.

7.19

Advice provided by Heritage Lincolnshire does not identify any harm to the heritage
assets deriving from the use and as the use is considered appropriate within the
town centre, as set out above, the use is considered to be compatible with the nondesignated heritage asset and the significance of Boston Conservation Area and
the nearby listed buildings.
The impact on amenity and the health and well-being of the community

7.20

Significant objection has arisen around the impact of the use on the health and wellbeing of the community. This primarily arises from an anticipated rise in anti-social
behaviour, crime and the fear of crime, as well as the impacts an additional unit
would have on levels of gambling addiction within the town, particularly in
vulnerable communities.

7.21

Policy 32 of the Local Plan indicates development should contribute to the creation
of socially-cohesive and inclusive communities, reduced health inequalities, and
improved health and well-being of the community. It requires that, where possible
and appropriate, development should create environments which discourage crime
and disorder and do not create the fear of crime.

7.22

It should firstly be noted that an AGC is a licensed use. A licence from the gambling
commission under the Gambling Act is required and a subsequent premises licence
is required from the Local Authority. The licensing regime prevents entry to under
18s and prevents the consumption of alcohol on the premises. These licensing
requirements are distinct from the planning function, and planning should not seek
to deal with matters controlled by separate legislation.

7.23

All licence applications must comply with the 3 licensing objectives: preventing
gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, being associated with crime
and disorder or being used to support crime, ensuring gambling is conducted in a
fair and open way, and protecting children and other vulnerable people from being
harmed or exploited by gambling. Many of the objections raised in connection with
the use relate to the licensing objectives above and therefore should not be
considered as part of this application.

Page 41

7.24

However, it is appropriate to consider the health and well-being aspects as a
function of the proposed land use.

7.25

There are existing AGC uses within the town centre and as such any impacts on
well-being will primarily arise from an intensification of that use. It is acknowledged
that there is a risk to individuals suffering from, or vulnerable to, gambling addiction
arising from the proposed use. It is also acknowledged that gambling addiction is a
significant issue with serious negative impacts on affected individuals.

7.26

Paragraph 92(c) of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should
aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which enable and support healthy
lifestyles, especially where this would address identified local health and well-being
needs.

7.27

Policy 32 of the Plan has clear aims regarding the promotion of an inclusive and
healthy community. However, there is no identified health need within that policy or
the plan as whole in relation to gambling addiction and little in the way of policy or
justification that identifies at what level or density the proposed use would have a
negative effect on the well-being of the community.

7.28

In short, it is unclear whether an intensification of the use would have a more
harmful impact on well-being of the community and/or whether there is a particular
density or location at which that use becomes harmful.

7.29

The proposed use would potentially have a negative impact on the health and wellbeing of the community but at an unquantified level that cannot be said to be
contrary to Policy 32. That harm is therefore of limited weight. On this basis, it
considered it would not be possible to evidence a concern in this regard which
would be sustainable at Appeal.
Other matters

7.30

The site is in flood zone 3 and as such requires the submission of a Flood Risk
Assessment. The existing and proposed use are less vulnerable, as set out in the
planning practice guidance flood risk vulnerability classification table. It is therefore
not required that the proposal undergo the sequential test, however, such a test is
not required for changes of use. It is considered the proposal would be safe from
flooding and no further mitigation is required.

7.31

The proposed use is not anticipated to generate a significant amount of noise or
disturbance to other residents and businesses and Environmental Health have
raised no concerns. As such no impacts on amenity arising from the use are
expected.

8.0

Summary and Conclusion

8.1

The site is within the town centre but not the primary shopping area or primary
shopping frontage. An adult gaming centre is, in principle, considered to be an
acceptable leisure use within a town centre. There are a number of existing uses
within the town centre but taken cumulatively, it is not considered the proposal
would result in over-proliferation of that use to the detriment of the town centre. As
such the use is considered to be acceptable.

Page 42

8.2

The proposal is solely for change of use and as such no adverse impact is expected
on the historic environment or the character of the area. Similarly no harm is
expected to neighbour amenity and the proposal is considered to be safe from
flooding.

8.3

The proposal has the potential to impact negatively upon the health and wellbeing of the local community as it is acknowledged that the districts socioeconomic standing means residents are likely to be more vulnerable to these
negative impacts. However, such uses are already established within the town
centre and it is not clear that an additional unit would exacerbate those risks.
These negative impacts are therefore given limited weight in the planning
balance.

8.4

On balance, the proposal is considered to comply with Policies 24 and 25, and
any negative impacts to the health and well-being of the community do not
outweigh that policy compliance. The proposal is therefore considered to be
acceptable.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Committee Approve the application subject to the below
conditions:

Conditions
1. The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the expiration of
four years beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: To take account of the present restrictions on implementing permissions,
in order to assist the recovery and in order to comply with the requirements of
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby permitted shall only be undertaken in accordance with the
following approved plans;
▪
▪

Site Location Plan
Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and the interests of proper planning.

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0156

Planning Application:
Full Planning Permission
Conversion of existing buildings (Sui Generis) to 5no residentail
aparenments (C3 dwelling Houses)

Location:
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG

Applicant:
Wellington Pub Company, C/O Agent

Agent:
Caldecotte Group
Page 45

Page 46

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

Planning Committee - 26 July 2022

Reference No:

B/22/0156

Expiry Date:
Extension of Time:

08-Jun-2022
30-Jun-2022

Application Type:
Proposal:
Site:
Applicant:
Agent:

Full Planning Permission
Conversion of existing buildings (Sui Generis) to 5no residential
apartments (C3 dwelling houses)
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG
Wellington Pub Company, C/O Agent
Caldecotte Group

Ward: Kirton & Frampton

Parish: Kirton Parish Council

Case Officer: Abbie Marwood

Third Party Reps: 2

Recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions

Page 47

1.0

Reason for Report

1.1

The application has been called-in to Committee by a Councillor utilising the
Scheme of Delegation mechanism for the following reasons:
▪
▪

Concerns regarding number of units and overdevelopment of the site leading
to pressures in terms of quality of accommodation and amenity for future
residents (Policy 2/3)
Concerns regarding parking provision (Policy 36)

2.0

Application Site and Proposal

2.1

The site is a former public house known as The Peacock, located on High Street
within the settlement boundary of Kirton. The building is a two-story terraced,
located between Jhay Stores and Sylvias Beauty Salon. There is a coaching arch
located to the side of the building that provides access to the small rear yard and
an outbuilding. The public house is currently vacant and is understood to have
ceased trading as a public house in approximately 2012. The building is Grade II
listed, located within Kirton Conservation Area and forms the setting of Grade I
listed St Peter and Pauls Church. The site is also located within Flood Zone 3.

2.2

This area of Kirton High Street is made up of a variety of residential and
commercial uses including takeaways, healthcare, bakery, salon, bookmakers
and several independent shops. There is on-street parking available.

2.3

The proposal is for the conversion of the building and outbuilding from a public
house to 5no self-contained flats. It is proposed to demolish the more modern
(circa 1980’s) rear extension as part of the proposals. The front elevation is to
remain largely unchanged.

3.0

Relevant History

3.1

B/22/0157 – Listed building consent for conversion of building to 5no. residential
units (under consideration)

4.0

Relevant Policy
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan

4.1

The following policies contained within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036) (i.e SELLP) are relevant to this applications:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Policy 1: Spatial Strategy
Policy 2: Development Management
Policy 3: Design of new development
Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk
Policy 10: Meeting Assessed Housing Requirements
Policy 11: Distribution of New Housing
Policy 17: Providing a Mix of Housing
Policy 24: The Retail Hierarchy
Policy 29: The Historic Environment
Policy 31: Climate Change, Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
Policy 32: Community, Health and Well-being

Page 48

▪
4.2

Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking

Other material planning considerations:
The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
At the heart of the 2021 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable
development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Paragraph 126 importance of good design
Paragraph 120 effective use of land through re-use of previously developed
land
Paragraph 92 and 187 community facilities
Paragraph 194 significance of heritage assets
Paragraphs 197 putting heritage assets to viable uses

5.0

Representations

5.1

As a result of publicity 2 representations have been received from:
▪
▪

5.2

The objections and comments can be summarised as follows:
▪
▪

6.0

22 Boston Road, Kirton
43A Station Road, Kirton

Lack of parking
The building is Listed and within a Conservation Area

Consultations
Kirton Parish Council – Objection.
Kirton Parish Council object to the proposal on the grounds of over development
and lack of parking
Environmental Health – No objections
Lincolnshire County Council Highways and Lead Local Flood Authority – No
objections:
‘The site is located in a central urban area where services and facilities are within
a reasonable distance to be accessed via sustainable travel options such as
walking, cycling and public transport. Future residents of the development will not
be reliant on the private car and therefore parking is not essential for this
proposal.’
Historic Lincolnshire Archaeology – No objections with recommendations:
‘The recommendations in relation to this proposal are for a programme of building
recording, prior to any alteration to the fabric of the structures, and a programme
of archaeological monitoring and recording to be carried out during the

Page 49

groundworks phase of the development. The programme of building recording
should include provision for monitoring during the conversion to record any
historic fabric that may be revealed by development works.
Development in the area could disturb previously unknown archaeological finds
and features which could further our knowledge of the development of this
settlement. Therefore, it is recommended that the developer should be required to
commission a Scheme of Archaeological Works’.
Environment Agency – No objection.
‘The standing advice is… no objection and no requirements for mitigation as,
under the 0.1% ‘extreme’ climate change breach scenario above the house
should not flood. The site is however surrounded by lower land which the
modelling indicates would flood under this scenario, potentially resulting in access
/ egress issues. Future occupants should therefore register with Floodline
Warnings Direct’.
7.0

Planning Issues and Discussions

7.1

The key planning issues in the determination of this application are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Principle of development
Loss of Public House
Heritage impacts
Ecology
Appearance and amenity
Flood Risk
Parking

Principle of Development
7.2

Policy 1 of SELLP sets out the spatial strategy for the Borough. Kirton is identified
as a main service centre where within the settlement boundaries development will
be permitted that supports the role as a service centre and helps sustain existing
facilities.

7.3

The site is located within the main built footprint of Kirton and is within the
settlement boundary. It is therefore considered that the principle of new residential
uses in this location is acceptable.
Loss of public house

7.4

The proposals are for the conversion of the Peacock public house to 5no flats.
This would result in the loss of an existing public house in the village. Although
not formally Listed as an Asset of Community Value, the NPPF (para 187) defines
community facilities as (including, but not limited to) facilities such as local shops,
meeting places, cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship. Para 92
of the NPPF also requires local authorities to guard against the unnecessary loss
of valued facilities and services.

7.5

Policy 32: Community, Health and Wellbeing requires development to contribute
to socially-cohesive and inclusive communities. The re-development or change of
use of an existing community facility will only be permitted if:

Page 50

An assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown that the facility is:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Surplus to requirements; or
Not economically viable; or
Unfit for purpose; and
In the case of recreational open space, does not make an important
contribution in amenity, visual or nature conservation terms.

7.6

A Viability Report has been submitted with the application which sets out that the
public house has been vacant since 2012. The Viability Report takes into account
a number of factors, including costs of bringing the public house back into use,
previous turn over and competition, in line with the CAMRA template.

7.7

There is also another public house in the village, known as The Black Bull Inn,
and a bar/restaurant known as Everest Bar and Grill, both of which are approx.
100m from the application site. Other provision in the village includes Kirton
Leisure and Graves Park Social Club.

7.8

The building is in a poor state of repair, and would require a scheme of remedial
works if it were to re-open as a public house. In addition, the business as a public
house has previously been advertised for sale in October 2013 and at auction in
2016 but has failed to sell or attract a bid. The public house was further advertised
for sale 2019 but only attracted interest as a residential conversion opportunity,
rather than as a business.

7.9

It is therefore considered that the information submitted demonstrates that the
buildings continued use as a public house is no longer economically viable and
unfit for purpose due to the state of disrepair. There is alternative provision within
Kirton and the loss of the public house, which has not traded since 2012, would
not be detrimental to the facilities of Kirton village. It is considered that the
proposal to convert the property complies with the requirements of Policy 32.
Heritage Impacts

7.10

The building is a Grade II Listed and located within Kirton Conservation Area. It is
within 100m of Grade I Listed St Peter and Pauls Church. Any proposals should
preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area and not adversely
affect the special interest of the Listed Building itself, the Conservation Area or the
setting of other heritage assets.

7.11

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 requires the local planning authority to have special regard to the
desirability of preserving Listed Buildings, their setting, and any features of special
architectural or historic interest which they possess, when determining a planning
application. Section 72 of that same Act provides a similar duty for considering
applications which affect the setting of a Conservation Area. Policy 29 of the Local
Plan and Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 bring that
duty into planning policy and support proposals where they preserve or enhance
the significance of Listed Buildings and non-designated heritage assets, and the
character of the Conservation Area.

7.12

It is proposed that the development would not alter the frontage of the building,
and would mainly be internal alterations and the removal of more modern

Page 51

extensions to the rear of the building, not visible from the street-scene. A more
detailed analysis of the impacts upon the historic fabric of the building are
contained within the Listed Building Consent application reference B/22/0157.
7.13

Comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire request a programme of building
recording to be undertaken during the conversion to record any historic fabric that
may be revealed by development works. In addition, the works propose some
demolition of modern extensions, and alterations to an outbuilding. Heritage
Lincolnshire have also requested an archaeological monitoring and recording
condition, to record any archaeological features that may be disturbed.

7.14

It is considered that the proposed conversion of the Listed Building would result in
an unused building being brought back into a viable use with no significant harm
to the special interest of the heritage asset or the setting of the Conservation
Area. A programme of building recording and an archaeological watching brief
can be secured via condition.
Ecology

7.15

The building has been vacant for some years and there is the possibility that
protected species such as bats have utilised the building.

7.16

The proposal is supported by the submission of a Protected Species Survey
Report, by Windrush Ecology. The findings of the report state that there is
currently no evidence of protected species within the site and that the conversion
is unlikely to impact upon any protected species. It is noted that the survey was
undertaken in winter and bats predominantly roost in summer. It is therefore
considered that although the risk to protected species is low, it is prudent to attach
a condition requiring works to cease should bats be found during works.
Appearance and Amenity

7.17

Policy 2 of the SELLP requires proposals to demonstrate sustainable
development considerations are met specifically in relation to character and
appearance of the area and the relationship with the existing development, land
uses and quality of design.

7.18

The site is within a mixed use area comprising village centre uses, retail and
residential uses. The proposals would not alter the appearance of the building to
the frontage and would have minimal alterations to the rear and outbuildings. It is
considered that the neighbouring uses of a convenience shop and hair salon,
(which also have residential units above) would not have a detrimental impact
upon residential amenity.

7.19

The plans propose 5no. flats in total, comprising of:
▪
▪
▪
▪

7.20

1 x 2 bed to the ground floor, with access to courtyard
2 x 1 bed to the ground floor, with access to courtyards
1 x 1 bed to the first floor
1 x 3 bed across the first and second floor

It is considered that the plans demonstrate a mix of size and number of bedrooms
within the development, with the ground floor units having access to amenity
spaces created through the removal of more recent unsympathetic extensions

Page 52

and additions. The proposals would be in keeping with the local character of the
area and would not have a detrimental impact upon neighbouring amenity, or the
amenity of future occupiers. In this regard, the proposals are considered to meet
Policy 2.
Flood Risk
7.21

The site is located within Flood Zone 3, but falls outside of any Environment
Agency breach hazard zones. The Environment Agency have provided site
specific comments on the application which is no objections and no requirement
for mitigation as under the 0.1% extreme climate change breach scenario the
property should not flood. The site is however surrounded by lower land which
modelling indicates would flood under this scenario, potentially resulting in
access/egress issues. Future occupants should therefore register with Floodline
Warnings Direct.

7.22

As the site is for a conversion, the Sequential Test is not required. The Exception
Test is required in accordance with the NPPF.

7.23

A Flood Risk Assessment has been submitted with the application which states:
▪
▪

7.24

Residents must sign up to the EA flood warnings system and test the flood
warning and evacuation plan regularly
A surface water drainage strategy should be developed to identify appropriate
measures

It is considered that although the site falls within Flood Zone 3, the site is at low
risk of flooding and the Environment Agency has confirmed this. It is proposed to
condition the recommendations of the FRA and use of flood evacuation warnings,
in accordance with Policy 4 of the SELLP.
Parking

7.25

Policy 36 requires proposals to provide vehicle and cycle parking, in accordance
with the minimum parking standards unless a high quality design can demonstrate
that a lower standard of provision is appropriate.

7.26

The Parking Standards require 2 spaces for dwellings up to 3 bedrooms. This
would result in a requirement to provide 10 parking spaces for this proposal. The
policy does allow for relaxation of the standards where it can be justified by the
character and location of the site.

7.27

The application site does not benefit from any allocated parking at present and
the proposals do not include the provision of any parking. It is proposed that
secure cycle storage would be provided within the curtilage of the site, within the
yard to the rear of the site. The site is located within the centre of Kirton, which is
classified as a main service centre and allows future residents the ability to
access services via foot and/or cycle or via hourly bus services between Boston
and Kirton.

7.28

In addition, the previous use as a public house could resume without the need for
permission and would attract vehicles without providing off-street parking. There
are also some opportunities for on-street parking within the area, including a small
lay-by in front of the building which could provide some informal parking, although

Page 53

it is accepted that this is not within the ownership or exclusive use of the Peacock.
The Local Highways Authority have not objected to the proposal and noted that
‘parking is not essential for this development’ due to its location within a main
service centre.
7.29

It is considered that although the provision of parking would be preferred, the site
is constrained physically and by its Grade II listing, making the provision of new
parking difficult to achieve. It is considered that the lack of parking can be
mitigated through the proximity of the site to local services and alternative
sustainable transport modes. It is therefore considered to be acceptable.

8.0

Summary and Conclusion

8.1

The proposal would revitalise and put to a viable use, a currently un-used heritage
asset within a main service centre that is falling into disrepair.

8.2

The conversion of the building would not be harmful to the special character of the
building, or to the character of the Conservation Area and would not have
detrimental impacts upon neighbouring amenity or the amenity of future
occupiers.

8.3

The building could operate as a public house without the need for permission,
attracting visitors and vehicles. The proposal would result in a small development
of 5no flats within a main service centre, offering access to services and
sustainable transport options. The Highway Authority have no objections to the
lack of parking.

8.4

Therefore, subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposal is in
accordance with the policies of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036) and is recommended for approval.

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Committee approve with the following conditions:

Conditions
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with
the application form and in accordance with the associated plans as follows:
▪
▪
▪
▪

2067 09 Proposed Elevations and Sections
2067 08a Proposed Elevations
2067 07 Proposed First and Second Floor Plans
2067 06 Proposed Ground Floor Plans

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 4 of the South East

Page 54

Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and with the intentions of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021).
3. Prior to the commencement of any development a Historic Building Recording
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to
be carried out by a suitably qualified person and in accordance with an agreed
written brief and specification. The results of the building recording shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to work commencing on the site.
Reason: To ensure any historic features are recorded in accordance with Policy
29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
4. Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision and
implementation of foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the location and
full details of any external new waste water goods. The works/scheme shall be
constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To address foul water provision and impacts on a heritage asset in
accordance with Policies 2 and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036).
5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) produced by RAB Consultants dated 10/09/2021
Version 0.1. All mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently remain in place.
Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding in accordance with Policy 4 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
6.

Prior to any groundworks being undertaken a scheme of Archaeological
recording shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include details of monitoring all groundworks with the
ability to stop and fully record archaeological features.
Reason: To ensure any archaeological features are recorded in accordance with
Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).

7. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the
Protected Species Survey Report produced by Windrush Ecology dated
November 2021. Should any protected species be found during the development
work shall cease immediately and details of bat protection measures shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the protection of protected species during the development,
in accordance with Policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036).

Page 55

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

PLANNING APPLICATION B/22/0157

Planning Application:
Listed Building Consent for conversion of existing buildings (sui Generis)
to 5no residential apartments (C3 dwellling houses)

Location:
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG

Applicant:
Wellington Pub Company

Agent:
Caldecotte Group

Page 57

Page 58

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Planning Committee – 26 July 2022

Reference No:

B/22/0157

Expiry Date:
Extension of Time:

08-Jun-2022
30-Jun-2022

Application Type:
Proposal:
Site:

Listed Building Consent
Listed Building Consent for Conversion of existing buildings (Sui
Generis) to 5no residential apartments (C3 dwelling houses)
The Peacock, 10 High Street, Kirton, Boston PE20 1EG

Applicant:
Agent:

Wellington Pub Company, C/O Agent
Caldecotte Group

Ward: Kirton & Frampton

Parish: Kirton Parish Council

Case Officer: Abbie Marwood

Third Party Reps: 1

Recommendation: Approve subject to Conditions

Page 59

1.0

Reason for Report

1.1

The application has been called-in to Committee by a Councillor utilising the
Scheme of Delegation mechanism for the following reasons:
▪

Concerns regarding number of units and overdevelopment of the site leading to
pressures in terms of quality of accommodation and amenity for future
residents (Policy 2/3)
Concerns regarding parking provision (Policy 36)

▪
2.0

Application Site and Proposal

2.1

The site is a Grade II Listed former public house, known as The Peacock, located
on High Street in the village of Kirton. The building is a two-story mid-terraced
property, with a coaching arch providing access to the rear and yard. The building
is currently vacant and is understood to have ceased trading as a public house
since 2012. The site is also within Kirton Conservation Area and forms the setting
of Grade I Listed St Peter and Pauls Church.

2.2

The proposal is for the conversion of the building and outbuilding from a public
house to 5no self-contained flats. It is proposed to demolish the more modern
(circa 1980s) rear extension as part of the proposals.

2.3

The proposals are for internal alterations including removal of unsympathetic
modern partition walls to return the building to its original plan form, removal of the
bar (a modern addition), installation of a new staircase and other refurbishment
works to create 5no flats. There are a small amount of new walls proposed, to
create bathrooms. The main external alterations are to the rear of the building,
with the removal of recent additions that form toilets, creation of a new access
door, and new doors to the rear where the modern extensions are removed. The
front elevation is to remain unchanged.

3.0

Relevant History

3.1

B/22/0156 – Planning application for conversion of building to 5no residential units
(under consideration)

4.0

Relevant Policy
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)
The following policies contained within the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
(2011-2036) (i.e. SELLP) are relevant to this application:
▪
▪
▪

Policy 2: Development Management
Policy 3: Design of new development
Policy 29: The Historic Environment

National Planning Policy Framework (2021)
National Planning Practice Guidance
The Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Page 60

5.0

Representations

5.1

As a result of publicity 1 representations have been received from:
43A Station Road, Kirton

5.2

The objections and comments can be summarised as follows:
▪
▪

6.0

Impact on Listed Building and Conservation Area
Lack of parking

Consultations
Historic Lincolnshire – no objections, requesting further information:
In summary I feel that the application is acceptable, but more information is
required to ensure the retained historic fabric is not damaged through the works,
and the proposals are sympathetic to the host building.
Further information received - I have no concerns other than the attachment of the
condition previously discussed.
Historic Lincolnshire Archaeology – no objections with recommendations:
‘The recommendations in relation to this proposal are for a programme of building
recording, prior to any alteration to the fabric of the structures, and a programme
of archaeological monitoring and recording to be carried out during the
groundworks phase of the development. The programme of building recording
should include provision for monitoring during the conversion to record any
historic fabric that may be revealed by development works.
Development in the area could disturb previously unknown archaeological finds
and features which could further our knowledge of the development of this
settlement. Therefore, it is recommended that the developer should be required to
commission a Scheme of Archaeological Works’

7.0

Planning Issues and Discussions
Principle of development

7.1

The proposal is for the conversion of a Grade II listed building from a public house
to 5no flats, with associated alterations and works. The site is also within Kirton
Conservation Area and within the setting of Grade I Listed St Peter and Pauls
Church.

7.2

Section 66 of the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990 requires the local planning authority to have special regard to the
desirability of preserving Listed Buildings, their setting, and any features of special
architectural or historic interest which they possess, when determining a planning
application. Section 72 of that same Act provides a similar duty for considering
applications which affect the setting of a Conservation Area.

7.3

Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and Policy 29 of the
Local Plan bring that duty into planning policy and support proposals where they

Page 61

preserve or enhance the significance of Listed Buildings and non-designated
heritage assets and the character of the Conservation Area.
7.4

Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) is consistent with
section 16 of the NPPF (2021) and requires that when considering alterations to
listed buildings, special regard must be paid to the desirability of preserving the
listed building, its setting and any features of special architectural or historical
interest which it possesses.

7.5

The material planning considerations in the determination of this application are
therefore the impact on the listed building, its setting and the Conservation Area.
Historic and Heritage Impacts

7.6

The building is a Grade II Listed and located within Kirton Conservation Area. It is
within 100m of Grade I Listed St Peter and Pauls Church. Any proposals should
preserve or enhance the character of the conservation area and not adversely
affect the special interest of the Listed Building.

7.7

The NPPF para 190 states that in determining applications, local planning
authorities should take account of heritage assets most at risk through neglect,
decay or other threat and take into account a) the desirability of sustaining and
enhancing the significance of heritage assets, and putting them to viable uses
consistent with their conservation; (b) the wider social, cultural, economic and
environmental benefits that conservation of the historic environment can bring; (c)
the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness; and (d) opportunities to draw on the contribution
made by the historic environment to the character of a place.

7.8

It is proposed that the development would not alter the frontage of the building,
and would mainly be internal alterations and the removal of more modern
extensions to the rear of the building, not visible from the street-scene.

7.9

The building has previously been used as a public house, with some modern
unsympathetic additions and alterations such as bathrooms, gas fires, a 1980’s
extension to the rear to provide a toilet block, partition walls, and insertion of the
bar areas. Over time these have altered the historic fabric, especially to the
interior of the building. This proposal would remove a number of these and return
the building to its more traditional plan form.

7.10

The proposal would include some external alterations to the rear elevations,
including four new roof lights in the south-east elevation, removal of a modern
single storey roof, and removal of partition walls to return building to original plan
form. It also includes the installation of new staircase, removal of the modern bar
area and other refurbishment works to the fireplaces and original doors to bring
the building into a state of habitation, as it is has been vacant since circa 2012. It
is proposed to install a small amount of partition walls internally to create
bathrooms, however these utilise a wall from the 1987 extension to form parts of
bathroom, reducing impact on the original historic fabric of the building.

7.11

The proposal floor plans demonstrate that all bathrooms will be located to the rear
(south-east) elevation, which provides the opportunity to reduce impacts of any
additional waste water goods by avoiding the frontage elevation.

Page 62

7.12

Historic Lincolnshire submitted comments on the proposals, noting that the
building has previously been heavily altered as a result of its use as a public
house. This scheme proposes the removal of a number of unsympathetic
alterations and Heritage Lincolnshire support the proposal. Further information
has been submitted in relation to details to the rear of the property and the joinery
details which Heritage Lincolnshire have confirmed they are content with.

7.13

Comments received from Heritage Lincolnshire request a programme of building
recording to be undertaken during the conversion to record any historic fabric that
may be revealed by development works. In addition, the works propose some
demolition of modern extensions, and alterations to an outbuilding. Heritage
Lincolnshire have also requested an archaeological monitoring and recording
condition, to record any archaeological features that may be disturbed.

7.14

Other elements that Heritage Lincolnshire have requested clarification on can be
obtained by way of conditions attached to any grant of permission to ensure the
special character of the building is retained and enhanced. It is therefore
considered the proposals are in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan.

8.0

Summary and Conclusion

8.1

It is considered that the proposed conversion of the Listed Building would result in
an unused heritage asset being brought back into a viable use with no significant
harm to the special interest of the building or the setting of the Conservation Area
in accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036), the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 and the
NPPF (2021).

9.0

Recommendation

9.1

It is recommended that Committee approve with conditions as follows:

Conditions
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. With the exception of the detailed matters referred to by the conditions of this
consent, the development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict
accordance with the application form and in accordance with the associated plans
as follows:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

2067 09 Proposed Elevations and Sections
2067 08a Proposed Elevations
2067 07 Proposed First and Second Floor Plans
2067 06 Proposed Ground Floor Plans
2067 10A Joinery Details New Doors and Fascia

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the
approved details, in accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 4 of the South East

Page 63

Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and with the intentions of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2021).
3. Prior to the commencement of any development a Historic Building Recording
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to
be carried out by a suitably qualified person and in accordance with an agreed
written brief and specification. The results of the building recording shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority prior to work commencing on the site.
Reason: To ensure any historic features are recorded in accordance with Policy
29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
4. Prior to the commencement of any development, a scheme for the provision and
implementation of foul water drainage shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the location and
full details of any external new waste water goods. The works/scheme shall be
constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To address foul water provision and impacts on a heritage asset in
accordance with Policies 2 and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 20112036.
5. Notwithstanding the details supplied, prior to any works or repairs to the internal
joinery, a schedule of the materials and schedule of works (describing fully all
repair, re-instatement & replacement works) shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The above documents shall contain
scaled drawings where necessary. The development shall thereafter be carried
out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Grade II Listed
building, in accordance with the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.
6. Notwithstanding the details supplied, prior to any works or repairs to the windows
on site, a detailed methodology of repair shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be
carried out in accordance with the approved details. The above documents shall
contain scaled drawings where necessary.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Grade II Listed
building, in accordance with the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.
7. Notwithstanding the details supplied, where removal of stud walls are proposed
the final details of making good the cornices shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to the removal of the stud walls.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Grade II Listed
building, in accordance with the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.
8.

Notwithstanding the details supplied, prior to any works or repairs to the brick
work on site, a detailed methodology of mortar removal and proposals for
replacement mortar, and methodology of repointing, shall be submitted to and

Page 64

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Grade II Listed
building, in accordance with the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.
9. Notwithstanding the details supplied, prior to any new boundary treatments being
installed, new surfacing or re-surfacing being undertaken, full details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of the Grade II Listed
building, in accordance with the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990.
10. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) produced by RAB Consultants dated 10/09/2021
Version 0.1. All mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently remain in place.
Reason: To reduce the risk and impact of flooding in accordance with Policy 4 of
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
11. Prior to any groundworks being undertaken a scheme of Archaeological
recording shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme shall include details of monitoring all groundworks with the
ability to stop and fully record archaeological features.
Reason: To ensure any archaeological features are recorded in accordance with
Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036).
12. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the
Protected Species Survey Report produced by Windrush Ecology dated
November 2021. Should any protected species be found during the development
work shall cease immediately and details of bat protection measures shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the protection of protected species during the development,
in accordance with Policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (20112036).

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

B O S T O N

BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO:

Planning Committee

DATE:

26th July 2022

SUBJECT:

Receipt of Appeal Decisions

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

Councillor Nigel Welton

REPORT AUTHOR:

Mike Gildersleeves – Assistant Director – Planning

EXEMPT REPORT?

No

SUMMARY
The purpose of this report is to advise members of the receipt of appeal decisions received
since the previous report and highlight any key decisions or themes arising.

RECOMMENDATION
The Committee are asked to note this report and the decisions attached.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION
To provide an update on Appeal performance/outcomes; and pick up any key learning
around planning policy or approach to decision making in order to ensure quality of
decisions in future.

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

It is established practice that all appeal decisions are reported to Planning Committee
as part of performance monitoring and to consider if any particular decisions raise
issues which might influence practice or future decision making.

1.2

All applicants have a right of appeal against the decision of the planning authority,
over a refusal, an approval with conditions (if the conditions are unacceptable to the
applicant) and in cases of ‘non-determination’ where the authority has not issued a
decision within the prescribed 8 or 13-week period without an agreed ‘extension of
time’. The right of appeal applies to all categories and types of applications – including
Enforcement and other Notices where there are defined categories or grounds of
appeal which an appellant has to follow.

Page 67

1.3

Decisions are published on our website, and are circulated to Members when received
as part of the weekly list.

2.0

APPEAL DECISIONS

2.1

There have been 13 Appeals since the last report to Members. Of these, 5 were
allowed and 8 dismissed. The Appeals related to a mix of application and development
types, including a major housing scheme, discharge of condition, lawful development
certificate and minor residential developments.

2.2

Of the decisions received, the following are considered the most noteworthy:

Location
Reference
Proposal
Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Appeal Date
2.3

Rear of 27, Argyle Street, Boston, PE21 8PJ
B/20/0438
Erection of a dwelling
/ Delegated
Allowed
08-Jul-2021

Summary:
This revolved around the loss of an existing parking area to provide a dwelling – the
proposal being an additional dwelling with no additional on-site parking.
The Inspector noted the sustainable nature of the location and access to shops,
services, town centre and train station. They noted there could still be an incentive for
the existing occupiers of 27 to keep a car, but noted there were opportunities to park
within the street. The inspector concluded there were reasonable places for parking
and passing and this supported the Appellants position. It was concluded that any
impact would be limited.
The Inspector noted the amenity concerns, but again found these would be limited.
Concluding, it was found the proposal would be compliant with the NPPF, and Policies
2, 3 and 36 of the Local Plan, the additional dwelling contributing to housing delivery
generally was noted as a benefit.

Location

Reference
Proposal
Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Appeal Date

Old Leake Caravan Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22
9LQ
B/21/0102
Certificate of Lawfulness (proposed use) in respect of siting of
static caravans
/ Delegated
Allowed
08-Jul-2022

Page 68

2.4

Summary:
This rested on a nuanced piece of case law, and whether or not a lawful development
certificate should have been granted.
There were significant disagreements between the Agent for the Appellant and the
Council around the various relevant Case Law and how it should be applied. The
Council were legally represented at the hearing by Counsel.
In short, the Inspector concluded that regardless of the Case Law interpretation, the
condition (7) imposed by the Inspector (my emphasis) in 2019 (B/18/0136) was the
key failing as it did not meet the necessary 6 ‘tests’, particularly in relation to its
wording and meaning, and its ability to therefore by Enforceable. On that basis, the
Inspector concluded that given the ambiguity, he had no other basis than to grant the
lawful development certificate.
The lawful development certificate granted is very precise in terms of the area it
relates to, the number of caravans (25), that they must be used by agricultural
workers, and that the other conditions attached to the previous Appeal decision
remain relevant.

A Costs claim was made by the Appellant but failed.
Location
Land East of Llewelyn House, Main Road, Wigtoft, Boston,
PE20 2NZ
Reference
B/21/0011
Proposal
Erection of 4 detached chalet bungalows
Delegated
/ Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Allowed
Appeal Date
01-Mar-2022
2.5

Summary:
Site within countryside between Sutterton and Wigtoft. Weight given to criteria D
(economic, community and environmental benefits) of policy 1 – noting the benefits
of 4x3-bed dwellings, the connections to both Sutterton & Wigtoft with their facilities,
and the economic benefits arising from construction. Concluding policy 1 and NPPF
(para 78) compliant.
Considered the site an infill development; limited erosion of existing character;
bungalows would reduce the impact further when compared to existing two-storey
forms. Compliant with policies 2&3.

On balance, scheme found to be acceptable as limited harm would be outweighed by
wider benefits.
Location
Land Adjacent to 69, Middlegate Road West, Frampton, Boston
PE20 1DA
Reference
B/21/0291
Proposal
Proposed construction of 1no. two storey residential dwelling
Delegated
/ Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Allowed
Appeal Date
12-Apr-2022

Page 69

2.6

Summary:
Significant planning history,
APP/Z2505/W/19/3240611.

including

recent

dismissal

on

Appeal

-

Inspector did not consider the size of the plot, and the resultant size of dwelling to be
harmful to the street scene. Inspector considered the changes had overcome the
previous reasons for dismissal. No conflict with policies 2 and 3.
Despite close proximities, relationships with neighbouring properties (67&69) were
acceptable.
Location
Reference
Proposal
Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Appeal Date
2.7

Land to the east of Old Main Road, Fosdyke, PE20 2BU
B/20/0130
Residential development of 23 dwellings including 6 affordable
dwellings
/ Delegated
Dismissed
09-Mar-2022

Summary:
Outside settlement boundary, failing to meet criteria of Policy 1.
Concerns regarding impact on character, not seen as a ‘logical conclusion to the
village’. Landscaping would not diminish the harm that would result.
Affordable housing given moderate weight, but noted the Councils 5YHLS.
Conflicts identified with Policies 1, 2 and 3.
Flood risk (policy 4) conflicts, particularly in relation to Sequential Test.

Location
Reference
Proposal

Delegated
Committee
Appeal Decision
Appeal Date
2.8

Jasmine Cottage, Pitcher Row Lane, Algarkirk
PENF0303/19
Appeal against an Enforcement Notice pertaining to the breach
of planning control relating to the erection of a two-storey rear
extension, the erection of a detached garage and the erection of
fence and gates.
/ Delegated
Notice Upheld
09-JUL-2021

Summary:
The proposal related to an Appeal against the notice, fundamentally due to the
Appellants desire to retain a two storey extension which had been built at the property.
The extension had been refused through a retrospective planning application.
Additional development relating to fence were also included in the notice. The
Councils main concern related to the impact on Ivy Cottage (neighbour) and also the
character and appearance of the area.

Page 70

The Inspector discussed the impact on Ivy Cottage at length and agreed with the
Councils position. In addition, the fence was concluded to adversely impact on the
character of the area.
The notice was upheld, albeit with minor variations to extend the compliance period.
3.0

COMMENTS ON DECISIONS FROM ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – PLANNING

3.1

This is the first update since June 2021, and whilst there is a balanced mix of decisions
(some Allowed) most were dismissed. There is also a mix of cases with different
application types and policy issues, including a nuanced case involving significant
Case Law.

3.2

At two of the Appeals, the Council were represented externally, B/20/0130 by an
external consultant and B/21/0102 by Counsel. In both cases this represented value
for money given the complexity of the cases. No Costs Awards were made in
connection with any of the Appeals.

3.3

In general terms, the Council has been able to demonstrate its position in respect of
all Appeals, and whilst some decisions for housing were allowed, generally the Local
Plan policy continues to perform well. For those housing schemes that were allowed,
it was notable that Inspectors afforded weight to other material considerations
including the provision of housing, general sustainability of location and economic
benefits of construction when forming their planning balance. This is not
uncharacteristic when considering wider decisions across the Partnership and the
general trend nationally.

3.4

Overall, our Appeal performance remains good and is better than national target over
the rolling 2 year period. This is a good indicator of the quality of decision taking. This
is also considered to be reflective of the current position with the adopted local plan,
which will have an effect in terms of guiding development and reducing the Councils
exposure to speculative applications.

4.0

PERFORMANCE

4.1

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) monitors
authorities in relation to the number of major and non-major applications overturned
(i.e. allowed) at appeal. The threshold is for fewer than 20% of all major applications
determined overturned at appeal over a rolling two-year period (i.e. the total number
of major decisions divided by the total number overturned). For authorities who
exceed this target, they will be classed as ‘poorly performing’ and applications for
major developments may be made by developers directly to the Planning
Inspectorate. DLUHC also monitor the threshold for quality of decisions for non-major
applications, the threshold for which is 10%. Like the major threshold, this is the total
number of non-major applications overturned at appeal compared to the total number
of non-major decisions made.

Page 71

4.2

The following tables set out the Councils position in relation to the rolling two-year
period:

2 year - Appeals performance Majors
Total number
49
of decisions
Total number
2
of Appeals
2
Dismissed
0
Allowed
0
Withdrawn
% indicator
(majors
allowed
/
0%
total number
of
decisions)

2 year - Appeals performance Non-Major
Total number
715
of decisions
Total number
23*
of Appeals
16
Dismissed
7
Allowed
0
Withdrawn
% indicator
(non-majors
allowed
/ 2.2%
total number
of decisions)

* this figure includes 3x appeals for other application types, i.e. Prior approval, Lawful
Development Certificate, Condition Discharge and 2x Enforcement Appeals which
resulted in the granting of planning permission.
4.3

Given the aforementioned performance, the Council is therefore significantly within
government’s target and not at risk of being classed as poorly performing.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
None

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
None

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS
None
CONSULTATION
None undertaken

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: -

Page 72

Document title
Appeal decision –

Where the document can be viewed

Planning References:
▪ B/20/0431
▪ B/19/0444/CD1
▪ B/20/0130
▪ B/20/0249
▪ B/21/0066
▪ B/21/0291
▪ B/20/0068
▪ B/21/0011
▪ B/21/0102
▪ B/21/0379
▪ B/20/0263
▪ B/20/0438
▪ B/20/0482

All application documents are available
via the Councils website using the
relevant details.

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 3 May 2022
by Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 13 MAY 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/22/3290799
The Farmyard, Mill Lane, Kirton End, Boston, Lincolnshire PE20 1PB
•
•
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant consent, agreement, or approval to details required by a
condition of a planning permission.
The appeal is made by Lincolnshire Game against the decision of Boston Borough
Council.
The application Ref B/19/0444/CD1, dated 16 September 2021, sought approval of
details pursuant to condition No 5 of a prior approval Ref B/19/0444, granted on 20
December 2019.
The application was refused by notice dated 10 November 2021.
The development proposed is prior approval for a proposed change of use of agricultural
building to a two-storey dwelling.
The details for which approval is sought are: Notwithstanding any details shown on the
approved plans and the requirements of condition 2 of this approval, within 3 months of
development first taking place details of the siting, height, design, materials, and finish
of all boundary treatments to be constructed on the site shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The boundary treatments shall be
constructed in accordance with the duly approved details before the dwelling hereby
approved is first occupied and shall be retained as such thereafter.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed, and details submitted in pursuance of condition No 5
attached to planning permission Ref B/19/0444 dated 20 December 2019 are
approved.
Applications for Costs
2. An application for costs was made by Lincolnshire Game against Boston
Borough Council. This application is the subject of a separate Decision.
Background and Main Issue
3. In December 2019, the Council determined that an application for the change
of use of an agricultural building to a dwellinghouse was in accordance with
Class Q of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development)
(England) Order 2015 (as amended)1. A number of conditions were attached to
the approval including condition 5 which required the submission of details of
boundary treatments.
4. The appellant submitted an application stating that no boundary treatment was
to be erected within the confines of the red line demarking the appeal site on
the approved plan of the original permission ref 19/12/1601.
1

B/19/0444 (the original permission)

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 75

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/22/3290799

5. This application was refused by the Council. The reason for refusal refers to
other boundary treatments that have been erected on site outside of the
appeal site and states that these cannot fulfil the requirements of condition 5.
6. At the time of my site visit, a part hedge and part wall had been erected
around the line marked by the blue line, trees had been planted within the
wider site and stone walls had been erected within the wider site. I understand
from the Council that two planning applications to change the use of that larger
site from agricultural use to residential use have been refused2. However,
during the course of the appeal I was advised that planning permission has
been granted for the use of the area between the red and blue lines on the
approved plan for residential purposes3.
7. In that context therefore, the main issue is whether or not the proposal to
provide no boundary treatment would appropriately satisfy condition 5 of prior
approval B/19/0444.
Reasons
8. The reason for condition 5 is to provide demarcation of curtilage for the
dwelling and to ensure use of appropriate boundary treatments which are
sympathetic to the character of the building and its surroundings in the
interests of visual amenity and to ensure a satisfactory external appearance to
the building.
9. The proposal to not place any boundary treatment on the approved curtilage in
the original permission would mean that it would not be physically demarcated
on the ground. However, given that the residential use of the surrounding area
has expanded considerably in the granting of the most recent planning
permission this is no longer a relevant consideration.
10. Given that the red line is quite tightly drawn around the dwellinghouse, the
provision of boundary treatment on that line, would be very close to doors on
the front and rear elevations. While a relatively open boundary treatment could
be installed, at such proximity to the dwelling it would appear contrived and
incongruous within the local area.
11. For the reasons above, therefore I conclude that the proposal to provide no
boundary treatment on the approved curtilage of the dwelling under the
original permission would be acceptable in this instance and appropriately
satisfy condition 5 of prior approval B/19/0444.
Conclusion
12. Therefore, for the reasons set out above, and having had regard to all other
matters raised, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Zoe Raygen
INSPECTOR

2
3

B/20/0492 & B/21/0118
B/22/0085

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 76

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/22/3290799

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 77

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 8 June 2021
by Mark Harbottle BSc MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 9th July 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/C/20/3261848
Jasmine Cottage, Pitcher Row Lane, Algarkirk, Boston PE20 2LJ
•

The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.
• The appeal is made by Mr Michael Wallace against an enforcement notice issued by
Boston Borough Council.
• The enforcement notice, numbered PENF0303/19, was issued on 29 September 2020.
• The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is, without planning permission,
the erection of a two-storey rear extension, the erection of a detached garage and the
erection of fence and gates along the front of the property and that is in excess of 1
metre high.
• The requirements of the notice are (1) Demolish the two-storey rear extension and
restore the house to its original condition before the unauthorised development took
place. Remove from the site all associated debris and materials arising from that
demolition; and (2) Demolish the fence and remove from the site all associated debris
and materials arising from that demolition.
• The periods for compliance with the requirements are (1) 6 months and (2) 28 days
from the date the notice takes effect.
• The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(a), (f) and (g) of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended (the Act). Since an appeal has been
brought on ground (a), an application for planning permission is deemed to have been
made under section 177(5) of the Act.
Summary of decision: The appeal succeeds in part on grounds (f) and (g) and
the enforcement notice is upheld as varied in the terms set out below in the
Formal Decision. Planning permission is refused on the application deemed to
have been made under section 177(5) of the Act.

The Notice
1. A detached garage and gates are included in the alleged breach of planning
control, but the notice does not require any steps to be taken in respect of
them. Varying the notice to include any such requirements would make it more
onerous and would thus cause injustice to the appellant. My decision will
therefore focus on the remaining aspects of the breach.
The appeal on ground (a)
Main issues
2. The main issues are:
• The effect of the two-storey extension on the living conditions of
neighbours in terms of outlook and sense of enclosure.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 79

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3261848

• The effect of the fence on the character and appearance of the area.
Reasons
Living conditions
3. Jasmine Cottage and Ivy Cottage form a semi-detached pair of dwellings. The
rear part of Ivy Cottage has an ‘L’ shaped plan form with a small detached
outbuilding on the common boundary. The appeal property had a single-story
rear extension that met this outbuilding, so there has been a degree of
enclosure to the immediate rear of Ivy Cottage for some time.
4. Ivy Cottage has obscure glazing in a back door and a ground floor bathroom
window, both facing the appeal property. While I have no doubt the two-storey
extension has reduced the natural light to the bathroom, it is not a habitable
room and the outlook from it is therefore of limited significance.
5. Views from a rear facing kitchen window are framed by the bathroom, the
outbuilding, and the two-storey extension. Although the kitchen is small, and
regardless of how it may be used now, it has the potential to accommodate a
small dining area. It is reasonable to take account of this, and the possibility of
habitation, when assessing the effect of the two-storey extension.
6. There is a first-floor window directly above the kitchen window. Although this
window receives more light, the two-storey extension has reduced the outlook
from it. While the appellant refers to a letter from a former occupier to suggest
this is a bathroom window, the letter does not say where the bathroom was
and, as noted, there is a ground floor bathroom.
7. The two-storey rear extension projects significantly further than the singlestorey extension did and reaches the rear boundary. As a result, it intrudes in
the outlook from rear facing windows in Ivy Cottage, is overbearing, and
increases the sense of enclosure.
8. The appeal site previously contained mature trees that affected the outlook
from Ivy Cottage. However, as those trees have been felled, an accurate
comparison with the current situation is not possible. Even so, there would
have been a degree of outlook through and beneath the branches and, as the
trees were deciduous by all accounts, there would have been seasonal
variations. Furthermore, photographic evidence shows that the largest tree, a
weeping willow, was significantly further away from Ivy Cottage than the twostorey extension. This would have reduced its effect in terms of outlook and
sense of enclosure.
9. Consequently, the two-storey extension impacts upon a neighbouring land use
by reason of visual intrusion and it has not been demonstrated that an
appropriate level of residential amenity has been secured.
Character and appearance
10. Roadside dwellings in the area are interspersed with agricultural land and tend
to have open road frontages or low hedges. While some modern dwellings have
high hedge boundaries, these are set back from the road, which helps to
maintain a degree of openness.
11. The sense of openness and the predominance of hedge boundaries are
important components of the rural character of the area. In contrast, the fence
2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 80

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3261848

forms a hard boundary with an urbanising effect. It has not been demonstrated
that it would contribute to the landscape character of the location.
Conclusion on ground (a)
12. For the reasons given, the two-storey extension has an adverse effect on living
conditions for occupiers of Ivy Cottage and is contrary to policies 2 and 3 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-36. For the separate reasons given,
the design of the fence is inappropriate to the local area and is also contrary to
policy 3.
13. Accordingly, the two-storey rear extension and fence are unacceptable and the
appeal on ground (a) must fail.
The appeal on ground (f)
14. For the appeal to succeed on this ground, the appellant must demonstrate that
the steps required to comply with the notice are excessive and that lesser steps
could overcome the alleged breach of planning control. The breach of planning
control to which the notice’s requirements apply is the erection of a two-storey
rear extension and a fence along the front of the property exceeding 1 metre in
height. The purpose of the notice is to remedy the breach.
15. The appellant has indicated that, if the notice is upheld, he will erect a
replacement extension and a new fence, both within the parameters permitted
by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015 (as amended) (the Order). It is therefore submitted that a fallback
exists, and the notice should be varied to require the extension to be reduced
in size and the fence to be reduced in height, such that they are permitted by
the Order.
16. While this variation is suggested in good faith, it presents 2 practical difficulties
in respect of the two-storey extension. The first is that reducing the extension
would not remedy the breach of planning control if a 2-storey rear extension,
as described in the notice, would still exist. Secondly, the changes that would
need to be made for the extension to correspond to what the Order would have
permitted have not been identified, neither has it been demonstrated that such
changes are structurally feasible. Consequently, and in view of the nature and
extent of work that might be required, the variation that would follow from the
appellant’s argument would make the notice imprecise. This is unacceptable
because it would not be certain how to achieve compliance.
17. In contrast, there can be certainty about the suggested reduction in the height
of the fence. Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the Order provides, subject to
limitation A.1(a)(ii), that a replacement fence not exceeding 1 metre in height
adjacent to Pitcher Row Lane would be permitted development. If the notice
were varied to require a similar result, it would be sufficiently clear for the
appellant to know how to comply.
18. Consequently, requirement (b) is excessive and the appeal on ground (f)
succeeds to the extent that the notice should be varied to allow the option of
reducing the height of the existing fence such that it does not exceed 1 metre.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 81

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3261848

The appeal on ground (g)
19. It is not disputed that the two-storey extension could be demolished within the
6-month period stated in the notice. However, it contains a kitchen and
bedroom and demolition would therefore disrupt the appellant’s household. The
suggested alternative of 9 months would provide greater flexibility and may
reduce the likelihood of disruption during school term times.
20. In addition to his stated intention of building a permitted development rear
extension, the appellant may apply for planning permission for an alternative
scheme. The 6-month period stated in the notice should be sufficient for an
application to be submitted and determined and the Council has confirmed that
a revised timescale could be agreed if appropriate, as allowed by section
173A(1)(b) of the Act.
21. However, both courses would involve the construction of a replacement
extension. The time required for this should be considered, if only to make it
more likely that demolition and construction could be undertaken as a single
project, thus minimising disruption to the appellant’s family.
22. The appeal on ground (g) therefore succeeds and the notice should be varied
accordingly.
Conclusions
23. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal on ground (a) should
not succeed and the appeals on grounds (f) and (g) should succeed. I shall
uphold the enforcement notice with variations and refuse to grant planning
permission on the application deemed to have been made under section 177(5)
of the Act.
Formal Decision
24. The appeal succeeds on grounds (f) and (g) and it is directed that the
enforcement notice be varied in section 5 b) by:
•

The insertion of the words “or reduce the fence to not exceed 1 metre in
height” after the words “Demolish the fence”; and

•

The insertion of the words “or reduction in height” after the words “that
demolition”.

25. It is further directed that the notice be varied in section 6 by the deletion of the
words “six months” and the substitution of the words “9 months”.
26. Subject to these variations the appeal is dismissed, the enforcement notice is
upheld and planning permission is refused on the application deemed to have
been made under section 177(5) of the Act.

Mark Harbottle
INSPECTOR

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 82

0

Appeal Decision
Hearing held on 9 February 2022
Site visit made on 9 February 2022
by Graham Wyatt BA (Hons) MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 9th March 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641
Land to the east of Old Main Road, Fosdyke, Lincolnshire PE20 2BU
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr Simon Naylor against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/20/0130, dated 3 April 2020, was refused by notice dated
24 November 2020.
The development proposed is described as a “residential development of 23 dwellings,
including 6 affordable dwellings on land to the east of Old Main Road, Fosdyke (resubmission of B/19/0237)”.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. The address for the appeal site in the banner above is taken from the Council’s
decision notice.
3. At the hearing I was presented with a planning obligation (the planning
obligation) pursuant to s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, to
secure elements of the development as affordable housing, and financial
contributions towards off-site open space, education, on-site open space and
its maintenance. I was also provided with a copy of the Landscape Character
Assessment of Boston Borough, July 2009 (LCA).
Main Issues
4. The main issues in this appeal are:
•

whether the location of the development is acceptable having regard to the
development plan and its impact on the character and appearance of the
area,

•

the effect of the development on flood risk, and

•

whether the development would secure appropriate contributions towards
infrastructure provision.

Reasons
Location/Character and Appearance
5. Fosdyke is identified as an “other service centre” under Policy 1: C.1. of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2019 (the LP). Development within the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 83

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

settlement boundary of other service centres will be permitted where it
supports their role as a service centre, helps sustain existing facilities or helps
meet the service needs of other local communities. However, it expects such
developments to be limited to committed sites and infill.
6. The appeal site lies adjacent to, but beyond Fosdyke’s identified settlement
boundary and as such, is located within the countryside where development is
restricted and limited to that which requires such a location, or where it can be
demonstrated that it would meet the sustainable development needs of the
area. Thus, as the development lies beyond the settlement boundary of
Fosdyke, it would fail to meet the expectations of Policy 1 C. of the LP, with
regard to areas of restraint and other service centres.
7. The appeal site itself forms part of a larger field that is actively used for
agriculture. An ‘L’ shaped belt of tall conifers lie on the western side of the site,
adjacent to the A17 and extending east into the site and then south, shielding
an existing property at Lloyds Farm. The appeal site forms part of the open and
rural landscape and is quite wide at its southerly point, stretching from the belt
of conifers and the A17 to the west to a bowling green to the east.
8. The LCA places the appeal site within the Frampton to Fosdyke Settled Fen,
with the area being generally flat with views across the landscape interrupted
by existing blocks of development that are scattered across the area. This
includes the existing built development within Fosdyke, with properties on
Snaith Avenue dominating the landscape and clearly visible when looking north
from the A17.
9. Therefore, even taking into account the proposed landscaping and the degree
of containment that currently exists at the site, most notably the belt of tall
conifers, the development would be within an area that is identified within the
LCA as having a moderate to high landscape character sensitivity. I accept that
the LCA states that the location of development should be concentrated around
existing settlements to prevent the loss of the rural landscape. However, it also
states that developments should fit in with the areas distinctive character and
it recognises that forces for change include the expansion of villages. Thus, the
introduction of dwellings at this point would ultimately extend the village into
the surrounding countryside and into an area of sensitivity.
10. Furthermore, I am not persuaded that the built extent of the village extends to
the bowling green or that the development would be seen as a logical
conclusion to the village. The bowling green is an open area of land that
contains low level buildings that are largely indiscernible in the landscape and
read as part of the rural buffer that surrounds the village. Policy 1 of the LP
also recognises1 that recreation and tourism development within the
countryside can also meet the broad sustainable objectives of the LP.
11. It is evident that, notwithstanding the presence of existing landscaping in the
vicinity, the residential development at Snaith Avenue is clearly visible and
dominates the landscape when looking across the site from the A17. In my
view, this marks the end of Fosdyke’s built extent and although I acknowledge
that the proposal is low density and incudes a belt of landscaping, the
construction of two storey dwellings across the width and depth of the site

1

Paragraph 3.2.15 of the LP

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 84

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

would extend the built area of the village into agricultural land which has a
moderate to high landscape sensitivity.
12. The development would suburbanise the appeal site through the introduction of
dwellings, along with hard surfaced areas, access roads, and other suburban
features such as formal parking and gardens. It would be seen as an extension
of the village into the surrounding open land, failing to relate with the largely
linear form of development that prevails in Fosdyke. It would also erode the
open qualities and contribution that the appeal site makes towards the rural
setting of the village at this point. I am not persuaded that this harm could be
sufficiently tempered through the introduction of additional landscaping across
the southern part of the site, which, in any event, just seeks to shield
inappropriate development from views. It is not good design as it only seeks to
limit the immediate effect of the development.
13. I also acknowledge that the appellant advances several benefits in support of
the development, such as employing local trades during and post construction,
and the maintenance of the site. It is also argued that occupiers of the
dwellings are also likely to use local facilities and public transport options to
travel to Boston. The development would also secure six affordable dwellings,
in line with the expectations of the LP, and environmental benefits would also
ensue. Thus, the appellant argues that there are demonstrable economic,
community and environmental benefits associated with the development and as
a result, it would accord with Policy 1. D of the LP.
14. Although there are limited facilities within Fosdyke to serve the day to day
needs of future occupiers, I accept that there are opportunities to access public
transport to Boston. However, notwithstanding the appellant’s assertions, there
is nothing substantive before me to demonstrate that the economic,
community or environmental needs of the area is not currently being met, that
a local firm would indeed develop the site or that it would be developed out
quickly.
15. Moreover, although the development would secure six affordable dwellings, to
which I would attach moderate weight given the limited number of units
secured, open market dwellings is not a development type that specifically
requires a countryside location. This is particularly relevant given that the
Council can currently demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing
sites, and its development plan contains a spatial strategy that sets out how
housing needs will be delivered through development within defined
settlements. Furthermore, I have also identified harm to the character and
appearance of the area which, in my view, is serious and clearly outweighs the
modest economic and social benefits of the development.
16. Thus, the proposal would result in harm to the character and appearance of the
area and conflict with the settlement strategy as set out within Policy 1 of the
LP. It would be in conflict with Policies 1, 2 and 3 of the LP which seek,
amongst other things, to ensure that developments maximise the opportunity
to improve the quality and character of an area, and meets the demonstrable
sustainable needs of an area.
Flood Risk
17. The appeal site lies within flood zone 3 as identified on the Environment
Agency’s Flood Zone Maps, which the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) defines
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 85

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

as having a high probability of flooding. The National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework) sets strict tests to protect people and property
from flooding. Where these tests are not met, national policy is clear that new
development should not be allowed.
18. Paragraph 159 of the Framework states that inappropriate development in
areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Paragraph 162 states that
the aim of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the
lowest risk of flooding from any source, and that development should not be
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas with a lower risk of flooding and thus, these areas would
be sequentially preferable.
19. Paragraph 163 of the Framework sets out that only if it is not possible for
development to be located in areas with a lower risk of flooding, taking into
account wider sustainable development objectives, the exception test may
have to be applied. Therefore, the exception test is the second stage of
assessment and would only be applied if the sequential test is satisfied.
Paragraph 167 requires that, where appropriate, applications should be
supported by a site-specific flood risk assessment and development should only
be supported where in light of that assessment, as well as the sequential and
exception tests, the proposal would meet a number of criteria.
20. Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk, of the LP echoes the Framework and supports
development where it can be demonstrated that there are no other sites
available at a lower risk of flooding. Moreover, it requires a sequential test (ST)
to be based upon a district or borough wide search of alternative sites, unless it
can be demonstrated that there is a specific need for the development in that
location or, in the case of more vulnerable development in flood zone 3, the
wider sustainability benefits to the community outweigh the flood risk.
21. The appeal scheme is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment2 (FRA) which
incorporates an ST and states that as the whole area around the appeal is
within flood zone 3, it would be difficult to find a similar site for the
development within Fosdyke that is in a lower flood risk zone. In addition, the
FRA argues that most of the urban areas within the Borough have already been
allocated and there are a limited number of sites available for residential
development. Consequently, as there is a requirement for further sites to be
brought forward, and taking account of the table at appendix B of the FRA, it is
considered that the sequential test is passed.
22. At the Hearing it was confirmed that the appeal site has a predicted flood depth
of between 500mm and 1000mm. The table at appendix B of the appellant’s
FRA identifies allocated sites within Boston Borough Council’s administrative
area and it is evident that there are a number of sites that are at a lower risk
of flooding. Although the appellant’s flood risk expert confirmed at the hearing
that this was indeed the case, it was nonetheless argued that the Council had
granted planning permission for residential developments in areas that were in
a greater risk of flooding.
23. Whilst I accept that may be the case, I am not aware of the flood alleviation
measures that have been provided for each site that has a greater risk of
2

Flood Risk Assessment, Revision A, 27 March 2020.

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 86

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

flooding. Moreover, it was confirmed at the hearing that these sites have been
through the local plan process and have been identified as suitable for
residential development. Additionally, Policy 4 of the LP states that a ST would
not be required for sites allocated in the local plan and it is evident that the
appeal site has not been through this process.
24. Furthermore, the appellant has not provided a cogent reason why these sites
have been discounted, other than they are not within Fosdyke and that there
are sites in the borough that are at a greater risk of flooding. I do not find this
to be a persuasive reason as there are clearly sites that have a lower risk of
flooding.
25. Furthermore, the Framework is clear that an ST should seek to identify sites
that are reasonably available at lower risk from flooding. Whilst the PPG
advises that it should be a pragmatic approach, any ST must respond to the
specific issues of the district and its development needs and not the
developers’ private interests, be it in ownership of the land or an ambition to
deliver a precise number of dwellings. Moreover, flood risk should not be offset
against housing need without very careful assessment of the risks and benefits.
26. Additionally, in accordance with Policy 4 of the LP, the appellant has not
provided details of other sites within the borough that may also be suitable for
the development and are at a lower risk of flooding. This may include the
possibility of building out part of a larger site, or combining two or more
smaller sites, including windfall sites, that have not been identified through the
local plan process. Similarly, land that is allocated or has permission, but is not
being brought forward could also be considered as a sequentially preferable
option.
27. Likewise, I have not be provided with any compelling evidence to demonstrate
that there would be wider sustainability benefits to the community that would
outweigh the flood risk. As such, even allowing for a pragmatic approach, there
has been no analysis of alternative sites beyond that the appeal site may be at
a lower risk of flooding than some other sites in the borough. Therefore, it
follows that the proposal fails the ST and as a consequence it is not necessary
for me to consider whether the exception test is met for the purposes of
making my decision.
28. Thus, the site would not be in an appropriate location for the development with
regards to flood risk. It would be in conflict with the requirements of Policy 4 of
the LP and paragraph 162 of the Framework, the specific requirements of which
are specified above.
Infrastructure Contributions
29. The appellant has provided a completed planning obligation to secure financial
contributions towards off-site open space, education, on-site open space and
its maintenance, and to secure an appropriate level of affordable housing in
accordance with Policies 1 and 6 of the LP. Given the policy requirements and
the infrastructure needs arising from the development, I am satisfied that all of
the above obligations are necessary, directly related to the development, and
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. Thus, they
would accord with paragraph 57 of the Framework and Regulation 122 of the
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 87

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

30. However, as the contributions for infrastructure provision secured through the
undertaking would only be necessary to make the development acceptable in
planning terms, this aspect is a neutral factor in the case rather than a benefit.
Other Matters
31. I acknowledge that the design of the dwellings is acceptable and that suitable
materials would be employed. I also recognise that part of the field has
permission for a development of five dwellings. However, the permitted
development at the site would fill a gap between existing dwellings on Old Main
Road and the property at Lloyds Farm. Therefore, it would have an appreciably
less harmful effect upon the rural character of the area, than developing
further southwards and extending the village into the adjoining field. Thus, I do
not consider that this extant permission represents an irresistible precedent to
find in favour of the development before me.
32. Moreover, having regard to the development at Puttock Gate3, the Inspector
found that the proposal would largely follow the existing pattern of ribbon
development close to the site and would relate well to the settlement in
general. That is not the case before me. In any event, I have considered this
appeal on its own merits which is a fundamental principle that underpins the
planning system.
Conclusion
33. Thus, I conclude that there are no material considerations of such weight as to
indicate that a decision be taken other than in accordance with the
development plan. Therefore, the appeal is dismissed.

Graham Wyatt
INSPECTOR

3

APP/Z2505/W/19/3222165

6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 88

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3273641

APPEARANCES
FOR THE APPELLANT
James Tipping MRTPI – Parker Planning Services
Kris Baxter – Studio 11 Architecture
Stuart Hemmings
FOR THE COUNCIL
Mark Simmonds – Boston Borough Council
DOCUMENTS
Planning Obligation dated 9 February 2022
Landscape Character Assessment of Boston Borough, July 2009

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7

Page 89

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site Visit made on 24 August 2021
by Sarah Housden BA (Hons) BPl MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 11th October 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3271583
Fairview, 22 Horace Street, Boston PE21 8PD
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr Ian Bunday against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/20/0249, dated 10 July 2020, was refused by notice dated 23
December 2020.
The development proposed is ‘demolition of a two storey detached outbuilding and a
single storey detached double garage and the erection of two mews houses’.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was
published on 20 July 2021. Paragraph 218 indicates that its policies are
material considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with
applications from the day of publication. The principal parties were therefore
invited to comment on any implications of the revised Framework for this
appeal. I have determined the appeal having regard to the comments received
from the appellant and the revised Framework.
3. Planning permission was granted in 2019 for the subdivision of No 22 Horace
Street to three dwellings, subject to five conditions (the 2019 permission)1 .
The appellant indicates that the appeal proposal is part of a wider scheme,
which would include the subdivision of No 22.
4. The ‘red line’ plan for this appeal partly overlaps with the red line plan for the
2019 permission and includes parking and other provisions for the three units
in the event of that permission being implemented. It would have been
necessary for the conditions attached to the 2019 permission to be re-visited
had this appeal been allowed, but there is nothing in the evidence to suggest
that this would not be achievable. The 2019 permission is therefore a material
consideration to which I give significant weight in the determination of this
appeal and I have considered it in so far as it is relevant to my assessment of
the main issue in this case.
Main Issue
5. The main issue in this case is the effect of the proposed development on living
conditions, having particular regard to:
1

Reference B/19/0131

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 91

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3271583

•

the existing and future occupiers of No 22 Horace Street (No 22) with
particular reference to noise and disturbance and privacy;

•

the existing occupiers of Nos 1 – 4 The Laurels (Nos 1 – 4) with
particular reference to outlook, noise and disturbance and privacy;

•

whether the development would provide satisfactory living conditions for
future occupiers of the proposed two dwellings, with particular reference
to noise and disturbance and privacy.

Reasons
No 22
6. No 22 is an end of terrace dwelling located at the head of a residential cul-desac to the north-west of Boston town centre. To the north and east of the
appeal site there are retail and commercial units accessed off Lister Way,
including a tyre depot and tool retailer and its car park adjacent to the appeal
site.
7. The appeal site comprises the side driveway and outdoor area to the rear and
side of No 22 and contains a two storey detached annexe building and a
detached corrugated metal garage. At the time of my site visit, the area also
contained outdoor furniture, leisure items, a mobile caravan and a parking
area.
8. The fenestration and door openings in the side wall of No 22 indicate that its
principal elevation originally faced onto its side driveway rather than onto
Horace Street. The ground floor door and window openings in this elevation,
behind the driveway gate, are enclosed by a glazed lean-to extension. At the
time of my site visit, the internal door openings were opened onto the lean-to
extension.
9. Notwithstanding the urban location and commercial uses to the north and east,
due to the lack of through traffic on Horace Street, levels of background noise
at the time of my site visit were low. Due to the siting of the two proposed
mews houses, the passage of vehicles and pedestrians from these dwellings
would generate noise and disturbance in very close proximity to No 22’s side
lean-to which would harm the enjoyment of the dwelling and the living
conditions that its occupiers could reasonably expect to enjoy.
10. Due to the position of the lean-to extension hard on the driveway, any passing
pedestrians and drivers from the two new dwellings would also have direct
views into No 22’s side lean-to which is used in conjunction with the dwelling,
resulting in a significant loss of privacy.
11. There would also be direct views from the front ground and first floor windows
in the new dwellings into No 22’s outdoor area which would also serve the
three units if the 2019 permission is implemented. A condition could be
imposed to require details of screening along the common boundary which
would prevent overlooking from the ground floor windows in the new dwellings
into the outdoor area. However, given the small separation distance, there
would still be overlooking from the first floor bedroom windows. Furthermore,
due to the proximity of any fence or screen, the outlook from the ground floor
windows in the new dwellings would be restricted and oppressive.

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 92

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3271583

12. In the event that the 2019 permission is implemented, there would be a
separation distance of 1.6 metres to 2.4 metres between the front elevations of
three units in No 22 and the driveway. The occupiers of the two proposed
dwellings would generate additional pedestrian and vehicular movements which
would be noticeable over and above the level associated with the use of the
driveway by the occupiers of the three units. The additional vehicular and
pedestrian movements would be in very close proximity to the windows serving
the ground floor living areas, resulting in noise and disturbance which would be
likely to be harmful to the living conditions that the future occupiers of the
three units could reasonably expect.
13. Although the appellant considers that this would be similar to the layout of
Horace Street, where vehicles and pedestrians pass in close proximity to the
front of the dwellings, the majority of dwellings on Horace Street also have a
rear aspect with access to quieter areas away from the road. If the 2019
permission is implemented, units 2 and 3 would have a single aspect onto the
driveway and unit 1 would face the driveway and Horace Street. Due to their
single room depth, the units as permitted would not have a quieter aspect
away from the driveway and the appeal scheme would result in noise and
disturbance that would be harmful to the living conditions of the occupiers.
14. Furthermore, due to the proximity of the driveway, drivers and pedestrians
associated with the two new dwellings would have direct views into the ground
floor windows of the three units which would not afford adequate levels of
privacy, particularly as there would be no rear aspect away from the driveway.
15. Overall, I conclude that the appeal scheme would be harmful to the living
conditions of the existing and future occupiers of No 22, having regard to noise
and disturbance and privacy.
Nos 1 - 4
16. Nos 1 – 4 are in a terraced row accessed off Albert Street. The common
boundary with the appeal site consists of a 1.8 metre high fence and
vegetation on the appeal site side. The two car parking spaces proposed for the
appeal dwellings would be located adjacent to the rear boundaries of Nos 3 and
4 The Laurels. The proposed site layout also includes three parking spaces in
the position of the existing annexe which would serve the three dwellings in No
22 in the event of the 2019 permission being implemented.
17. No 22’s driveway and vehicle parking and turning movements within its
outdoor area will already generate some degree of noise and disturbance to the
occupiers of Nos 1 - 4. The boundary fence would remain in situ and there
would be a reasonable separation distance between the proposed five parking
spaces and Nos 1 - 4. Given this, the additional noise and disturbance
generated by vehicles using the parking spaces would be unlikely to cause
material harm to the living conditions of the occupiers of Nos 1 – 4 over and
above the existing situation.
18. The finished floor levels of the proposed dwellings would be approximately 1
metre above ground level to address flood risk, resulting in a ridge height of
8.5 metres. However, there would be adequate separation distance between
Nos 2, 3 and 4 The Laurels and the side wall of the nearest dwelling so that it
would not appear unduly overbearing or oppressive when viewed from the rear
windows and gardens of these neighbouring dwellings.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 93

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3271583

19. The raised floor level would enable occupiers of the new dwellings to see over
the boundary fence when at the top of the rear steps. However, such views
would be transitory and would not cause a significant loss of privacy for the
occupiers of Nos 1 – 4. Furthermore, the removal of the two storey annexe
building would also result in an improvement to the outlook from the rear
garden of No 4 and increased privacy due to the removal of the annexe and its
existing first floor gable window. In addition, it would be likely to increase
levels of daylight and sunlight to the rear garden of No 4. Overall, I conclude
that the proposed development would not cause material harm to the living
conditions of the occupiers of Nos 1 – 4.
Future occupiers of the proposed dwellings
20. There would be a separation distance of approximately 1.3 metres between the
front of the proposed two dwellings and No 22’s existing outdoor area. In the
event that the 2019 permission is implemented, the outdoor area would serve
the three dwellings in No 22. Irrespective of whether the outdoor area serves
No 22 as a single dwelling or, in the future, three units, the ground and first
floor windows of the new dwellings would be in very close proximity to it with
the potential for noise from residents using the outdoor area to adversely affect
the enjoyment of the new dwellings.
21. Given the close proximity of the outdoor area to the ground floor kitchen/living
area windows in the new dwellings, there would also be potential for residents
using the outdoor area to have close views into those windows. As such, the
proposed layout would not provide future occupiers with reasonable levels of
privacy within their homes. I have considered that a condition could be
imposed to require details of screening along that boundary to prevent views
into the ground floor windows, but due to the proximity of any fence or screen,
the outlook from those windows would be restricted and oppressive.
22. The provision of outdoor space would be of benefit to the occupiers of No 22 or
the three units. However, due to its layout and the position of the two new
dwellings in relation to that area, the appeal scheme would fail to provide
satisfactory living conditions for the occupiers of the new dwellings.
Conclusion on living conditions
23. Drawing matters together, I conclude that whilst the proposed development
would not have a significant adverse effect on the living conditions of the
occupiers of Nos 1 – 4, there would be material harm to the living conditions of
No 22’s existing and future occupiers. The scheme would also fail to provide
satisfactory living conditions for future occupiers of the proposed dwellings.
24. For these reasons, the proposal would be contrary to Policies 2 and 3 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019) (SELP) which, amongst other things,
seek to ensure that proposals do not harm neighbouring land uses by reason of
noise and disturbance and seek to safeguard residential amenity. Whilst the
Council has referred to Policy 30 in the reasons for refusal, this policy deals
with pollution rather than impact on living conditions and is not directly
relevant to my assessment of the proposed development.
Other matters

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 94

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3271583

25. The officer report refers to an appeal decision which I determined at Sibsey
Road, Boston2 as a benchmark for the assessment of the impact of noise and
disturbance on existing occupiers. However, each case must be determined on
its merits and I have assessed the appeal before me in accordance with the
development plan and based on the specific circumstances of the appeal site,
the proposed layout and the representations made.
Planning balance and conclusion
26. The proposed development would support the role of Boston as a sub-regional
centre, in accordance with SELP Policy 1. It would also make efficient use of a
small site and contribute to the supply of two-bedroom units for which there is
an identified need. The dwellings would be in a sustainable location, within
walking and cycling distance of services and facilities.
27. However, for the reasons outlined above there would be material harm to the
living conditions of existing and future occupiers of No 22 and the development
would fail to provide a satisfactory living environment for the occupiers of the
proposed dwellings, leading to conflict with the development plan, read as a
whole. There are no material considerations to justify a decision other than one
in accordance with the development plan.
28. For the reasons outlined above and having had regard to all other matters
raised, the appeal should be dismissed.

Sarah Housden
INSPECTOR

2

Appeal reference APP/Z2505/W/20/3257037

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site Visit made on 16 August 2021
by E Brownless BA (Hons) Solicitor (non-practising)
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: Tuesday, 07 September 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3272263
Treetops Lodge, White House Lane, Fishtoft, Boston, PE21 0BE
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs Adams against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/20/0263, dated 20 July 2020, was refused by notice dated
1 October 2020.
The development proposed is a dwelling.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. A revised National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was published
on the 20 July 2021 and the parties have been provided an opportunity to
comment on the implications of this for their case.
Main Issue
3. The main issue is the effect of the proposed development on the character and
appearance of the surrounding area.
Reasons
4. The appeal site includes an area of garden land and driveway to the side of
Treetops Lodge, a single storey dwelling. Dwellings along White House Lane are
varied in type and style although they generally occupy generous plots and are
set back from the edge of the highway. Reasonably generous areas of front
garden with extensive planting and frequent hedgerows provide uniformity and
a verdant and pleasant sense of space and openness along White House Lane.
The appeal site is currently laid to grass and bordered to three sides by tall
hedgerow. Despite its enclosure and it being largely obscured from public view,
the absence of built form above the existing hedgerow ensures that the appeal
site makes a positive contribution to the open and spacious character of the
surrounding area.
5. The proposal would introduce a sizeable two storey dwelling with a relatively
small area of garden to its front which would differ from other dwellings along
White House Lane that are typically set back within their plots. Moreover, its
proximity to the highway is untypical of the surrounding area such that it would
harmfully erode the distinctive spacious and open character of the area. The
inclusion of a porch with steps would add to the overall prominence of the
proposed dwelling. Whilst hardstanding areas for the parking of vehicles to the
front and side of dwellings is commonplace along White House Lane, taking
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 97

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3272263

everything into consideration and noting the constrained area of front garden
combined with space for parking and turning of vehicles and its proximity to
the highway, the proposed dwelling would appear cramped and visually jarring.
6. Despite front boundary treatments being varied along White House Lane, close
boarded fencing is not a commonly used material. The inclusion of a substantial
length of solid close boarded fence running along the back edge of the highway
would not be sensitive to the wider area and it would fail to complement the
existing streetscene and its verdant character.
7. Overall, the proposed development would not relate well to the existing
dwellings in the vicinity. The proposed development would be readily visible in
public views from the highway and from neighbouring dwellings from where the
appeal scheme would appear as a dominant, incongruous and discordant
addition to the locality. The retention of existing hedgerow along the side and
rear boundary of the site and the proposed additional planting would have little
effect in screening nor softening the impact of the proposal.
8. Reference is made to the proposed development being broadly aligned with the
front elevation of Treetops Lodge and being positioned at a similar distance
from the edge of the highway. However, in my view, Treetops Lodge is an
anomaly to the prevailing pattern of development. Its effect is mitigated by its
single storey height and its position behind a substantial hedgerow boundary
which makes a significant positive contribution to the verdant spaciousness of
the streetscene. My attention has also been drawn to Nos 89 and 91 White
House Lane, however these dwellings are set further back within their plots
behind verdant hedgerow and broadly follow a common buildline along the
opposite side of the highway. To my mind, Nos 89 and 91 are comparable to
other dwellings within the vicinity and they make a positive contribution to the
character and appearance of the area.
9. Although large scale buildings of Beech House, Maple Lodge and St John’s
Nursing Home add to the variety of built form in the vicinity, they nonetheless
retain a significant degree of separation and set-back from the highway and
considerable vegetation along their boundaries complements the pleasant and
spacious character and appearance of the area.
10. The appeal proposal has sought to overcome the Council’s reasons for refusal
of a previous application and includes, among other things, a more compact
design to allow for greater space around the building. Whilst I have taken these
matters into account, the appeal scheme fails for the reasons given above.
11. Accordingly, I conclude that the proposed development would harm rather than
respect or enhance the character and appearance of the surrounding area. It
would fail to accord with the provisions of Policies 2 and 3 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2019)(LP) insofar as it requires new development to
achieve a high quality of design that responds creatively to the character and
distinctiveness of the surrounding area. In addition, it would also fail to accord
with the aims of the National Planning Policy Framework which seeks to achieve
well-designed places.
Other Matters
12. The proposed development would provide an additional dwelling and its future
occupants would contribute towards local services and facilities. However, one

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 98

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3272263

dwelling would have a negligible impact on boosting housing supply. Whilst the
appellant claims that the Council may be unable to demonstrate a five-year
supply of housing land, no clear reasons are given nor any substantive
evidence to corroborate this view.
13. The appeal site is well located to provide access to a range of services and
facilities by sustainable means. The appeal scheme would utilise under-used
land and be capable of being delivered quickly. However, any such benefits
would be limited given the scale of the proposed development and they do not
outweigh the harm I have described above.
14. The Council are satisfied that the proposal would maintain sufficient private
outdoor amenity space for the occupants of Treetops Lodge and the new
dwelling. On the basis of the evidence before me, I see no reason to disagree
with that view. The proposed development would provide sufficient internal
space for future occupants, adequate daylight to habitable rooms and
satisfactory space for turning and parking of motor vehicles. Issues of flood risk
would be capable of being satisfactorily dealt with by an appropriate planning
condition. However, the absence of harm is a neutral matter that weighs
neither for nor against a proposal.
15. My attention has been drawn to a nearby housing development. However,
there is little information before me relating to the particular circumstances of
this development and whether the circumstances are therefore comparable to
the appeal proposal. As such, a comparison is of limited relevance in this
instance, and I have considered the appeal before me on its individual planning
merits.
16. The appellant suggests that the existing hedgerow could be removed at any
time and there is no restriction to prevent the erection of the proposed closeboarded fencing. Nevertheless, I observed the hedgerow to be in existence at
the time of my site visit and there is limited evidence before me that this would
be removed unless the appeal scheme were to go ahead as it presently
provides screening to an area of private amenity space. Even so, if I were
minded to accept that a valid fall-back position exists for the hedgerow and
fencing, this does not overcome the other matters which have led to this
appeal being dismissed.
17. Reference is made to ‘neighbour and local councillor pressure’, however, this is
not a matter for me to determine as part of this appeal and in any event, I
have determined the appeal before me on its individual planning merits.
Conclusion
18. The proposal would conflict with policies of the development plan and there are
no material considerations that justify a decision otherwise than in accordance
with it. For the reasons given above, the appeal is dismissed.

E Brownless
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 8 June 2021
by Mark Harbottle BSc MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 9th July 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/C/20/3262904
Land at Oak Farm, Cut End Road, Fishtoft, Boston PE21 0SN
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991.
The appeal is made by Mr John Oakton against an enforcement notice issued by Boston
Borough Council.
The enforcement notice, numbered PENF0343/19, was issued on 16 October 2020.
The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is, without planning permission,
the material change of use of the land involving occupation of a static caravan for
residential purposes.
The requirement of the notice is to cease the use of the static caravan for residential
occupation.
The period for compliance with the requirement is 3 months from the date the notice
takes effect.
The appeal is proceeding on the ground set out in section 174(2)(a) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended (the Act). Since an appeal has been brought on
ground (a), an application for planning permission is deemed to have been made under
section 177(5) of the Act.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed and the enforcement notice is upheld. Planning
permission is refused on the application deemed to have been made under
section 177(5) of the Act.
Main Issue
2. The main issue is whether the residential occupation of the caravan is justified
by an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or near their
place of work.
Reasons
3. The site is in the countryside, beyond the limits of Fishtoft, on an unlit lane
without footways. There is a small group of dwellings on the opposite side of
the lane and others are scattered on nearby lanes. A post office and shop are
1.4 and 1.6 miles away respectively, although their locations are not given, and
it is unclear whether the distances are by road or as the crow flies. A bus stop
with an hourly service to Boston is 10 minutes’ walk away. Taking all these
facts into consideration, the site is physically separate and remote from any
settlement.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 101

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3262904

4. New isolated homes in the countryside should be avoided unless there are
special circumstances such as the essential need for a rural worker to live
permanently at or near their place of work. The Planning Practice Guidance
identifies considerations that may be relevant, although the list is not
exhaustive. Those relevant in this appeal are:
•

Evidence of the necessity for a rural worker to live at, or in close proximity
to, their place of work to ensure the effective operation of an agricultural,
forestry or similar land-based rural enterprise (for instance, where farm
animals or agricultural processes require on-site attention 24-hours a day
and where otherwise there would be a risk to human or animal health or
from crime, or to deal quickly with emergencies that could cause serious
loss of crops or products);

•

The degree to which there is confidence that the enterprise will remain
viable for the foreseeable future; and

•

In the case of new enterprises, whether it is appropriate to consider
granting permission for a temporary dwelling for a trial period.

5. The appellant identifies that pigs can become ill or suffer injury at any time,
and that regular checks can ensure that potential problems are addressed in a
timely manner, day or night. While there is no reason to dispute this, no
evidence about the nature of illnesses and injuries or their likelihood has been
provided. Neither is there evidence that alternative approaches not involving
residential use of the caravan were investigated and found unsuitable.
6. More information is provided in respect of farrowing, which usually occurs at
night and carries the risk that a sow may inadvertently kill her new-born
piglets. A stronger case therefore exists for an on-site presence to allow timely
intervention at farrowing time. However, no details of the breeding cycles
employed at the site have been provided. As a result, it has not been
demonstrated that the need is continuous or frequent, rather than temporary
and occasional, determined by the gestation cycle.
7. While pigs may be startled at night and may exploit insecurities in the site’s
fencing, no evidence of the likelihood of these risks is provided. As such it has
not been demonstrated that these issues can only be managed by a residential
presence rather than other approaches, such as routine inspection and
maintenance of site fencing. Similarly, while rare breed animals may have a
high value, and thus be attractive to thieves, there is no evidence that
alternative prevention measures were investigated and found unsuitable.
8. Foxes have entered the site and will take very young piglets if they can.
However, it is not stated whether they reached the area where the pigs are,
and no losses of piglets have been identified. While reference is made to
vandalism and theft, no details of incidents have been provided. Accordingly, it
has not been demonstrated that security measures that do not involve a
residential presence were investigated and found unsuitable.
9. It is understandable that the appellant wishes to eliminate or minimise travel
time at the beginning and end of long working days. However, while he could
not find affordable accommodation in Fishtoft, there is no evidence that efforts
were made to find suitable accommodation elsewhere in the locality. The
Council identified several properties in the local area in its statement and while

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 102

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3262904

the appellant’s financial circumstances have not been stated, he has not
indicated that those properties are unsuitable.
10. The appellant is confident that he has a good business model which, given the
right assistance, will prove sustainable and will benefit the local community.
However, no evidence that the business will remain viable for the foreseeable
future has been provided. It remains possible that a case might be made for
the residential use on a temporary trial basis while the enterprise is new.
However, it would still be necessary to demonstrate a functional need and that
alternatives to residential use in a location that is physically separate and
remote from any settlement have been considered, which is not the case.
11. The absence of evidence from the appellant on the foregoing matters limits the
weight that can be afforded to his case for a residential presence at the site.
Accordingly, an essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at the site
has not been shown to exist and it has not been demonstrated that the
residential occupation of the caravan is necessary to the countryside location.
The deemed planning application would therefore be contrary to policy 1 of the
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-36 (the Local Plan) and part 5 of the
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework).
Other matters
12. Although not included in its reasons for issuing the notice, the Council refers to
the effect of the development on the character and appearance of the area,
living conditions and flood risk.
13. The stationing of the static caravan for purposes ancillary to the pig farm, but
excluding residential use, has been certified lawful1. The residential occupation
of the caravan would not alter its effect on the character and appearance of the
area but could give rise to additional parking and outbuildings and thereby
domesticise the site, contrary to its rural setting. However, these are matters
that could be controlled by condition if planning permission were to be granted.
14. In view of the separation from other dwellings, the residential occupation of the
caravan would not have any adverse effect on nearby occupiers. Proximity to a
pig farm may give rise to concerns about living conditions in some instances.
However, if this development were approved it would be due to agricultural
need and occupation could be limited to a person or persons working at the pig
farm by means of a planning condition.
15. Policy 4 of the Local Plan states that caravans intended for permanent
residential use will not be permitted in areas at risk of flooding. The site lies
within Flood Zone 3a, and so has a high probability of flooding. Caravans for
permanent residential occupation are highly vulnerable to flooding. Local Plan
policy 4 and the Framework require applicants for planning permission in such
locations to submit a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). While an FRA has been
submitted, it makes no reference to the static caravan and therefore provides
no support to the deemed planning application for its residential occupation.
16. It has previously been indicated that, in the event of a breach in nearby sea
defences, some parts of the site could be under between 0.7m and 1.6m of
water. In view of the identified risks, the Environment Agency has advised that
flood risk mitigation measures would be unlikely to overcome this concern.
1

B/20/0215, issued 15 October 2020

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 103

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/C/20/3262904

Consequently, the residential occupation of the caravan is not justified by an
FRA and would be contrary to Local Plan policy 4 and Part 14 of the
Framework. This is an additional reason why planning permission should not be
granted.
17. The appellant has planted hedges and trees and has employed a local
landscape gardener on a part time basis to maintain the site. This and other
contributions to the local economy are to be welcomed. However, it has not
been demonstrated that continued maintenance of the site and contribution to
the local economy are dependent on the residential occupation of the caravan.
Accordingly, these matters do not alter my conclusion on the main issue above.
18. While reference has been made to a proposal for 66 new homes on the edge of
Fishtoft, details of that proposal and the planning status of the land involved
have not been provided. Accordingly, I am unable to give weight to this matter
in the planning balance.
Conclusion
19. For the reasons given, the use of the static caravan for residential occupation
does not comply with the development plan and this conflict is not outweighed
by other material considerations. I therefore conclude that the appeal should
not succeed. I shall uphold the enforcement notice and refuse to grant planning
permission on the application deemed to have been made under section 177(5)
of the Act as amended.

Mark Harbottle
INSPECTOR

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 104

Appeal Decision
Site Visit made on 22 June 2021
by I A Dyer BSc (Eng) FCIHT
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 8 July 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427
Rear of 27 Argyle Street, Boston, PE21 8PJ
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr V Petraitis against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/20/0438, dated 4 November 2020, was refused by notice dated
22 December 2020.
The development proposed is a residential dwelling.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for a residential
dwelling at Rear of 27 Argyle Street, Boston, PE21 8PJ in accordance with the
terms of the application, Ref B/20/0438, dated 4 November 2020, and the
plans submitted with it, subject to the following conditions:
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
four years from the date of this permission.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance
with the application received 4 November 2021 and in accordance with the
associated plans referenced:
•

Drawing Number 3065-01 Rev C Site Location Plan and Block Plan,

•

3065-02 Rev E Proposed Elevations,

•

3065-03 Rev D Proposed Floor Layout,

•

Air quality assessment and the Flood Risk Assessment

3) No development above ground level shall take place until details of the
materials proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
4) Demolition or construction works shall take place only between 08.00-18.00
on Mondays to Fridays and 09.00-13.00 on Saturdays, and shall not take
place at any time on Sundays or on Bank or Public Holidays.
5) Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved details of all
walls and fences, including details of their height, design and position, shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme as may be approved shall be constructed before the dwelling is
occupied and retained thereafter.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 105

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427

6) The dwelling hereby approved shall not be occupied until the Building
Regulations Optional requirement for water efficiency in Part G2 has been
complied with.
7) An electric vehicle recharging point shall be installed before occupation of
the dwelling hereby approved and retained thereafter.
Main Issue
2. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on residential amenity of
neighbours with particular reference to on-street car parking demand.
Reasons
3. The appeal site is part of the garden of 27 Argyle Street (No 27) and currently
provides off-street parking for this dwelling. It faces onto Laughton Road.
Argyle Street and the area to the south is mainly fronted by terraces of houses
of traditional appearance, set back behind modest front gardens. I observed
little off-street parking provision there other than on corner plots. Argyle Street
is designated the A1137 and is a bus route subject to on-street parking
restrictions over its entire length. Parking restrictions are less prevalent in the
wider vicinity of the site, with many of the side streets providing unrestricted
parking.
4. Laughton Road and the area to the north is typified by more modern houses,
again predominantly in terraces, but set back behind more generous gardens,
often providing off-street parking. Similar parking arrangements exist in the
side roads west of Brothertoft Road where development is less dense than the
area to the south of Argyle Street.
5. A detached dwelling is proposed with two off-street parking spaces to the front.
Thus No 27 would no longer have access to on-plot parking. The proposal
would increase the number of dwellings within the site by one but provides no
additional on-site parking. Policy 36 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan
2011-2036 (2019) (the Local Plan) requires that development should provide
vehicle and cycle parking, in accordance with the minimum Parking Standards
adopted by the Local Planning Authorities, unless a high quality-design can
demonstrate that a lower standard of provision delivers the requirements set
out within the policy. The proposal requires the provision of an additional two
car and one cycle parking spaces.
6. Whilst the existing occupiers of No 27 choose only to keep one car, the
property is a three-bedroomed dwelling and potential exists for future
occupiers to seek to keep more than one car.
7. The reasoned justification for the policy allows that, in exceptional cases the
parking standards can be reduced if this is justified by a high quality design.
Whilst not explicitly stated, a reduction could include a nil provision, should
that be justified by the design of the proposal. My attention has been brought
to previous residential development which has had a nil parking provision;
however, I have limited detailed information before me on these and I have, in
any case, determined this appeal on its own merits.
8. There are two convenience stores on Argyle Street which would provide for the
day-to-day shopping needs of residents of No 27. Residents would also have
access to bus stops on Brothertoft Road and Fydell Street within easy walking
2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 106

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427

distance. These would provide links to shops and services in the town centre,
including a large convenience store and a railway station, which would provide
opportunities for onward travel.
9. Whilst the appellant refers to nearby urban cycle routes there is no information
before me to identify the location of these or their connectivity. However, the
local streets are subject to a 30 MPH speed limit and lit. The land is relatively
flat and there appears to be little to deter a competent cyclist from using the
local highway network.
10. Although I have little evidence before me of the frequency of service of public
transport, it is unlikely that the occupiers of the development would be wholly
reliant on the private car for their day-to-day needs. However, the nearest
large convenience store and other services are some distance away and it is
likely that there would remain some dependency on the private car for bulky
shopping. Thus, notwithstanding the accessibility of shops and services nearby,
it is likely that there would still be some incentive for the occupiers of No 27 to
continue to keep a car.
11. Argyle Street lies on the boundary between two areas of differing character,
with denser housing to the south with few opportunities for off-street parking
whilst to the north and west, development is less dense and there are more
opportunities for residents to park on-plot whilst retaining opportunities to park
on-street.
12. The appellant has provided an assessment of on-street parking in the area.
However, this assessment was in the form of a photographic record, rather
than a beat survey which would include an assessment of the number of
available parking spaces. It does, however, illustrate a degree of available kerb
space to the north of Argyle Street and, whilst only a snapshot in time, the
general levels of on-street parking reflect what I saw on-site. The number of
on-street spaces is limited and this, in itself is likely to act as a deterrent to the
keeping of cars, although not precluding it. The width of streets would, in
places, restrict access, particularly to emergency and service vehicles if parking
were to occur on both sides at the same time. However I observed during my
site visit that suitable passing space was generally available at reasonable
intervals.
13. The survey was carried out between 08.00 and 08.30 on a Friday. At that time
the country was in lockdown as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and people
were advised to stay at home. I therefore consider that the observations give a
reasonable visual assessment of on-street parking in the area, albeit that they
lack an assessment of the number of parking spaces available on-street
without obstructing traffic flow.
14. The appellant has identified several opportunities in the wider area for offstreet parking. Many of the identified car parks are a significant distance from
the site and would not provide a practicable parking for No 27. Other nearby
parking identified, such as the Asda Car park are private car parks provided for
the use of customers. Access for long stay parking for non-customers could be
withdrawn and so these are not an alternative to provision on land within the
appellant’s control or public car parks in general use.
15. The appellant has identified Irby Street Car Park as being the closest to the
appeal site. It is run by the Council and season tickets are available to park in
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 107

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427

it. In the appellant’s parking survey spaces were seen to be available.
Nonetheless, there would be a charge for parking therein, and it is likely that
spaces on street, with no parking cost, would be a more attractive alternative
in the first instance.
16. Bringing these matters together it is likely that the proposal will create a
demand to accommodate displaced car parking on-street and that this demand
would compete with existing residential uses in the area.
17. The development would not make car parking provision in strict accordance
with Policy 36 of the Local Plan. However, I find that it is unlikely that the
occupiers of the development would be wholly reliant on the private car for
their day-to-day needs. Whilst the occupiers of No 27 may keep cars, the
characteristics of the area would act, to a degree, as a deterrent limiting their
number and there is little substantive evidence before me that a small addition
of cars parking on-street would cause anything other than a limited adverse
impact upon the amenity of neighbours.
18. No evidence has been provided that the proposal would result in an adverse
effect on highway safety and I note that the Local Highway Authority (LHA) has
not objected on safety grounds.
19. I conclude that there would be the potential for limited negative impact on the
amenity of neighbours through an increase in on-street car parking demand.
The proposal is not, therefore, in strict accordance with Policies 2, 3 and 36 of
the Local Plan which, amongst other things, require that development must
address sustainable development considerations in regard to amenity of the
area and make provision for the parking of cars and bicycles. I have found that
the impact upon residential amenity resultant from the development would be
limited, and I will return to this matter in my assessment of the planning
balance.
Other Matters
20. I note the concerns of neighbours regarding increased enclosure of their
garden by the proposed dwelling, the effect on a tree and disturbance during
construction works and when people move into the property. The proposal
would introduce a two storey structure with a blank wall, close to the
boundary, however the garden of that property is comparatively long and the
principal amenity would be likely to be associated with the area nearest to the
existing dwelling. The boundary would remain largely open and so, whilst there
would be an increase in the degree of enclosure this would not, in this case,
amount to material harm. Whilst the existing tree overhangs the site, it has no
protection, in planning terms, and I note that it is not considered by the
Council to hold any high amenity value. The tree is well set back from the
public realm and the contribution that it makes to the street scene is limited.
The tree is on private land and so any dispute regarding damage to it is a
matter that falls outside the scope of this appeal.
21. Whilst there is likely to be some disturbance during building work, the scale of
the development is relatively small scale. Any disturbance during building
works would be likely to be relatively short term and so this is unlikely to result
in material harm. Whilst the increase in the number of households in the area
is likely to increase activity, with associated disturbance, there is no evidence

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 108

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427

before me that the activities would be exceptional in an urban area such as
this, or constitute antisocial behaviour.
Conditions
22. I have had regard to the planning conditions suggested by the Council. In the
interests of certainty I have added the standard condition stipulating time limits
and a condition upon the development requiring that it be built in accordance
with the approved plans. The time condition sets the limit of four years for
commencement of development rather than the more usual three to reflect the
current economic uncertainty resultant from the Covid-19 pandemic.
23. With the same aim of ensuring certainty in what is built and to ensure that this
is in keeping with the character and appearance of the surrounding area, I
have added a condition requiring the submission of details of external finishes
for approval prior to any works above ground. Similarly I have added a
condition requiring the submission of details of all boundary structures.
24. I have placed conditions on the development requiring the limitation of water
usage and the provision of an electric charging point for vehicles. These
conditions are necessary to limit the environmental impact of the proposal in
accordance with Council policies intended to manage water stress and
pollution, and encourage more sustainable transport modes.
25. These conditions correspond to the conditions suggested by the Council;
however I have amended the wording for clarity, enforceability and to remove
unnecessary delay to commencement of works on site.
26. The site lies within a residential area and construction works have potential to
adversely affect the residential amenity of neighbours. I have therefore added
a condition limiting the hours of working on site. The main parties have been
given the opportunity to comment on this condition and have raised no
objection to its imposition.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
27. The National Planning Policy Framework (2019) (the Framework) advises that
“Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety”. As will be seen
above I have not found that the proposal would unacceptably affect highway
safety.
28. However, the Framework recognises, in Paragraph 127, the importance of
creating places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote
health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future
users; and the importance of parking and other transport considerations in the
design of schemes, and their contribution to making high quality places.
29. The Framework also recognises the need to take into account the accessibility
of the development, the type, mix and use of development, the availability of
and opportunities for public transport and local car ownership levels in
assessing the need for parking provision.
30. The policies in the development plan that are most important in this case
(Policies 2, 3 and 36 of the Local Plan) are consistent with the aims and policies

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 109

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3269427

set out in Sections 2, 9 and 12 of the Framework and, therefore, are not outof-date.
31. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.”
32. I have found that the proposal would not make car parking provision in strict
accordance with Policy 36 of the Local Plan and that there would be the
potential for limited negative impact on the amenity of neighbours.
33. The development would provide benefits in terms of delivering an additional
home to boost housing supply. The Council’s identified housing need figure is
not a maximum and the additional home would provide a modest benefit, given
the Government’s aim of significantly increasing the delivery of housing. There
would be minor benefits to the local economy in terms of short term
employment in the construction industry and longer term support to local
shops and businesses. Taken together, given the scale of development these
benefits, though modest, would outweigh the limited harm that I have
identified.
34. Although the proposal is in conflict with the development plan there are
material considerations in this instance that indicate that a decision should be
made otherwise than in accordance with it. For these reasons I conclude that
the appeal should be allowed.

I Dyer
INSPECTOR

6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 110

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 14 December 2021
by Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 22nd December 2021

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3278083
Shore Yard, Shore Road, Freiston, Boston, PE22 0NA
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by F W Marshall & Sons against the decision of Boston Borough
Council.
The application Ref B/20/0482, dated 3 December 2020, was refused by notice dated
29 April 2021.
The development proposed is Change of Use of greenhouse to storage and the Change
of Use of poultry building to half storage half light vehicle repairs at Shore Yard, Shore
Road, Freiston, Boston, PE22 0NA.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. I have used the description of development from the appellant’s appeal form
and the Council’s decision notice as this more accurately describes the
proposed development than that on the application form.
3. The Council includes four reasons for refusal on its decision notice. However,
two of these are identical and therefore I have considered the three distinct
issues in this decision.
Main Issues
4. The main issues are:
•

the effect of the proposal on the occupiers of residential properties on Shore
Yard and Drove Road with particular regard to noise;

•

the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area; and

•

whether or not the appeal site is an appropriate location for the proposed
development.

Reasons
Living conditions
5. The adjacent dwelling forms a bungalow with a high close boarded fence
around its rear garden. The proposed use of the appeal site is for car repairs in
the existing building, together with the storage of old cars in the former
glasshouses to the rear and the dismantling of those cars to be used for the
repairs, before being taken to the scrapyard. There is though very little
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 111

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3278083

information regarding the level of use and the number of cars being repaired
and taken to the site other than there would be only one employee.
6. At the time of my site visit I found it to be a very quiet area, apart from a low
hum of noise from the adjacent storage building and the very occasional
passing car, neither of which were intrusive. The proposal has the potential to
introduce a use into the area which could cause noise to the detriment of the
living conditions of the residents of the neighbouring property, which is close to
the appeal site, particularly through the use of the building for car repairs.
7. In this regard, I note the objection of the Council’s Environmental Health
Officer who states that vehicle repairs can have an element of metal working
(grinding, hammering) and often use pneumatic tools with compressors which
can be noisy and as this is a very quiet rural area this may well impact
neighbouring residential amenity despite them taking place in a building.
8. The appellant makes a comparison with the previous use of the building for
agricultural storage and the consequent continuous farm activity, and the
current farm activity, which is considered to be louder than that generated by
the proposed use. However, I have no robust information regarding the noise
levels of previous or existing activity in the form of an acoustic report to
evidence this. Furthermore, while the car repair machinery may well not be in
continuous use or used every day, without any substantive evidence before me
of noise levels I am not satisfied that their use, even within the building, would
not cause material harm to neighbouring residents. Moreover, while the
appellant states the repairs would be limited to one vehicle at a time this may
not be the case in the future should the business be successful.
9. The Council refers to other residential properties along Shore Yard and Drove
Road. However, there is considerable intervening distance to these properties
and therefore I am of the view that there would be no material harm caused to
those residents’ living conditions.
10. In the absence of any robust evidence to indicate otherwise, for the reasons
above, I conclude that the proposal would be harmful to the living conditions of
the immediate neighbouring residents with particular regard to noise. There
would therefore be conflict with policies 2, 3, 7 (a) and 30 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) (the SELLP) and section 12 of the National
Planning Policy Framework. These require that the amenities of residents are
protected and are of a high standard.
11. The Council also refers to Policy 1 of the SELLP in its reason for refusal.
However, this refers to the Spatial Strategy rather than resident’s living
conditions, so it has not been determinative in this matter.
Character and appearance
12. There would be no alterations to the building on the appeal site. Cars for
dismantling would be stored on an area of hardstanding to the rear of the site
where the existing glasshouses are. This area is well screened by existing
buildings and landscaping. As a result, while there may be some glimpsed
views from the road as drivers pass by, these would not be significant in the
wider area, or sustained.
13. I acknowledge that the surrounding area is predominantly rural in nature with
sporadic residential properties and agricultural buildings. While a car repair and
2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 112

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3278083

car storage use may be unusual in the area, given the specific characteristics of
the appeal site and its limited size, there would be no harm to the overall
character and appearance of the area.
14. For the reasons above, I conclude that there would be no harm to the character
and appearance of the area. There would therefore be no conflict with Policies
2, 3 and 7 (b) and (c) of the SELLP and the Framework which require that
development is of high quality design that takes account of the character and
appearance of the area and is responsive to local context.
Location
15. Policy 7 of the SELLP allocates sites for employment in line with the settlement
hierarchy in Policy 1. New employment development outside of allocations will
be supported provided that the proposal involves the re-use of previously
developed land or the conversion or reuse of redundant buildings. As an
agricultural building the site is precluded from being previously developed land
by the definition contained in the Framework. Furthermore, there is nothing
substantive before me to suggest the building for conversion is redundant.
16. Policy 7 goes on to outline a number of criteria which a proposal must meet if
there is no suitable building capable of conversion or previously developed land
is not available. I acknowledge that this proposal, in isolation, is unlikely to
impact on the viability of delivering allocated employment sites elsewhere, and
therefore there would be no conflict with criterion (e). However, even if I
accept that there are no other suitable buildings, there is no substantive
evidence before me to demonstrate that it is needed in this countryside
location as required by criterion (g).
17. The Highway Authority raises no objection to the proposal in terms of highway
safety. However, while the appeal site is located in a very small cluster of
buildings, it is nevertheless in the open countryside, a considerable distance
from any settlement to which development is directed. It would be accessed via
narrow unlit country lanes, meaning that access to the site would be heavily
dependent on the car, and particularly so given the proposed use.
Opportunities for modal shift, as required by criterion (f) therefore appear
limited.
18. The remaining criteria, namely (a),(b) and (c) relate to impact on residents’
living conditions and the character and appearance of the area which I have
already reached conclusions on above. While acceptable in some regards, taken
as a whole there would be conflict with Policy 7.
19. Policy 1 of the SELLP sets out a hierarchical approach to the location of new
development in order to direct development to the most sustainable locations .
All land outside of the defined settlement boundaries is designated as
countryside where development will be permitted that is necessary to such a
location and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable
development needs of the area in terms of economic, community or
environmental benefits. The appellant identifies that the needs for the business
are simply a workshop space with vehicle access and an area for cars to be
temporarily stored. There is no need for any form of street presence from
which cars can be sold, nor is there any need for highways infrastructure which
can support a large number of comings and goings. The proposal is for a smallscale operation with minimal requirements more in line with domestic hobby
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 113

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3278083

related car repairs. However, this does not suggest that a location within the
open countryside is a pre-requisite for the operation of the business, and such
a property could not be found within a settlement to where development is
directed. Furthermore, I have no substantive evidence to suggest that, given
the scale of the proposal and its relationship to defined settlements, it would
provide particular quantified economic, community or environmental benefits
demonstrated to be needed in the local area to justify the location here.
20. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would not be an
appropriate location for the proposed development as it would conflict with the
requirements of Policies 1 and 7 of the SELLP.
Conclusion
21. Although there would be no harm to the character and appearance of the area,
the proposal would conflict with locational policy and would be harmful to
resident’s living conditions contrary to the development plan as a whole. There
are no relevant material considerations that would outweigh the conflict with
the development plan.
22. Therefore, for the reasons given, I conclude that the appeal should be
dismissed.

Zoe Raygen
INSPECTOR

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 114

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 3 May 2022
by Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 18 MAY 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3281513
The Old Vicarage, U Haul, Main Road, Wigtoft, Boston PE20 2NJ
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr G Scrupps against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/21/0066, dated 13 February 2021, was refused by notice dated
8 April 2021.
The development proposed is an outline application including access with all other
matters reserved for residential development of the site (up to 5 dwellings).

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
2. The planning application the subject of this appeal was an outline application
with all matters reserved for future consideration except for the means of
access. There are four layout plans which show how the site could
accommodate five dwellings and two showing six dwellings submitted for
illustrative purposes only. I have considered the appeal on the same basis,
noting that the proposal is for up to 5 dwellings only.
Main Issue
3. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of
the local area bearing in mind the special attention that should be paid to the
desirability of preserving the setting of nearby listed buildings, and the extent
to which it would preserve or enhance the character or appearance of the
Wigtoft Conservation Area.
Reasons
Significance
4. The Old Vicarage is a well preserved early nineteenth century two storey
building with a hipped slate roof and is listed grade II. It has a single storey
rear offshoot and curtilage buildings having the form of historic stable/coach
house to the east with their own entrance way from Main Road. There seems
no dispute that these are curtilage listed. From the evidence before me, and
my observations on site, I see no reason to disagree. These buildings retain
most of their original features and openings revealing their former use
5. The Old Vicarage is located within a substantial garden forming its immediate
setting. The buildings themselves are set well back from the road and fairly
centrally within the large plot giving a sense of space. The grounds are, in the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 115

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3281513

main, well landscaped, giving a sense of seclusion to the listed building which
is mainly glimpsed through the tree cover. The outbuildings are more visible
with direct views through their separate access from Main Road.
6. Much of the significance of the buildings derive from their age and architectural
quality. They have historic value as a former vicarage with stables. The
spacious, yet secluded setting of the Old Vicarage contributes to that
significance allowing an appreciation of the status of its former use, contrasted
with the more open and spacious setting of the curtilage listed buildings.
7. The Wigtoft Conservation Area (CA) is centred around the Parish Church of St
Peter and Paul a Grade I listed building that is set back from Main Road behind
its graveyard. This together with the field adjacent and the grounds of the Old
Vicarage opposite provides a significant focal area of open space. Buildings are
generally two storeys in height and are mainly set back from the wide road
behind verges and gardens adding to the spacious, verdant appearance of the
CA. There are various styles of architecture and a mixture of materials so
while there are a number of traditional buildings of a domestic scale there is
little sense of overall cohesion in the built form. The significance of the CA in so
far as it relates to this appeal is the relationship between the buildings and
space together with the verdant quality of views within the CA.
8. The appeal site forms part of the garden area of The Old Vicarage and is mainly
open grassland. At the time of my site visit trees had been felled around the
access to the appeal site and therefore it has a very open character behind a
front boundary formed by a hedge and wall. However, trees the subject of a
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) are retained around the western side of the site
entrance. As a whole therefore, the appeal site contributes positively to the
setting of the listed heritage assets and the spacious verdant character and
appearance of the CA.
Effect
9. The indicative plans show a number of ways of accommodating the proposed
houses on the appeal site, mainly in a row set back from the road with the car
parking to the side, approached from the existing access. In this way the front
wall and hedge would be capable of retention. The line of houses would also
continue the pattern and layout of housing to the east of the appeal site.
10. However, the number of houses proposed would lead to a large part of the
frontage to be developed, considerably eroding the open spacious character
and appearance in this location and reducing the focus of open space within the
CA and the spacious setting of the Old Vicarage and curtilage listed buildings.
Furthermore, due to the number of houses, a relatively large area of car
parking would be required. While this would, to an extent, be accommodated
on an existing area of hardstanding, it is difficult to see how extent of the area
required would not intrude into the protected trees. There is no information
before me regarding whether they would be capable of retention or how
parking could be provided without impacting on the root system of protected
trees, given its proposed proximity. Any loss of these trees would be harmful to
the verdant character and appearance of the area and erode the seclusion of
the Old Vicarage.
11. Although there is some distance between the listed building and the appeal
site, the parking element of the proposal would be sited directly in front of the
2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 116

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3281513

curtilage listed buildings. While direct views would still be available to the
building, they would be cluttered by cars, within the context of a suburban
style parking area. There would also be the potential for the erection of
boundary treatment, which would physically sever the entranceway from the
historic buildings it would have served, causing harm to their setting and
therefore significance.
12. There is one proposed layout which shows a line of houses end on to Main Road
with parking in a similar location to the others. This layout would lead to similar
issues as outlined above. Furthermore, the provision of end on housing would
be contrary to the established pattern and layout of housing in the area which
generally faces the road. It would, therefore, be obtrusive in the streetscene
and harmful to the character and appearance of the CA.
13. I acknowledge that the proposal is for up to 5 houses. While theoretically that
would allow for a lower number of houses on the site, given the description,
the principal of 5 houses would have been agreed. Furthermore, even though
the proposal is in outline form and the plans indicative only, given the
constraints to the site formed by the established character and appearance of
the area and the heritage assets, I would need to be convinced that 5 dwellings
could be accommodated without causing harm. This has not been achieved.
14. In that context, I find that the proposal would fail to preserve the special
interest of the listed building and curtilage listed building and the significance
of the CA. In the terms of the National Planning Policy Framework (the
Framework) I find the harm to be less than substantial in this instance but
nevertheless of considerable importance and weight.
15. Under such circumstances, paragraph 202 of the Framework advises that this
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal. The
proposal would provide up to 5 new dwellings which would contribute to the
Government’s aim to significantly boost the supply of housing in a relatively
accessible location. There would also be economic benefits associated with
construction jobs and the contribution of future residents to the local economy.
However, these modest benefits would not be sufficient to outweigh the harm
caused to the significance of the heritage assets.
16. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would harm the character
and appearance of the local area and fail to preserve the setting of listed
heritage assets and the character or appearance of the Wigtoft Conservation
Area. It would therefore be contrary to policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) 2019 and the Framework. These require
that development is appropriate to the local area, improves the character and
quality of an area and complements and enhances designated heritage assets.
Conclusion
17. There are no persuasive material considerations in this case to outweigh the
conflict with the development plan as a whole. For the reasons set out above,
and having regard to all other matters raised, I conclude on balance that the
appeal should be dismissed.

Zoe Raygen
INSPECTOR
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 117

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Hearing held on 28 June 2022
Site visit made on 24 May 2022
by Chris Preston BA (Hons) BPl MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 8th July 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081
Old Leake Caravan Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22 9LQ
•
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 195 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 against a refusal to grant a
certificate of lawful use or development (LDC).
The appeal is made by Messrs Michael and Anthony White against the decision of Boston
Borough Council.
The application Ref B/21/0102, dated 07 March 2021, was refused by notice dated 13
July 2021.
The application was made under section 192(1)(a) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 as amended.
The use for which a certificate of lawful use or development is sought is described in the
application form/ supporting statement as: Certificate of lawful use in respect of the
proposed use of land within the existing caravan site for the siting of static caravans to
be occupied as 'worker accommodation' without restriction on the time when such
occupation has to cease up to a maximum of 25 caravan units on the site at any time
within the area defined by the extant permission.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and attached to this decision is a certificate of lawful use
or development describing the existing use which is considered to be lawful.
Application for costs
2. An application for costs was made by Messrs Michael and Anthony White
against Boston Borough Council. This application is the subject of a separate
Decision.
Procedural Matters
3. In the lead up to the Hearing I sent a note to the parties covering various
matters, including a query relating to the nature of the appeal in terms of
whether what was being sought would actually fall more suitably within s191 of
the Town and Country Planning Act, as opposed to s192. The terms of s192 of
the Act are quite specific. S192(2) states:
If, on an application under this section, the local planning authority are
provided with information satisfying them that the use or operations described
in the application would be lawful if instituted or begun at the time of the
application, they shall issue a certificate to that effect; and in any other case
they shall refuse the application. (My emphasis).

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 119

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

4. In other words, the question posed in an application under s192 is if a
‘proposed’ use or operation would have been lawful if it was begun ‘at the time
of the application’ which relates to the date at which the application was made.
In this case, the use had already begun at the time of the application and the
site was occupied, in part, by agricultural workers, in line with the terms of the
previous planning permission granted on appeal in 2019 (the 2019
permission)1. There is no dispute that the use at the time of the application
was lawful.
5. Consequently, I queried whether it would be more appropriate to consider the
proposal as if it were made under s191(1)(a) of the Act, as relates to existing
uses, based on the following description which was drawn from the information
provided in the application:
Certificate of lawful use in respect of the occupation of up to 25 static caravans
by agricultural workers within the existing caravan site at The Old Leake
Caravan Park (within the area outlined in green on the site plan dated 20 July
2017) without restriction on the time when such occupation has to cease but
subject to all other conditions attached to the planning permission granted on
appeal under reference number APP/Z2505/W/3211660.
6. The amended description also includes reference to ‘agricultural workers’ as
opposed to ‘workers’ which more precisely reflects the type of accommodation
permitted by the 2019 permission. At the Hearing both parties agreed that
s191 was the more appropriate way of considering the proposal, were satisfied
with the suggested description and content that no prejudice would arise if I
were to consider the appeal on that basis. Thus, I shall consider the application
under s191 of the Act based on the description set out above.
Main Issue
7. The planning merits of the use are not relevant to the consideration of an
application for a Certificate of Lawful Use (CLU) under section 191 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act). The key question is whether the use
is lawful having regard to the relevant facts of the case and any judicial
authority.
8. With that in mind, the main issue in this appeal is whether the Council’s
decision to refuse to grant a CLU was well-founded.
Reasons
9. The land to which the application relates has a long history of use as a caravan
site. The current appeal links back to a planning permission, approved in 1986,
subject to three conditions. The description of the development on the planning
permission is:
Change of use from caravan site and winter storage of unoccupied touring
caravans to caravan/ camping site of forty pitches to include touring caravans/
tents/ static holiday caravans at the White Cat Caravan Park.
10. Since that time, two further planning permissions have been granted under
section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (the Act) to carry out
development without complying with conditions attached to the original
1

APP/Z2505//18/3211660

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 120

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

permission, one granted in 2015 (the 2015 permission) and one granted on
appeal in 2019 (the 2019 permission). The effect of the 2019 permission, is the
nub of the dispute between the parties.
11. In 2006 an application to extend the caravan site on an adjacent parcel of land
was approved, subject to a different set of conditions. That area of land has a
slightly different planning history and the CLU application does not relate to it.
Consequently, I shall not expand on the details relating to that part of the site.
12. It is common for planning practitioners to refer to applications made under s73
of the Act as being for the removal or variation of a condition attached to a
planning permission. However, the removal of a condition does not amount to
‘development’ as defined by s55(1) of the Act. Thus, planning permission is not
required to remove a condition per se. Planning permission is required to carry
out ‘development’ without complying with conditions subject to which a
previous permission was granted and that is the purpose of s73 of the Act.
13. The effect of an approval is to grant a new planning permission which stands
alone from the previous permission which remains unaltered. An applicant will
then have the choice as to which permission to implement. When granting
permission under s73 a planning authority, or Inspector, has the option of
removing conditions attached to the original permission, varying the terms of
conditions, adding new conditions and reinstating conditions imposed on the
original permission. A permission granted under s73 does not alter the nature
of the development for which planning permission was originally granted,
merely the conditions subject to which that development must comply.
14. Thus, although the 2015 permission was described on the decision notice as
being an application to ‘remove condition 3 of the 1986 permission’, it was, in
effect, a new planning permission to carry out the development originally
approved, subject to the three new conditions imposed which related to a flood
evacuation plan and measures to ensure that the site was occupied as holiday
accommodation. The main change brought about by that permission was to
remove the restriction in seasonal restriction imposed by condition 3 of the
1986 permission, which limited occupancy of caravans to the months of March
to October. Instead of the seasonal condition, conditions were added to state
that the use shall be for holiday purposes only, to limit the length of time
people could occupy units (no more than two months in any three month
period) and to require a register of occupiers to be kept and made available to
the LPA on request.
15. The evidence indicates that the site was then operated in line with the 2015
permission but holiday related business remained poor. Subsequently, an
application was submitted in 2017 which sought permission to use 25 caravans
for accommodation for agricultural workers. That application was refused by
the Council and a subsequent appeal was withdrawn. However, a further
application was submitted in 2018 and the decision notice described the
proposal as such:
Resubmission of B/17/0130 to remove condition 2 on planning approval
B/15/0017 to enable a maximum of 25 caravans to be occupied by agricultural
workers for a period of up to three years with the maximum continuous length
of any agricultural worker being limited to 10 months at Old Leake Caravan and
Leisure Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22 9LQ

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 121

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

16. The Council refused that application and the banner heading in the subsequent
appeal decision letter described the proposal as follows:
The application sought planning permission to remove condition 3 of
B/16/0606/86 at the White Cat Camping and Caravan Park, Shaws Lane, Old
Leake, Boston, LincolnshirePE22 9LQ without complying with a condition
attached to planning permission Ref B/15/0017, dated 20 April 2015.
17. That description causes some confusion because it conflates the 1986
permission and the 2015 permission. Condition 3 of the 1986 permission had
already been removed by the 2015 permission. Moreover, it doesn’t specify an
act of development for which permission was sought – the removal of a
condition is not development of itself.
18. However, when read in the context of the relevant history it seems clear that
what the Inspector did was take the ‘description of development’ given on the
previous permission and insert that into the banner heading of the appeal, such
that ‘remove condition 3 of B/16/0606/86’ was used as the description of
development, as opposed to describing the actual development for which
permission was sought, as set out in the original 1986 permission. In other
words, the technically incorrect description of development given in the 2015
permission was carried through into the description given by the Inspector in
the 2019 appeal.
19. That followed through into the wording of the formal decision at paragraph 1
which states the following:
The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted to remove condition 3
of B16/0606/86 at The White Cat Camping and Caravan Park, Shaws Lane, Old
Leake, Boston, Lincolnshire PE22 9LQ without complying with a condition
attached to planning permission Ref B/15/0017, dated 20 April 2015 at Old
Leake Caravan Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22 9LQ in accordance
with the application Ref B/18/0136 dated 03 April 2018, without compliance
with condition number 2 previously imposed on planning permission Ref
B/15/0017 dated 20 April 2015 and subject to the attached Schedule of
Conditions.
20. Having regard to the terms of s73, a more accurate way to describe the
development would have been the change of use from caravan site and winter
storage of unoccupied touring caravans to caravan/ camping site of forty
pitches to include touring caravans/ tents/ static holiday caravans without
compliance with condition 2 of planning permission reference B/15/0017.
21. That appears to me to be the logical understanding of what was considered and
approved by the appeal decision. At the Hearing, both parties confirmed that
to be their understanding. In other words, the 2019 permission did not alter
the description of the development permitted on the site, which remains as
described in the 1986 permission. Rather, it varied the conditions subject to
which that development must conform.
22. Having clarified the ambiguity relating to the description, the question is then
whether the permission imposed a temporary three-year limit for use by
agricultural workers. The appellant contends that there is no implied power to
impose conditions on a grant of planning permission, save for that granted by a

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 122

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

Development Order, in line with the principles established in the I’m Your Man2
judgment and the subsequent line of similar judgments which include Cotswold
Grange Country Park LLP3. In short, those judgments held that the description
of development alone was not sufficient to imply a limitation in the absence of
a condition attached to the permission. In I’m Your Man, the issue was
temporal, in terms of the duration of a permission and in Cotswold Grange, the
issue was numerical in terms of the numbers of caravans.
23. That is not to say that the description of development within a decision notice
or letter is redundant. It still defines what is approved and it is necessary to
consider whether what is proposed by way of variation falls within that
description or is materially different to it, as was the case of Barton Park
Estates4 which was the subject of a recent Court of Appeal judgment. Planning
permission had been granted for a caravan park with a specific mix in the type
and tenure of caravans set out in the description of development but not
controlled by condition.
24. In the absence of a condition, having regard to I’m Your Man, the appellant
contended that the use of the site for a different mix, incorporating
substantially more static caravans was lawful. However, the Inspector found
that what was proposed would bring about a material change in the character
of the use of the appeal site, when compared to the description of the
approved development. That decision was found to be legally sound. Thus,
the absence of a limiting condition on the approval was of no consequence
because the proposal fell outside the scope of the original planning permission
and an entirely new permission would be required for what was proposed.
25. In the present case, it has not been suggested that seasonal use by agricultural
workers, for up to ten months in a calendar year, would bring about a material
change in the use of the site when compared to the lawful permitted use. Had
that been the case, the use by agricultural workers would not have fallen within
the scope of the original description and should not have been considered
under the s73 route at the time of the previous application and appeal. On the
information before me I see no reason to depart from the agreed position of
the parties in that respect.
26. fore, in the absence of a material change of use, if no condition was in place
limiting the occupation by agricultural workers to a temporary period, the
continued use would be lawful having regard to the I’m Your Man line of cases.
However, the Council maintains that the description of development on the
application form in addition to condition 7 of the 2019 permission are sufficient
to control the temporary nature of occupancy by agricultural workers. In its
view, it is not a case of the absence of a condition but one where an
interpretation of the condition is required.
27. The appellants consider that the absence of a defined time limiting period set
out within the conditions was a deliberate and conscious decision on the part of
the Inspector. In their view, having found that no harm would arise from the
proposal in terms of the character and appearance of the area or living
conditions, there was no reason for the Inspector to impose a temporary three
I'm Your Man Limited v Secretary of State for the Environment [1999] 77 P. & C.R 251
Cotswold Grange Country Park LLP vs SSCLG & Tewksbury Borough Council [2014] EWHC 1138 (Admin)
4
Barton Park Estates Ltd v Secretary of State for Housing, Communities & Local Government [2022] EWCA Civ
833
2
3

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 123

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

year period. In their view, condition 7 is simply there to identify what should
happen at some future undefined point if and when the site ceases to be
occupied by agricultural workers. Thus, in their view, condition 7 isn’t a time
limiting condition at all and the principles of I’m Your Man should apply.
28. In support of its case, the Council referred to a number of judgments relating
to the interpretation of planning conditions5. Whilst those judgments do not set
a precedent for implying an entirely new condition into a permission they do
set the scope for implication in terms of the interpretation of an existing
condition.
29. The wording of condition 7 is as follows:
(7) At the expiry of [sic] period of temporary consent hereby granted the
permitted occupancy for the entire site shall be restricted as follows:
No person shall occupy the caravans or tents for more than two months in any
three month period and the caravans or tents shall be used for holiday
accommodation only and for no other purpose. No caravan or tent shall form
the main residence of any individual.
30. I do accept that the condition, on its face, identifies that permission is being
granted for a temporary period. It then goes on to identify what should occur
at the expiry of that period. However, the condition itself, nor any other
condition, specifies the timescale of the temporary period which undoubtedly
causes ambiguity to an extent that the condition has no sensible meaning, if
read in isolation6. The Council does acknowledge that the decision would have
been clearer if a timeframe had been set out within the condition.
31. However, in its view, that does not render the condition invalid because a
reasonable reader would have no difficulty understanding what is meant by the
condition when it is viewed in the context of associated documentation. The
Council suggests that the decision itself is sufficiently clear in that it states that
‘planning permission is granted…..in accordance with the application Ref
B/18/0136, dated 03 April 2018, without compliance with condition number
2 previously imposed on planning permission ref B/15/0017, dated 20 April
2015 and subject to the attached Schedule of Conditions’.
32. In other words, the Council maintain that there is a clear path to the terms of
the application which requested permission for a temporary period of three
years, as set out in the application form7 and associated documents. Reference
is also made to paragraph 9 of the appeal decision wherein the Inspector
identifies that permission was sought for a temporary period of up to three
years.
33. I agree with the Council that there is a distinction between the case and the
circumstances relating to I’m Your Man. In that case, no relevant time limiting
condition was imposed at all. Here, condition 7 clearly purports to impose some

Trump International Golf Club Scotland Limited and another v The Scottish Ministers (Scotland) [2015] UKSC 74;
Dunnet Investments Ltd v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2017] EWCA Civ 192; UBB
Waste Essex Ltd v Essex CC [2019] EWHC 1924 (Admin); London Borough of Lambeth (appellant) v Secretary of
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government and others (respondents) [2019] UKSC 33; Fawcett
Properties Ltd v Buckingham CC [1960] 3 W.L.R. 831
5

7

As per the description set out in paragraph 16 of this decision

6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 124

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

kind of restriction, albeit that the exact timeframe is not set out, either by
condition or within the description of ‘development’ approved.
34. Having regard to the 2019 appeal the Inspector set out that the proposal was
for a temporary period of three years within paragraph 9 of the decision and
the opening line of paragraph 24 states that ‘conditions relating to the period
and use of the caravans for the accommodation of agricultural workers and
setting out the use after the period of temporary consent is [sic] necessary in
the interests of certainty’. If the Inspector was of the view that no temporary
period was necessary, the condition would not have been needed at all. Thus, it
seems likely that the Inspector was of the view that a temporary permission
was being granted. It is not clear if the omission of a defined period within the
condition was a drafting error or oversight or whether the Inspector did not feel
it was necessary to actually define the period. In the absence of any detailed
commentary within the decision letter it is hard to tell.
35. In that context, having regard to the relevant caselaw, it is necessary to
consider whether the uncertainty can be resolved by implication, having regard
to relevant background documentation. There is agreement that the application
sought permission for a three-year period, as set out in the application form.
Any reasonable reader looking at the application and decision as a whole would
be able to understand that.
36. However, I have real concerns as to whether that general reference provides
the necessary precision to enable the exact meaning to be understood. Section
72(1)(b) of the Act states that conditions may be imposed on the grant of
planning permission ‘for requiring the removal of any buildings or works
authorised by the permission, or the discontinuance of any use of land so
authorised, at the end of a specified period, and the carrying out of any works
required for the reinstatement of land at the end of that period’ (my emphasis
added). Reference to a ‘specified period’ is perhaps an indication that the exact
timescale should be set out within the condition itself.
37. In addition, paragraph 56 of the National Planning Policy Framework identifies
that conditions should only be imposed where they meet six tests, which
include being precise and enforceable. The Council maintain that a common
sense approach is that the three year period would run from the date of the
Inspector’s decision. However, in my experience, temporary or time limiting
conditions can be set out in a number of forms. It is not uncommon for the
period to run from the date of a decision but it can equally be from the date of
first occupation, from the date of the application, from a specific calendar date,
or even the occupation of individual units of occupation.
38. The application form does not set an end date for occupation by agricultural
workers. Nor does it specify when the three-year period should commence.
From reading the committee report in relation to the 2019 permission it would
seem that the use had already commenced and that the application was
submitted retrospectively. Without something to clarify precisely when the
‘three year’ period would commence and end I am not satisfied that one can
make an assumption that the period would run from the date of the decision. It
could equally be three years from the commencement of the use or three years
from the date of the application. The respective appeal statements, the
application form, the Council’s committee report or the Inspector’s decision
letter shed little light on the precise timescale in terms of beginning and end

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7

Page 125

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

dates and I have not been directed to any other document that provides
greater detail. At paragraph 9 of the committee report the application was said
to be personal to the applicants who have the license to run the site and to be
for a period ‘up to’ three years.
39. The Council put forward the following suggested condition to the Inspector at
the time of the 2019 appeal: (4) The use hereby permitted shall be carried on
only by Mr Michael White and Mr Anthony White and shall be for a limited
period being the period of three years from the date of this permission or the
period during which the premises are owned by Mr Michael White and Mr
Anthony White whichever is the shorter, after which time the land shall revert
to the previous authorised use.
40. The nature of the suggested ‘personal’ condition, with implications for the
timescale, highlights one of the different approaches that can be taken to time
limiting conditions. At paragraph 23 of the decision letter the Inspector states,
‘I have not attached the condition restricting use to the appellants as it would
not be reasonable or necessary and the Council has not provided sufficient
justification for the imposition of the condition’. No specific comment is made
within the decision letter regarding the element of the condition relating to the
timeframe. Thus, when the Inspector states that the Council has not provided
sufficient justification for the imposition of ‘the’ condition it is unclear if that
relates to the condition as a whole, including the three-year reference, or just
the personal aspect of it.
41. Having declined to attach the suggested condition, no other condition was
imposed which clearly sets out a timeframe. In the absence of a defined
timeframe within a condition, or any discussion on the precise details within the
application documents or appeal decision it is difficult to infer a sensible
meaning into condition 7. Two reasonably informed readers could easily draw
different conclusions as to what ‘three years’ actually means in terms of the
beginning and end dates.
42. Therefore, even with the benevolence of interpretation, sufficient precision
cannot be implied to make condition 7 readily understood. The Courts have
held that a relatively cautious approach should be taken when interpreting
meaning, in view of the fact that breaches of planning conditions may be used
to support criminal proceedings8. The fact that any limitation in this case has a
direct implication for the home life of the residents involved, with potentially
significant consequences, highlights the need for precision and caution when
attempting to interpret the significant ambiguity in condition 7.
43. The ability to interpret meaning into a condition will be fact sensitive depending
on the specific nature of the condition and associated case. The fact that the
Courts have been able to ascertain a clear meaning in relation to other cases
does not dictate that will be possible in every case. Having read the respective
judgments there are clear differences between this case and the circumstances
relating to Trump and Lambeth. In Lambeth, the precise wording of the ‘varied’
condition in question was set out within the description of development on the
decision notice issued by the Council, as opposed to being set within the
schedule of attached conditions. There was no dispute over the meaning of the
suggested wording, nor was there any need to look beyond the terms of the
decision itself. In simple terms, the question was whether the varied condition
8

Patterson J in the case of Dunnett Investments Ltd (para 37(v)) & Lord Carnwath in the case of Trump (para 66).

8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 126

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/X/21/3280081

should have been included within the list of conditions as opposed to being set
out within the description of what was being permitted. That is a very different
scenario to the present appeal.
44. Trump did require examination of extraneous material in order to ascertain
whether a condition requiring a design statement could be given an enforceable
and ascertainable meaning. The Courts held that it could, having regard to
other conditions within the document and other background material. In the
present case, no other conditions shed any light on the timeframe of any
temporary consent and, for the reasons given, the background material
presented does not precisely define the beginning and end date of the threeyear period.
45. Thus, condition 7 is unclear on its face and the uncertainty cannot be
satisfactorily resolved by implication. Consequently, in my view, condition 7 of
the 2019 permission cannot be given an ascertainable meaning and it is not
enforceable as a result. Accordingly, the permission does not limit the
occupation of up to 25 static caravans by agricultural workers to a temporary
period.
46. Section 191(2) of the Act identifies that uses will be lawful if no enforcement
action may then be taken in respect of them either because they did not
involve development or permission, because the time period for enforcement
has expired, or for any other reason and they do not constitute a contravention
of any enforcement notice then in force. In the absence of an enforceable
condition the use is not materially different to the established lawful use as a
caravan site. As such, the existing occupation of up to 25 static caravans
without restriction on when such occupation has to cease is lawful, subject to
compliance with other conditions attached to the 2019 permission.
47. For those reasons I conclude, on the evidence available, that the Council’s
refusal to grant a certificate of lawful use was not well-founded and that the
appeal should succeed. I will therefore allow the appeal and exercise the
powers transferred to me under section 195(2) of the 1990 Act as amended to
grant a certificate of lawful use, in line with the terms set out at paragraph 6.

Chris Preston
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

9

Page 127

Lawful Development Certificate
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990: SECTION 191
(as amended by Section 10 of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991)
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PROCEDURE) (ENGLAND)
ORDER 2015: ARTICLE 39

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED that on 07 March 2021 the use described in the First
Schedule hereto in respect of the land specified in the Second Schedule hereto and
edged in green on the plan attached to this certificate, was lawful within the
meaning of section 191(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended), for the following reason:
The planning permission granted on appeal under reference
APP/Z2505/W/3211660 did not impose a precise and enforceable condition to
restrict the occupancy of up to 25 static caravans, within the area outlined in green
on the site plan dated 20 July 2017, to a temporary period. In the absence of a
precise and enforceable condition to that effect, the continued occupancy of up to
25 static caravans within the defined area by agricultural workers is lawful within
meaning of section 191(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act, providing that
the use of the land complies with all other conditions attached to the planning
permission granted on appeal under reference APP/Z2505/W/3211660.

Chris Preston
Inspector
Date: 8th July 2022
Reference: APP/X/Z2505/21/3280081
First Schedule
Certificate of lawful use in respect of the occupation of up to 25 static caravans by
agricultural workers within the existing caravan site at The Old Leake Caravan Park
(within the area outlined in green on the site plan dated 20 July 2017) without
restriction on the time when such occupation has to cease but subject to all other
conditions attached to the planning permission granted on appeal under reference
number APP/Z2505/W/3211660.
Second Schedule
Land at Old Leake Caravan Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22 9LQ, as
shown outined in green on the plan attached to this certificate)
IMPORTANT NOTES – SEE OVER

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 128

CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES

NOTES
This certificate is issued solely for the purpose of Section 191 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
It certifies that the use described in the First Schedule taking place on the land
specified in the Second Schedule was lawful, on the certified date and, thus, was
not liable to enforcement action, under section 172 of the 1990 Act, on that date.
This certificate applies only to the extent of the use described in the First Schedule
and to the land specified in the Second Schedule and identified on the attached
plan. Any use which is materially different from that described, or which relates to
any other land, may result in a breach of planning control which is liable to
enforcement action by the local planning authority.

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 129

CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES

Plan
This is the plan referred to in the Lawful Development Certificate dated: 8th July 2022
by Chris Preston BA(Hons) BPl MRTPI
Land at: Land at Old Leake Caravan Park, Shaw Lane, Old Leake, Boston

PE22 9LQ

Reference: APP/X/21/3280081
Scale: Not to scale

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 130

CERTIFICATE OF LAWFULNESS FOR PLANNING PURPOSES

APPEARANCES
FOR THE APPELLANT:
Mr Mark Southerton MRTPI

Agent

FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Mr Mark Howells
Ms Lauren Birkwood

Of Counsel
Principal Town Planner

Documents Submitted at the Hearing
1) Legal submission speaking note on behalf of the Council

www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 30 March 2022
by Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 12TH April 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3284792
Land adjacent to 69 Middlegate Road West, Frampton, Boston PE20 1DA
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr. C. Thornhill against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/21/0291, dated 19 June 2021, was refused by notice dated
6 August 2021.
The development proposed is construction of a new dwelling.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed, and planning permission is granted for the construction
of a new dwelling at land adjacent to 69 Middlegate Road West, Frampton,
Boston PE20 1DA in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref
B/21/0291, dated 19 June 2021, subject to the conditions in the attached
schedule.
Main Issues
2. The main issues are:
•

the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area;

•

the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of the occupiers of Nos 67
and 69 Middlegate Road West with particular regard to outlook and privacy;
and

•

whether or not the proposal would provide appropriate living conditions for
future occupiers with particular regard to privacy.

Reasons
Character and appearance
3. The appeal site is within an established residential area mainly consisting of
detached houses and bungalows set back from the road in large plots. Planting
in the front gardens, plot sizes and spacing between the dwellings gives a
spacious verdant quality to the road.
4. The dwelling would be sited to the south-east corner of the appeal site giving a
good degree of separation to both 67 and 69 Middlegate Road West and
maintaining the existing open character. The plot is smaller than those in the
locality, and due to the positioning of the dwelling, the rear garden would be
substantially smaller than those on neighbouring dwellings. However, while this
may be contrary to the character of those in the locality, its size would not be
particularly visible within the streetscene and therefore the appearance of the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 133

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3284792

area would be preserved. Consequently, it would not be materially harmful.
The front garden would be of a sufficient size to accommodate both planting
and car parking and would not be at odds with the character and appearance of
the street.
5. The position of the dwelling means that the western elevation would project a
short distance forward of No 67. However, the majority of the visible projection
when approaching from the west would be single storey and would not
therefore be particularly prominent in the streetscene.
6. The proposed dwelling would be rendered together with a brick plinth and some
timber cladding. The brick plinth would only be 500mm in height and, given the
positioning of the external doors, it would not be apparent in external views
that it would be below floor level. No 69 is rendered and therefore the use of
render would not be unusual or an alien feature in the locality. While evidence
of timber cladding is more limited in the local area, the small extent of its
proposed use on the building would not be so out of character to be harmful to
the visual appearance of the locality.
7. I am aware that this site has been the subject of a number of planning
applications for a dwelling which have been refused by the Council.
Furthermore, an appeal regarding one of those refusals was dismissed by my
colleague1. Moreover, one of the consistent objections by the Council has been
the size of the plot and its ability to host a dwelling. The size of the plot has not
changed in this instance. However, my colleague on the previous appeal stated
on that proposal that although the rear garden would be smaller than the
gardens of the surrounding properties, the garden would not be visible from
the street and therefore would not detract from the pattern of development. I
concur. The various amendments to the dwelling would, as outlined above,
ensure that the proposed dwelling would not appear cramped on the site and
would not have a materially harmful impact on the character and appearance of
the area.
8. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would not be harmful to
the character and appearance of the area. There would therefore be no conflict
with Policies 2 and 3 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036)
adopted 2019 (the Local Plan) and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework). These require that development is of a high
design quality that is sympathetic to local character.
Living conditions
9. No 69 has three windows at first floor level that have an outlook directly
towards the appeal site. Two of those windows are obscure glazed and
therefore there would be no harmful impact on the outlook from these windows
or privacy into the rooms they serve.
10. The third window is clear glazed and serves a bedroom. The private garden
space for the proposed dwelling is on its western side some distance from the
bedroom window. In addition, views from the bedroom would be interrupted by
the dwelling itself and vice versa. The proposal would therefore give a sufficient
level of privacy for prospective occupiers in their garden and there would be no
material loss of privacy for the occupiers of No 69.
1

APP/Z2505/W/19/3240611

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 134

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3284792

11. The proposed dwelling would be about 8m from the bedroom window at No 69.
While this is relatively close, the gable wall that would be facing the bedroom
window would be reducing in height at that point and therefore I do not
consider it to be a materially harmful relationship in this instance. While I note
the intention of the appellant to place obscure glazing in this window, I do not
consider that necessary to make the proposal acceptable.
12. Although not part of its reason for refusal, the Council references the impact on
a first floor window at No 67 in its appeal statement. However, this window is
to the front elevation of No 67. The proposed house would be set a sufficient
distance from this window and would be of a height at this point and offset to
ensure that it would only be visible in oblique views from this window. An open
outlook would be retained in all other directions.
13. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would not be materially
harmful to the living conditions of the occupiers of Nos 67 and 69. In addition,
it would provide appropriate living conditions for future occupiers of the
proposed dwelling. There would therefore be no conflict with policies 2, 3 and
30 of the Local Plan and the Framework. These require, amongst other things
that development is of high quality that provides a high standard of amenity for
existing and future users.
Conditions
14. I have had regard to the conditions suggested by the Council and considered
them against the tests in the Framework and the advice in the Planning
Practice Guidance, making such amendments as necessary to comply with
those documents.
15. Conditions relating to timeliness and plans are necessary in the interests of
certainty. The Council has suggested the development shall be begun before
the expiration of four years, to allow greater flexibility due to the Covid 19
pandemic. However, there are now no restrictions in place due to the pandemic
and therefore I have reverted to the standard three year expiration.
16. Conditions regarding the details of the materials and walls and fences are
required to protect the character and appearance of the area. A condition
regarding the level of water consumption is required to protect the quality and
quantity of water resources. Details of measures to reduce pollution and
promote renewable and low carbon energy are necessary to help reduce
pollution.
17. A condition requiring the development to be carried out in accordance with the
approved Flood Risk Assessment is necessary to reduce the risk of flooding.
With the agreement of the parties, a condition securing the provision of a swift
box is required to ensure the proposal has an acceptable effect in terms of
biodiversity.
Conclusion
18. For the reasons above, I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Zoe Raygen
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 135

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3284792

SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS
1)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.

2)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict
accordance with the associated plans referenced: 21/202/Ex-01 Rev A,
21/202/Pr-01 Rev A, 21/202/Pr-02 Rev A, 21/202/Pr-03 Rev A.

3)

No development shall take place above ground level until details of the
materials proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces
of the dwelling have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

4)

Prior to the first occupation of the dwelling hereby approved details of all
walls and fences, including details of their height, design and position,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The scheme as may be approved shall be constructed before
the dwelling is occupied and retained thereafter.

5)

The water consumption of the dwellings hereby permitted should not
exceed the requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as
the optional requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, 2019). The person carrying out
the work must inform the Building Control Body that this duty applies. A
notice confirming the requirement for the water consumption has been
met shall be submitted to the Building Control Body and Local Planning
Authority, no later than five days after the completion of the dwelling.

6)

Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, final details
of measures that aim to reduce pollution and promote renewable and low
carbon energy (including measures such as facilities for EV car charging)
and details relating to the timing of their implementation, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
The development shall be constructed in accordance with the approved
measures.

7)

The development permitted by this planning permission shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA),
prepared by AF Architecture, and the following mitigation measures
detailed within the FRA:
i)
Finished floor levels to be set 500mm above Ground Level;
ii) Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the
proposed development as stated; and
iii) The development will contain two levels of accommodation
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation
and subsequently remain in place.

8)

The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied until a swift
box or equivalent is placed on the approved dwelling and thereafter it
shall be kept in perpetuity.

***********************END OF SCHEDULE***************************

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 136

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 19 April 2022
by Zoe Raygen DipURP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 29th April 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3287269
1 Grand Sluice Lane, Boston, Lincolnshire PE21 9HL
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr John Lay against the decision of Boston Borough Council.
The application Ref B/21/0379, dated 10 August 2021, was refused by notice dated
11 October 2021.
The development proposed is the division of one existing residence into two residences
within an already extended house.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Preliminary Matters
Main Issues
2. The main issues are:
•

the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area;

•

whether or not the proposal provides acceptable living conditions for future
occupiers with particular regard to internal space and outlook;

•

the effect of the proposal on the living conditions of the occupiers of the
existing dwelling with particular regards to garden space; and

•

whether or not the proposal would provide safe accommodation as a
dwelling with particular regard to flooding.

Reasons
Character and appearance
3. Grand Sluice Lane is formed by a variety of dwelling types, but mainly a series
of terraced two storey houses, in thin linear plots. Gardens extend to the rear
onto an informal lane providing vehicle access to the rear of the properties. The
front of the terrace is characterised by a uniformity of appearance, while the
rear has much more variety. Some properties have been extended and there
are a number of outbuildings/garages of various shapes and sizes.
4. No 1 Grand Sluice Lane is an end of terrace property which has been extended
to the rear. As an extension to the existing house, it relates well to the host
property and the surrounding area, being a subservient addition to the rear.
However, although potentially housing the same number of residents, the
proposal to subdivide the plot and use this part of the existing house as a
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 137

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3287269

separate dwelling would be contrary to the established layout and character of
dwellings in their own lengthy linear plots. Consequently, it would be
incongruous in the local area. Although not visible from Grand Sluice Lane, the
use of the appeal site as two separate dwellings would be more apparent from
the lane to the rear where the separate gardens and their entrances would be
visible contrary to the established pattern of development.
5. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would be harmful to the
character and appearance of the area in conflict of Policies 2 and 3 of the South
East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036) and paragraph 126 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (the Framework). Together these require that
development is of high quality design which is not inappropriate for the local
area and reflects the character and appearance.
Living conditions
6. The ground floor of the proposed house comprising a shared living room and
kitchen would have two windows, one of which would face directly onto the
boundary treatment with the neighbouring house providing a very limited
outlook. The remaining window would face the small garden area. Outlook at
first floor would be restricted to rooflights only.
7. I noted at my site visit that the submitted plans are not reflective of the
extension that has been built on site. On site there is much more space above
the ground floor windows than shown on the submitted plans. Even if the space
available on site would allow an adequate level of accommodation at first floor
level, the very limited outlook available overall would create an oppressive and
overbearing living space.
8. Although the garden space for the existing dwelling would be of a similar size
to others in the neighbourhood, it would be located away from the house.
Users would leave the front door and access it via a narrow passageway to the
side of the house, past the window of the new dwelling into a small space
enclosed by 2m high fencing. This would not be a satisfactory or convenient
way to access garden space, which would be totally detached and segregated
from the host dwelling, harming the living conditions of the occupiers.
9. For the reasons above, the proposal would not provide satisfactory living
conditions for the occupiers of the proposed dwelling with regard to outlook
and would be harmful to the living conditions of the occupiers of the existing
house through the poor location of garden space. There would therefore be
conflict with policies 2 and 3 of the Local Plan and paragraph 130 of the
Framework. Together these require that development provides a high standard
of amenity for existing and future users.
Flooding
10. As an extension to the existing house the structure may meet flood risk
requirements. In addition, the extension received planning permission in 2011
since when both the Framework and the Local Plan have been published. Policy
4 of the Local Plan states that the change of use of existing buildings will be
supported providing they do not pose an increase in risk to people. The
Framework seeks to ensure that development is appropriately flood resistant
and resilient.

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 138

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3287269

11. The proposed house would be located in Flood Zone 3, an area with the most
probability of flooding and with a ‘Danger for Most’ hazard rating and a
predicted flood depth of between 0.5 metre to 1 metre within the South East
Lincolnshire Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2017. To overcome the risk of
flooding the finished floor level must be set at 1 metre above ground level with
flood resilient construction 300 mm above the predicted flood level.
12. While there would be first floor accommodation, the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) states that the finished floor level would only be 100 mm
above ground level and that electrical supply would be positioned 500 mm
above the finished floor level. Therefore, these measures do not adequately
demonstrate that the development would be made flood resilient and that
occupants would be protected from flooding from any source.
13. For the reasons above, I conclude that the proposal would not provide safe
accommodation in the form of a dwelling with particular regard to flooding as
required by Policy 4 of the Local Plan and the Framework.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
14. I have found conflict with a number of Local Plan policies which brings the
proposal into conflict with the development plan as a whole.
15. The proposal would provide an additional small unit of accommodation in an
accessible location. There is nothing before me, such as a S106 agreement, to
ensure that the house would be affordable in accordance with the definition in
the Framework. It would, nonetheless, contribute to the Government’s
objective of significantly boosting the supply of housing. The Council has
confirmed it can demonstrate a five year housing land supply and given the
addition of only one unit I give this, and associated economic benefits, modest
weight.
16. Those benefits, even when taken together, would not be sufficient, in my view,
to outweigh the conflict with the development plan. There are no persuasive
material considerations in this case to indicate that the proposal should be
determined other than in accordance with the development plan.
17. For the reasons set out above, and having regard to all other matters raised, I
conclude on balance that the appeal should be dismissed.

Zoe Raygen
INSPECTOR

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 22 February 2022
by William Cooper BA (Hons) MA CMLI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 1st March 2022

Appeal Ref: APP/Z2505/W/21/3283241
Land East of Llewellyn House, Main Road, Wigtoft, Boston PE20 2NZ
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Stevens against the decision of Boston Borough
Council.
The application Ref: B/21/0011, dated 14 January 2021, was refused by notice dated
6 April 2021.
The development proposed is four detached chalet bungalows.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for four detached
chalet bungalows at Land East of Llewellyn House, Main Road, Wigtoft, Boston
PE20 2NZ in accordance with the terms of the application, Ref: B/21/0011,
dated 14 January 2021, and the plans submitted with it, subject to conditions
set out in attached Schedule A.
Preliminary Matters
2. The spelling of the neighbouring property name in the site address in the
banner heading and decision above is taken from the house sign displayed on
that site, in the interests of precision.
3. A new version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was
published in July 2021. The parties have had opportunity to comment on the
engagement of this new policy document in relation to the appeal, and so will
not be disadvantaged by my consideration of it.
Main Issues
4. The main issues in this case are:
•

Whether the proposed development would be suitably located, with
particular regard to its fit with the local spatial strategy; and

•

The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area.

Reasons
Locational suitability
5. The appeal site is located beyond the settlement boundaries of the villages of
Wigtoft and Sutterton defined in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 20112036 (LP).

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 141

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3283241

6. The site is part of an area of fields that flows east of the junction of Burtoft
Lane and Main Road on the south side of Main Road, and east of housing on
Asperton Road on the north side of Main Road. As such, the site is noticeably
located beyond the built up area of Wigtoft village. Furthermore, the site is
noticeably part of a substantial area of fields that flows west of the built up
area of Sutterton, within an area of more dispersed development character
west of the junction of Blow’s Lane and Wigtoft Road. Also, while views across
the site are less open than across some other fields in the area given the site’s
perimeter vegetation and southern bund, the presence of the countryside to
the south and north is still noticeable from the site, looking through gaps in the
site’s perimeter vegetation.
7. Given this combination of factors, Wigtoft and Sutteron’s settlement boundaries
appear to be logically drawn, and the appeal site is within countryside beyond
them.
8. Section D of Spatial Strategy Policy 1 of the LP allows for the possibility of
development in the countryside beyond settlement boundaries, if necessary to
its location and/or it would demonstrably meet the sustainable development
needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits.
Supporting text paragraph 3.2.17 of the LP indicates that such development,
by exception, may include housing that meets local needs.
9. The proposal would contribute four three-bedroom dwellings to local housing
supply. This would include contributing to meeting a localised need for housing
within the community in the Wigtoft locality. This localised need is indicated by
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan Housing Paper on Wigtoft (2016)1, the
analysis that only a small proportion of new dwellings required by the LP for
Wigtoft has been granted planning permission2, and the absence of substantive
evidence to the contrary to show fulfilment of this need.
10. Furthermore, the proposed housing would be located a short vehicle or cycle
journey away via a relatively flat, lit road, to facilities in the village of
Sutterton3, which include a nursery, preschool, church and enterprise park. The
housing would also be a short walk along a pavement on a lit highway to the
village of Wigtoft4, with its church. This accessibility of the proposed housing to
the villages would facilitate additional patronage by residents to help support
these rural facilities. This is in addition to local economic benefit from the
construction phase.
Together, these factors demonstrate that the proposed development is necessary
in its location, and would provide economic and community benefits that contribute
to meeting the sustainable development needs of the area. This would accord with
Section D of LP Policy 1, and so fit with the local spatial strategy. In meeting local
need, the proposal would also accord with the social objective of paragraph 8 of
the Framework, and the supportive and responsive approach to providing rural
housing in paragraph 78 of the Framework.

1
2
3
4

Appendix A of the appellants’ Appeal Statement (AAS).
As set out on page 12 of the AAS.
Which is designated as a Main Service Centre in the LP.
Which is designated as a Minor Service Centre in the LP.

2

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 142

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3283241

Character and appearance
11. The site is located among a dispersed cluster of residential development east of
Llewellyn House that is set within an area of mainly open fields between
Wigtoft and Sutterton. The site is bounded by privet and conifer hedging on
three sides. Also, it reads as an infill site between residential development that
adjoins its eastern and western boundaries. This adjacent residential
development comprises a row of mainly two storey red brick, pitched roof
twentieth century, semi-detached dwellings to the east of the site (the eastern
row), which exerts some suburban influence, and the older detached dwelling
Llewellyn House to the west. Also, a rendered house is located slightly obliquely
from the site, across Main Road.
12. This particular combination of locational factors somewhat dilutes the appeal
site’s countryside character. That said, the absence of buildings is a distinctive
characteristic of the appeal site and fields in the vicinity.
13. Within this context, the proposed built mass, including its roofscape would be
visible above and through the front boundary vegetation, including through the
access gap in the frontage hedging. This built mass would be visible walking
and driving past on Main Road and from neighbouring land. Thus, the proposal
would reduce the unbuilt, open character of the site and its host area of fields.
This would erode the countryside character of the area between the villages of
Wigtoft and Sutterton.
14. That said, the erosion of character would be of a limited, localised nature given
the scale of proposed development, and the cluster of other residential
development that draws the eye in the vicinity of the appeal site. Also, the
relative uniformity of form and linear placement of the proposed row of
dwellings would harmonise to some extent with the relatively uniform and
linear character of the neighbouring eastern row. This core uniformity, together
with the proposed bungalows’ setback from the road, and retained and new
perimeter vegetation would help visually absorb some variation in external wall
materials. Also, the use of brick, render and timber would reflect materials
found on other residential buildings and gardens in the area, further assisting
assimilation.
15. Their lower bungalow form, compared to the mainly two storey form of the
eastern row would offset the fact that the proposed buildings would be sited
further forward and closer together than the neighbouring row. Also, the
detached L-shape of the proposed dwellings, together with their front and rear
garden spaces and the setting of fields to the north and south would result in a
compact rather than cramped feel to the development.
16. In conclusion, the limited, localised nature of the erosion of openness and
verdancy that would arise from the proposal would result in a limited impact on
the countryside character of the area. As such, the proposal would give rise to
some conflict with Policies 2 and 3 of the LP which together seek to ensure,
among other things, that development respects local character.
17. Policy 30 of the LP focuses on pollution rather than spatial strategy and
character and appearance, and so is not engaged in this instance.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 143

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3283241

Conditions
18. The conditions suggested by the Council have been considered against the
tests of the Framework and advice provided by Planning Practice Guidance.
They have been found to be reasonable and necessary in the circumstances of
this case. I have made modest drafting changes for clarity.
19. In addition to the standard commencement condition, a condition is necessary
requiring that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
plans, in order to provide certainty. Conditions covering materials and
landscaping are necessary in the interests of safeguarding the character and
appearance of the area. Conditions regarding water consumption, low carbon
measures and electric vehicle charging are necessary in the interests of
environmental sustainability. A condition covering contamination is required to
avoid pollution.
Planning Balance and Conclusion
20. Together, the social and economic benefits identified under the first main issue
carry more weight than the limited harm arising from the impact on the
character and appearance of the area. On balance, the social and economic
benefits would outweigh the limited harm arising from the development plan
policy conflict in respect of character and appearance. This balance is clearly in
favour of allowing the appeal, and so comprises a material consideration of
sufficient weight to indicate my decision be otherwise than in accordance with
the development plan.
21. For the reasons given above I conclude that, subject to conditions, the appeal
be allowed.

William Cooper
INSPECTOR

Schedule A) Conditions
1) The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than 3 years from
the date of this decision.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans: LH-GA-400 Rev A General Arrangements
Plan; PL-001 - Location Plan; PL-003 – Pro.Block Plan; PL-004 - House Type
1; PL-005 - House Type 2; PL-006 - House Type 3; PL-007 - Tree Survey;
PL-008 - Landscaping Scheme.
3) No development above ground level shall commence until there shall have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
details of the proposed external materials for the proposed dwellings. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

4

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 144

Appeal Decision APP/Z2505/W/21/3283241

4) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, there shall have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority
full details of both hard and soft landscaping works, including means of
enclosure. The details shall include the formation of any banks, terraces or
other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials, planting plans,
specifications and schedules (including planting size, species and
numbers/densities), existing plants/trees to be retained and a scheme for
the timing/phasing of implementation works. The landscaping works shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme, and programme or
within the next planting season following final occupation of the
development hereby permitted, whichever is sooner. Any trees or shrubs
planted or retained in accordance with this condition which are removed,
uprooted, destroyed, die or become severely damaged or become seriously
diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced within the next planting
season by trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those lost.
5) The water consumption of the dwellings hereby permitted should not exceed
the requirement of 110 litres per person per day (as set out as the optional
requirement in Part G of the Building Regulations 2010 and the South East
Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036). The person carrying out the work shall
confirm to the building control body observance of this requirement. A
notice confirming that this water consumption requirement has been met
shall be submitted to the building control body and local planning authority
no later than five days after the completion of each individual dwelling.
6) Prior to the commencement of development above slab level, there shall
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority final details of measures to reduce pollution and promote
renewable and low carbon energy. These shall include measures such as
facilities for electric car charging, and details relating to the timing of their
implementation. The development shall be constructed in accordance with
the approved measures.
7) Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted an electric vehicle
charging point or points available to occupants of all the dwellings shall be
installed, and retained thereafter.
8) If, during development, contamination which was not previously identified is
found to be present on the site then no further development shall take place
on the affected part(s) of the site until a report containing details of an
investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site (including whether it originates on the site) has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The development shall be carried out thereafter in full accordance with the
duly approved remediation strategy, and a verification report shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before
the dwellings are first occupied.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 145

This page is intentionally left blank

